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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the audited
annual results of the Group for the Year 2023.

During the Year 2023, the semiconductor industry was
under great pressure and entered into an adjustment
cycle, lasting geopolitical conflicts and changes
of supply and demand in the market. Under such
a backdrop, the Group’s businesses, information
technology electronic products were confronted with
challenges in the such period. During the Year 2023,
the Group recorded revenue of US$66.3 million,
representing a drop as compared with 2022; loss
attributable to owners of the Company was US$9.7
million, compared with the loss of 2022 amounting to
US$1.6 million, which was attributable to the decrease of
gross profit.

In the chip market, the Group promoted transformation
and upgrading with consideration of market demands
during the Year 2023, to better satisfy demands of
customers from the manufacturing sector. In the
meantime, to seize the opportunities arising from
development of the semiconductor market, the
Group maintained good relationship with suppliers
and enriched product categories by developing new
product, and improving service capability, which further
enhanced customer engagement and stickiness and
promoted steady business development.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERHRE

ERLARIR

AANEBUHRREEFSEMAEE2023F
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R2023FE - ME A BRI E LTIHH
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERRE

Going forward, the semiconductor market will witness
continuously steady expansion as new fields are
emerging, including automobile electronics, high-
power renewable energy, energy storage and industrial
automation improved continuously as the digital
economy and the new energy vehicle industry, and it is
expected that the overall market demand will maintain
stable throughout 2024. The country’s strong support
by relevant policies and the accelerated development of
localisation replacement in the semiconductor industry,
the Group is optimistic about the long-term development
of electronics market and expects that sales of product
will maintain stable in 2024.

In the traditional consumer electronics market, the
gradual improvement of consumption ability and concept
of the public effectively stimulates the demands of 5G
cellphones and wearable gadgets, which is a driver
that constantly boosts the growth of chip demands.
In addition, under the continuous improvement of 5G
cellphone penetration and the acceleration of digital
transformation in all industries, consumers have greater
demands for cognitive and intelligent network terminals
with advanced connection, high-performance and low-
consumption computing and large-capacity memory and
storage, which will stimulate demands of semiconductor
products to further expand and lead the semiconductor
industry to maintain the same demand level.

APPRECIATION

[, on behalf of the Board, would like to take this
opportunity to thank all of the Shareholders and all
investors, customers, suppliers, banks and business
partners of the Group for their unwavering support. |
would like to extend my appreciation to the management
team and fellow staff members of the Group for their
devoted commitment and contributions to the success of
the Group.

LAM KEUNG
Chairman
26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

he Y
EEEH AR T
2023 2022 Changes
2023 20224 29
USD’000 usSD’000
FETT FET
Key financial information TEUBER
Revenue WA 66,316 121,710 (45.5%)
Gross profit £ A 2,934 8,396 (65.0%)
Loss for the year attributable to ~ KNA G # A A
the owners of the Company EIEFEEEE
(9,749) (1,584) 515.5%
As at/ As at/
Year ended  Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022 Changes
220235 20224
12A318, 12A31R/
8=z HZE=%A
IEFEE IEFE g gl
USD’000 UsSD’000
FETT FET
Total assets BEEHE 54,189 65,805 (17.7%)
Total liabilities BEAER 31,592 31,327 0.9%
Cash and cash equivalents RehkREeFEED 2,536 2,343 8.2%
Total equity G R 22,597 34,478 (34.5%)
Key financial ratios ETEMHEE
Gross profit margin E ) & 4.4% 6.9% (36.2%)
Net loss margin FEBE (14.7%) (1.3%) 1,030.8%
Basic and diluted loss per share & i% & 7K 7 # &
(HK cents) BEGE) (6.88) (1.51)  355.6%

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

OVERVIEW

The Group primarily engage in the sourcing and sale
of IC products and the provisions of IC application
solutions and value-added services to suit the needs of
our customers. Our business is focused on fast-growing
and emerging market categories, with an emphasis on
providing environmentally-friendly and energy-saving
solutions.

After years of continuous efforts, the Group has become
a well-established fabless semiconductor application
solutions provider specialising in the provision, design
and development of IC application solutions and sale
of ICs for consumer and industrial products. The aim
of the Group is to strengthen our market position within
the IC application solutions industry by increasing our
market share and enhancing the quality of our services.
We believe that this will bring sustainable growth to our
business and create long-term value in the Group for our
Shareholders.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group focuses on the consumer and industrial
product sectors, we source and sell IC products and
electronic components. We also provide IC application
solutions and value-added services to suit the needs
of our customers. While our application solutions can
be utilised in a wide range of electronic products, we
specialise in the following five major product categories:
(i) mobile devices and smart charging; (ii) motor control;
(iii) sensors and automation; (iv) light-emitting diode
(“LED”) lighting; and (v) radio frequency (“RF”) power.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Breakdown of our revenue generated by product
category for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Year”) and 31 December 2022 (the “Preceding Year”)
is set forth below:

CEYEEEPA R

HZE2023F12A3MB L FE(AEE] X
HZE2022F12A31B L FE([Bi—FEE])
HELMENE SR ABMESHDT :

2023 2022
20235 20224
UsSD’000 % USD’000 %
FETT % FZET %
Mobile devices and smart BPHREREERS
charging 32,271 48.7 67,947 556.8
Motor control B 26,612 40.1 40,149 33.0
Sensors and automation ERZENBE T 5,110 7.7 9,670 7.9
LED lighting LEDFRREH 1,146 1.7 2,633 2.2
RF power RFE&E R 1,177 1.8 1,311 11
Total & & 66,316 100 121,710 100
Mobile devices and smart charging BHRBELULEREBETSE
The mobile devices category focuses on products % 8% 58 5l F 0T 70 A BB K T & 51 48 3%

utilising low power radio frequency connectivity and
signal transmissions. ICs in the mobile devices category
are antennae-centric products, which enable and
improve the wireless functions (such as 2G/3G/4G/
LTE and wifi connectivity) of the antennae of cars,
mobile phones and tablets, smart watches and other
wifi-enabled devices. The Group assist customers in
developing the application solutions for such ICs to
match their product requirements and restrictions.

Smart charging is a power management technology
used in smart devices such as smart phones, computers
and battery packs to provide shorter charging times for
these devices. By utilising smart charging ICs, smart
devices boost the level of power to be delivered and
thus charge the batteries of the smart devices at faster
speeds, thereby shortening the overall charging time.
Smart charging ICs also gauge various attributes of the
batteries, such as the levels of charge and the thermal
conditions of the batteries, and reduce the level of power
delivered to the batteries when they are nearly full or
getting overheated.

BEREREENER - BHRBRICHT
RRBEMR  AIEALMNETE - FH -
FHREMK BTREFELHEBIFER L
HERBENRRNELRINEE - N2G/3G/4G/
LTER EREKER - AKBEHEPH
BHZFICHERARTE AL EED
EmBRNRS -

B AEREREERM  ARERF
# BERAEOASTEERE EZER
BREFHER - EAEEREICK &
EREIRSERNINE  EAMEER
REERBHNELARE WEERITER
Ao B RBICTAESEEBNE L -
PImMELNEERBNRE EEERD
FEBELBRE  BEXRBICERIEEH
EEMNEE -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

Motor control

Motor control ICs are used in modern motors where
the speed and torque of the moveable parts of a
machine need to be controlled. These motor control
applications can be applied to a wide array of devices,
from household items such as fans, to heavy industrial
equipment such as forklifts and robots. Motor control
application solutions are mainly focused on the ICs used
on variable-frequency drive (“VFDs”). VFDs are a type
of motor controller that controls the speed and torque of
an electric motor by varying the frequency and voltage of
its power supply. By using VFDs, motors are able to save
energy, control performance, reduce noise levels of the
motor, and improve the lifespan of machines.

Customers of the motor control category are generally
manufacturers of motors. Motor control solutions of the
Group include applications for the controls of ceiling
and vertical fans, electronically commutated fans,
air-conditioning systems, electric cars and bikes, robotic
arms, pumps, washing machines, compressors, sewing
machines, industrial power tools such as electric picks,
and medical power tools such as drills.

Sensors and automation

Sensors are used to detect changes or events in the
environment. When the sensor detects a change,
it provides a corresponding output to the device to
meet requirements of data and signal transmission,
processing, storage, display, recording and control of
information. There are many kinds of sensors, which are
used to measure, among other things, force, distance,
temperature, sound, light, electrical currents, magnetic
fields.

1 0 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Qur application solutions for sensor ICs are coupled
together with automation solutions that assist the
customer’s product in automatically detecting and
reacting to various circumstantial changes in the
environment. The Group provides application solutions
for our radar sensors to be used on (i) automobile
vehicles to assist drivers with parking and provide
auto-drive functions; (ii) unmanned aerial drones in
maintaining stability of flight and avoiding obstacles;
(iii) security systems that link with videos to detect,
recognise and track moving objects; (iv) traffic
monitoring systems to measure speed of moving vehicles
and to monitor traffic congestion; and (v) smart lighting
systems that have motion sensing. We also provide
application solutions for pressure sensors to be used in
smart phones and smart watches for detecting altitude.

RF power

RF, or radio-frequency, is widely used in the transmission
of signals, and has a long-distance transmission
capacity. RF is widely used in the fields of wireless
communication.

RF power means the power supply devices which are
used to generate and stabilise RF power. RF power
equipment is generally composed of a RF signal source,
a RF power amplifier (which is an electronic device
that provides power gain) and an attenuator (a device
that reduces the power of a signal without distorting
its waveform), and a receiver (such as those found
on the rooftops of buildings). The Group’s RF power
products are used in cable television (which is a system
of delivering television programming to subscribers by
RF signals transmitted through cables), and broadband
networks, such as fibre to the home (FTTH, where the
fibre optic cable carries the RF signal to the domestic
home) and fibre to the building (FTTB, where the fibre
optic cable carries the RF signal to a building). Our
customers in the RF power category are generally
engaged in broadcasting and signal transmissions, and
include operators of television and radio broadcasting.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

LED lighting

LED lighting systems utilise LEDs, or light emitting
diodes, to provide energy efficient, aesthetic and
long-life lighting solutions. LED lighting solutions are
cost-effective and have a wide range of applications and
can be used indoors, outdoors, and for special lighting
effects, such as spot-lights or stage lighting.

An LED lamp or bulb is typically comprised of several
components, including the LED which acts as light
source, the LED driver IC that regulates power to the
LED, reflector cups that refract and reflect the light, and
the lens that focuses the light beams.

LED application design capabilities is considered to
be well developed and mature. One of our main design
applications for LED lighting systems was to provide
dimming features for LED lamps or bulbs. Although
it appears simple to design a dimmer for lighting
systems, it is in fact a challenge as LEDs and traditional
incandescent lamps operate very differently. If not
done correctly, the dimmer will cause instability in the
electrical current, which may cause flickering in the
LED lamp or bulb, and affect its dimming range and
performance. Our years of experience in and familiarity
with this product category enable us to provide fast and
comprehensive application solutions for our LED lighting
customers.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue
decreased by 45.5% to US$66.3 million. The drop
was mainly attributable to decrease in sales volume
and selling price, as a result of the was a result of a
combination of the weak demand in the consumer
market and the downward cycle in semiconductor
industry.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
decreased by 65.0% year-on-year to US$2.9 million,
which was mainly due to the decrease in sales volume
and selling price, notwithstanding that production on
cost remained at similar level, resulting in decrease in
gross profit. Gross profit margin decrease from 6.9% to
4.4%, which was mainly driven by the lower margin of
motor control.

1 2 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income

The Group’s other income amounted to US$0.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which mainly
included government grants and imputed interest income
on life insurance policy deposits.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of
salaries and benefits for staff, transportation costs,
travelling expenses, office utility expenses, business
entertainment and marketing expenses. During the Year,
the Group’s selling and distribution expenses amounted
to US$3.0 million which is comparable to 2022.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses mainly consist of
salaries and benefits for the management, administrative,
operation support and financial personnel, administrative
costs and depreciation expenses relating to property,
plant and equipment used for administrative purposes.

During the Year, general and administrative expenses
amounted to US$5.8 million which increased by US$0.5
million which was mainly attributable to the effect of an
increase in professional and consultant fees for business
development by approximately US$0.3 million.

Finance Costs

During the Year, finance costs amounted to US$2.3
million, when compared with 2022, an increase of
US$0.7 million is noted. The increase in finance cost was
in line with the increase in bank and other borrowings
and interest rate during the Year.

Income Tax Expense/(Credit)

During the Year, the income tax expenses of
approximately US$1.1 million (2022: income tax credit
of US$0.5 million) mainly arose from the deferred tax
liabilities on development costs.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the above factors, the Group’s loss for the
year increased by 515.5% from US$1.6 million recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to US$9.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year, the Group maintained a satisfactory
liquidity position supporting business growth. As at
31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of US$2.5 million (2022: US$2.3 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had recorded net
current assets of US$12.0 million (2022: US$22.0 million).

As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group
was 47.6% (2022: 39.1%), which computed based on
total debts (including bank and other borrowings and
bills payables) divided by total equity plus total debts.

The increase in bank and other borrowings was mainly
for securing capital for its business development. At
as 31 December 2023, the Group had bank and other
borrowings amounting to US$12.7 million (2022: US$11.1
million).

The annual weighted average interest rate of the bank
and other borrowings during the Year was 12.6% (2022;
6.9%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 91 employees
(2022: 107 employees). During the Year, employee
benefit expenses (including directors’ remuneration)
amounted to US$4.1 million (2022: US$4.8 million),
accounting for 6.3% (2022: 3.9%) of total revenue for the
Year.

The remunerations of the employees are commensurate
with their performance, skills, knowledge, experience
and the market trend. Employee benefits provided by the
Group include medical insurance scheme, mandatory
provident fund, social insurance and housing allowance
in PRC. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis and will make necessary
adjustments that accommodate the pay levels in the
industry. In addition to basic salaries, the employees
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

may be offered with discretionary bonuses and cash
awards based on individual performances.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had not issued or
allotted any awarded shares.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company complies or intends to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, save for Code A.2.1 which requires
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer be
separated and performed by different individuals. Mr.
Lam is both our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman.
Our Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership and
efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. Our Group considers that the balance of power
and authority of the present arrangement will not be
impaired as the Board comprises five other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including two other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance.

Our Directors will review our corporate governance
policies and compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code in each financial year and comply with the “comply
or explain” principle in our corporate governance report
which will be included in our annual reports after the
Listing.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESEREREEE

The Board consists of four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (‘INEDs").

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (#3#) (“Mr. Lam”), aged 51, joined
the Group in April 2010 and was appointed as a Director
in August 2016. He was re-designated as the executive
Director and appointed as the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in March 2018.

Mr. Lam is responsible for supervising the overall
management, making strategic planning of our Group,
implementing Board resolutions, as well as providing
guidance and directions of our Group. Mr. Lam also
conducts overall strategic review of the R&D department
of our Group, giving R&D directions in relation to the
latest trend of the IC and semiconductor industry.

Mr. Lam has over 27 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Lam worked at Rohm Electronics (H.K.) Company
Limited (currently known as Rohm Semiconductor Hong
Kong Company Limited) from September 1995 to August
2003 and his last position was assistant sales manager
where he was responsible for the sale of IC products.
Mr. Lam worked as a senior manager in marketing
department at Synergy International Technology
Limited from October 2003 to February 2010, where
he was responsible for the sales and marketing of
semiconductor solutions.

Mr. Lam joined IH Technology Limited (“IH
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as a general manager in April 2010 and
was subsequently promoted to serve as a director of IH
Technology in November 2010. Mr. Lam has also been
serving as a director of Flyring Electronics Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since
January 2011. Mr. Lam served as an independent non-
executive director of EFT Solutions Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8062), from 23 November
2016 to 26 March 2019, which is principally engaged
in sourcing of electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale
terminals and peripheral devices, and provision of
electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale system support
services and software solution services.
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Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor’'s degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Tennessee, the United
States in December 1993.

Mr. Lam, through P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company which is 100% beneficially owned by him,
holds approximately 60.35% of issued share capital of
the Company. In addition, pursuant to the confirmation
deed dated 21 March 2018 (the “Confirmation Deed”),
Mr. Lam, Mr. Qing and Ms. Feng Tao, the spouse of Mr.
Qing (“Mrs. Qing”), confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of the Group, Mr. Lam is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Kingtech which is
100% beneficially owned by Mrs. Qing.

Mr. Qing Haodong (IBi&%) (“Mr. Qing”), aged 60,
joined the Group in December 2016 and was appointed
as a Director in December 2017. He was re-designated
as the executive Director in March 2018.

Mr. Qing is responsible for the overall marketing activities
of our Group. He is also responsible for liaising with
electronics manufacturers and promoting the latest
electronic products to customers.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESEREREEE

Mr. Qing has over 22 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Qing was an automation engineer at Sichuan Food
Fermentation Industry Research and Design Institute* (4
MNERMEE TP RFKFE) from September 1985
to November 2000, where he was responsible for the
electrical design for automation control equipment. Mr.
Qing joined Chengdu Flyring Electronics Co., Ltd.* (X
#HRIRET AR 2AAF) (‘“Chengdu Flyring”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a sales
manager in November 2000. Mr. Qing has been serving
as the supervisor at Chengdu Flyring, Shenzhen IH
Technology Co., Ltd* (R & &SI AR A a))
and Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EBREMEFHIMBRAA) (“Shanghai IH"), all
of which are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, since February 2006, May 2005 and August
2009, respectively.

Mr. Qing obtained his professional certificate in industrial
electronics and enterprise (L{>%E % %) from Harbin Jixie
Industry School* (i EE# M T2 K), the PRC, in
August 1985.

Mr. Qing is the spouse of Mrs. Qing, who beneficially
owns 100% of Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. (“Kingtech”). In
addition, pursuant to the Confirmatory Deed, Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of our Group, Mr. Qing is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by his spouse Mrs. Qing
through Kingtech, and all the Shares held by Mr. Lam
through P. Grand.
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Mr. Mai Lu (Z &) (“Mr. Mai”), aged 49, joined the
Group in January 2017 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2018.

Mr. Mai oversees the design and R&D functions of
our Group and is responsible for the overall daily
management of the design and R&D team.

Mr. Mai has over 21 years of experience in providing
technical solutions of semiconductors. Mr. Mai worked as
an assistant engineer at the Chinese People’s Liberation
Army from July 1996 to July 2001, and his last rank at
the Chinese People’s Liberation Army was Professional
Technology Lieutenant (% % £ i1 # &). Mr. Mai worked
as a sales engineer at Rohm Semiconductor (Shenzhen)
Co. Ltd. from July 2001 to February 2003, where he was
responsible for sales and providing technical supports
to the customers, and worked as a manager at the R&D
department of Shanghai Huanwei Electronics Company
Limited* (EBRMEFERAA]) from March 2003 to
August 2010, where he was responsible for overseeing
the R&D department of the company.

Mr. Mai joined Shanghai IH as head of the R&D
department in September 2010.

Mr. Mai obtained his bachelor’s degree in electronics
and information system (£ F 2z 8 XH 2017) from
National University of Defense Technology (FF Bl A R &
B BH R E T K2 currently known as R A R 7 K
T B RHE KE), the PRC, in July 1996.
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Ms. Cheng Yu Pik (285 2) (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 43,
joined the Group in July 2009 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2020.

Ms. Cheng has over 19 years of experience in the
semiconductor industry. Ms. Cheng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative functions of
the Group, including collaborating with other members of
the senior management and staff members to formulate
and implement policies and procedures; interfacing
cross-functionally at all levels within the Group as well
as with external resources (such as logistic companies,
governmental agencies); and providing routine reports to
the Board regarding operations, business performance
and human resources.

Ms. Cheng joined IH Technology in July 2009. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked at Synergy International
Technology Limited from August 2003 to June 2009
and her last position was senior customer service
coordinator where she was responsible for coordinating
with suppliers and handling enquiries. Ms. Cheng
worked as a general clerk at Kingdan Development
Limited from September 2000 to July 2003, where she
was responsible for dealing with suppliers, clients and
customs declarations.

Ms. Cheng obtained her matriculation certificate from
Caritas Bianchi College of Careers, Hong Kong, in
October 2000.
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INEDs

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (“Mr Chan”), aged 44, obtained a
bachelor’s degree in Arts in Accountancy and a master’s
degree in Corporate Governance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in December 2007 and October
2013, respectively.

He is a member of the Hong Kong institute of Certified
Public Accountants(Practising), and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries since February 2011 and November
2019, respectively. Mr. Chan has more than 15 years
of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management.

In the early stage of his career, Mr. Chan worked
successively in JBPB & Company (formerly known as
Grant Thornton and later merged with BDO Limited), with
his last position as an assistant manager in assurance
from August 2007 to February 2011. From March 2011 to
April 2015, he served as the chief financial officer of a
PRC-based mining company.

Mr. Chan then acted as the financial controller of KPa-
BM Holdings Limited (stock code: 2663) from May 2015
to April 2018. Mr. Chan was the financial controller and
company secretary of Heysea Yachts Holdings Company
Limited from May 2019 to April 2020. Mr. Chan was an
independent non-executive director and a company
secretary of Sino Vision Worldwide Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8086), a company listed on GEM of the
Exchange, from August 2017 to September 2018 and
from January 2019 to May 2019 respectively.

Mr. Chan had several positions from September 2016
to March 2019 in Shenzhen Mingwah Aohan High
Technology Corporation Limited (“Mingwah”) (stock
code: 8301), a company previously listed on GEM of the
Exchange, including non-executive director, executive
director and chief financial officer. He last served as a
non-executive director of Mingwah until March 2019.

Mr. Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Capital Finance Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8239), a company listed on GEM
of the Exchange since January 2022. He also as an
independent non-executive director of Leader Education
Limited (stock code: 1449) and Persistence Resources
Group Limited (stock code: 2489) since July 2020 and
November 2023 respectively, both companies listed on
the Main Board of the Exchange.
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He is also the joint company secretary of Centenary
United Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959) since
January 2019. Currently he acted as the company
secretary of Bison Finance Group Limited (stock code:
888) and Zhengwei Group Holdings Company Limited
(stock code: 2147) at August 2022 and February 2023
respectively, those company listed on the Main Board of
the Exchange.

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth (“Mr. Kenneth Chan”),
aged 45, was appointed as an INED of the Company in
June 2023.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’'s degree of art in
accountancy from the Edinburgh Napier University,
United Kingdom, and a higher diploma in accountancy
from the City University of Hong Kong in February
2008 and August 2002, respectively. Mr. Kenneth
Chan has over 21 years of experience in accounting,
auditing, and financial management, as well as merger
and acquisition of listing entities and private sectors
in Hong Kong, Singapore, and the PRC. Mr. Kenneth
Chan joined Premier Accounting and Corporate Services
Limited as a senior consultant since January 2022. He
served in several international accounting firms since
2004 and became a senior manager in assurance and
audit services of BDO Limited since October 2011
until he resigned in November 2015. He joined Moore
CPA Limited as a senior manager, assurance and audit
service in December 2015, and was promoted as a
deputy director, consulting service in April 2018 until he
resigned in November 2021.

Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond (E} B &) (“Mr. Dan”), aged
53, was appointed as an INED of the Company in June
2019.

Mr. Dan has over 23 years of experience in the
information technology industry.
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Mr. Dan has worked as a solution consultant at China
Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 941),
since March 2020, where he was mainly responsible
for providing technical and professional consultancy
services to its customers. Mr. Dan worked as senior
systems consultant at Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
from April 2017 to March 2020, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical and professional
consultancy services to its customers. Prior to joining
Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited, he was a senior bid
manager at CITIC Telecom International CPC Limited
from December 2015 to April 2017, where he was
responsible for managing bidding projects in relation to
information technology products. Prior to joining CITIC
Telecom International CPC Limited, he was an account
manager at Huawei Tech. Investment Co., Limited from
June 2013 to November 2015, where he was responsible
for providing technical services to the customers during
the process of sales. Mr. Dan worked as a business
consulting officer at Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
from June 2010 to May 2013, where he was responsible
for providing pre-sale support, performing technology
assessment and maintaining customer relationship.
Prior to that, he also gained experience from different
information technology or telecommunication companies
including Shen Milsom & Wilke Limited, PCCW Limited a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0008) and Unisys China/Hong Kong Limited
from May 1999 to June 2010 in various positions.

Mr. Dan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in computer
systems engineering from La Trobe University, Australia,
in May 1997, and his master’s degree in management
from Macquarie University, Australia, in October 2000.
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Mr. Lai Man Shun (R&{5) (“Mr. Lai”), aged 51, was
appointed as an INED of the Company in June 2019.

Mr. Lai has over 22 years of experience in information
technology and telecommunication industry. He has
been a general manager of EFT Payments (Asia) Limited
since July 2016, mainly responsible for the business
relationship management, development planning and
overall supervision of different departments of the
company. Immediately before that, Mr. Lai worked at EFT
Solution Limited as the head of business development
from March 2016 to June 2016. Before that, he was a
chief executive officer and founder of Paxex International
Limited from 2010 to 2016, mainly responsible for
the overall business of the company. He was also a
sales director and co-founder of RICC Limited, mainly
responsible for the management of the business
developments from 2001 to 2010.

Mr. Lai obtained his bachelor’'s degree in science from
La Trobe University, Australia, in May 1997.

Disclosure required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)

Each of the Directors confirms that save as disclosed
above: (i) he has not held directorships in the last three
years in other public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas,; (ii) he does not hold any other position in
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) there is no
other information that should be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) to the best of
the knowledge, information and belief of our Directors
having made all reasonable enquiries, there are no
other matters with respect to the appointment of the
Directors that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debenture” in this annual report, each of
the Directors certifies that he/she does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.
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Senior management

Mr. Wang Kai (FE8l) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 44, joined
the Group in December 2016 and was appointed as the
head of sales of the Group in March 2018.

Mr. Wang has over 21 years of experience in the sales
and marketing of semiconductors, ICs and electronic
component products. Mr. Wang oversees the sales
business of our Group. He is also responsible for the
overall management of the sales teams of the Group.

Mr. Wang worked as a sales representative for Chengdu
Flyring in September 2001. He was subsequently
promoted to a sales manager in July 2005, where he
was responsible for regional sales operations in the
PRC, covering south-western and south-eastern areas
of the PRC. Mr. Wang has been serving as a director
of Shanghai IH since August 2009, and assumed the
position of sales manager of Shanghai IH subsequent to
his appointment as a director of Shanghai IH. Apart from
overseeing the daily management of Shanghai IH, Mr.
Wang is also responsible for the overall sales operations
of our Group. He has also been serving as a director of
Shenzhen IH since May 2015.

Mr. Wang obtained his high diploma certificate in
mathematics education from Zigong Shifan High Diploma
Professional School* (B & Al & = & E & 21 ), the PRC,
in June 2001.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
ESEREREEE

Ms. Au Ka Man Silkie (EX 5 ) (“Ms. Au”), aged 40,
joined the Group in October 2016 and was appointed as
the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company in March 2018.

Ms. Au has over 17 years of experience in business
administration and management. Ms. Au is responsible
for overseeing the financial operations of the Group, as
well as supervising accounting and finance departments.
She is also responsible for company secretarial matters
of our Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Au was the chief
executive officer of Pro Max CPA Limited from June
2014 to September 2016, where she was responsible
for the overall management, strategy planning and daily
operations of the company. She worked at CPA firm
from April 2008 to March 2014 and her last positions
were senior unit manager and practising director, where
she was responsible for the overall management of the
accounting departments and human resources. She
also worked as an assistant accountant at Accounting
firm from June 2006 to March 2008, where she was
responsible for preparing full set of accounts.

Ms. Au obtained a bachelor’'s degree in business
administration from Lingnan University, Hong Kong, in
November 2006. She became a member of HKICPA in
January 2011.
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Ms. Feng Ying (/5#) (“Ms. Feng”), aged 55, joined
the Group in January 2017 and was appointed as the
head of PRC operations of the Group in March 2018. Ms.
Feng is the sister of Mrs. Qing and the sister-in-law of Mr.
Qing.

Ms. Feng has over 22 years of experience in the
management of the Group. Ms. Feng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative function
of the PRC entities of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Feng worked as an analyst in Sichuan
Yinshan Sugar Manufacturing Factory* (P9 JII & $8
#E ) from September 1987 to 2000, responsible for
quality inspection. Ms. Feng joined Chengdu Flyring
as supervisor in November 2000 and was responsible
for supervising and inspecting the daily management,
operation, financial situation and the work of directors
and senior managers of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng has
been serving as the legal representative, the director
and the general manager of Chengdu Flyring since
June 20083, responsible for administration and the daily
operations of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng obtained her
graduate certificate majored in paper making from the
Neijiang Light Chemical Technician Training School* (A
T 8L T2 4), the PRC, in 1987.

* For identification purpose only

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’
INFORMATION
Changes in information of the Directors which are

required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of
the Listing Rules are set out below:

Name of Director

EEHA

Date of Change
20 Y
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Details of Changes

BEHE

30 June 2023
2023F6H308

Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
bR B 4

Chan Ngai Fan
REE

30 June 2023
20234 6H30H

appointed as an independent non-executive Director
BZERBUFATES

ceased to an independent non-executive Director

TERBEUFATES
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The board of directors of the Company (the “Directors”
and the “Board”, respectively) is pleased to present
the report of the Directors together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
the provision of customised reference designs which
are bundled together with the sale of ICs and other
electronic components as a package to customers in
both Hong Kong and the PRC.

Segment analysis of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A list of the Company’s
subsidiaries, together with their places of incorporation,
principal activities, place of operation and particulars of
their issued shares/registered share capital, is set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 112.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 223 to 224 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2023,
together with the reasons thereof, are set out in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and the key
factors affecting its results and financial position are set
out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of
likely future development in, the Group’s business is set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Particulars of Important Events

Since 31 December 2023, being the end of the financial
year under review, no important event has occurred
affecting the Group.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

REBREREEHEREES
FE

EFeTEZRMNE E2023F128318 1k
FEMRPKE -

EROEERFTRIR

¥R EFRABOE

REBRE E2023F12A31HIEFEH X
BT mMl oMU ELEBE L ITG
MANEFERAEZHRNAFRIEEET
Mot —E& -

75 18 74 55 B 32 75 0 [ B B o T B B R
0 B BN A R R R E R
CEE TR

EXEHNFHR

H2023F12A31B(AICEM R EREEE
B)UR  BEZXLAZEREENE KRS
% o

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH

29



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive
list and there may be other risks and uncertainties
further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
an advice for anyone to invest in the securities of the
Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit
on trade receivables, liquidity and interest rate facing the
Group on its operation can be referred to note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry
which faces rapid changes in market trends, consumer
preferences and constantly evolving technological
advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology
require us to constantly incorporate new features or
technology into our sensitivity and adaptability to market
demand and/or services in order to cope with the
evolving environment and customer demands.

Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political policies of the
PRC government

The development of PRC’s economy is based on many
factors, including but not limited to structure of economy,
government involvement, control of foreign exchange,
allocation of resources and capital investment. However,
any of such changes to the economic and political
strategies and policies of the PRC government may have
an adverse impact on the overall global economy and
affect all the industries in which the Group operates.
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Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political uncertainties in
the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted
from major events such as the persistent threat of global
inflation and the global economy is facing increasing
downward pressure, the unresolved war between the
Ukraine and the Russia, and the surging trend in the
US interest rates and the US-China trade tensions,
continue to affect the global economy both in short-term
and long-term, which in turn may adversely impact the
performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward looking
statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the
Group as set out in this annual report are historical in
nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future
performance. This annual report may contain forward
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially
from expectations discussed in such forward-looking
statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the
Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume
any obligations or liabilities in the event that any of
the forward-looking statements or opinions does not
materialize or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting
a sustainable and environmental friendly environment.
Our Group does not engage in the manufacturing of
products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventory are kept at our Group’s storage and
warehousing facilities situated inside the headquarters
office unit. Therefore, our Group is not subject to
significant health, safety or environmental risks. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, our Group had
not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to
non-compliance with health, safety or environmental
regulations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and China while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations
shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in China
and Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this report, the Group has complied with all the
relevant laws and regulations in China and Hong Kong in
all material respects.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of
maintaining a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and
long-term business goals. We encourage employees to
strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the
Group operate and attend courses or training sessions to
improve their relevant industry and technical knowledge.
The Group also maintains ongoing communications
with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and
emails in order to allow employees to contribute to the
development of the Group, deliver better customer
services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and
exemption available to Shareholders by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year ended 31 December 2023 to this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of our property, plant and
equipment during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its Shares listed on
the Stock Exchange nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such Shares during
the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
(appointed on 30 June 2023)
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (Resigned on 30 June 2023)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond
Mr. Lai Man Shun

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management” to this annual
report. In accordance with the Articles of Association,
Mr. Qing Haodong, Mr. Mai Lu, Mr. Dan Kun Lei
Raymond, and Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth shall retire
at the AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves
for re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group
has been set up by the remuneration committee of
the Board (the “Remuneration Committee”’) on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The remuneration of the Directors is recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
eligible participants.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 31 “Related Party
Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance (as defined in Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules) to which the Company or its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director, an entity connected with the
Director or controlling shareholder of the Company or its
subsidiaries (other than members of the Group) had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

As of 31 December 2023, none of the Directors is
interested in any businesses apart from our business
which competes or is likely to compete with our
business, either directly or indirectly or would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. In
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the related
party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group
and the respective related parties. The Directors confirm
that none of the related party transactions set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that
is required to be disclosed.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2023 had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been
entered into for the services provided by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this
report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions
of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO), (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein (the
“‘Register”), or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were
as follows:
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Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares®  shareholding
R AY
%2 54 #EisME B BE® B
Mr. Lam Keung"® Interest in a controlled corporation/ 746,746,000 (L) 68.00%
Person aoting in concert

FRO& S e B —BITPHAL

Mr. Qing Haodong®) Interest in a controlled corporation/ 746,746,000 (L) 68.00%

Person acting in concert

VANCE S e RErEgEs,/ —
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Notes:

(1)  Pursuant to a confirmatory deed, Mr. Lam Keung, Mr. Qing
Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao (spouse of Mr. Qing Haodong) have
acknowledged and confirmed, among other things, that they
are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

(2) P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.
Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(8) Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(4)  The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so
far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company had or were
deemed to have any interest or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO), which would have to be notified the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) and/or required
to be recorded in the Register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives
of the Company, as at 31 December 2023, the person
(other than a Director or the chief executives of the
Company) or corporations who had interests or short
position in the Share and underlying Shares which were
required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

F 2 iz R Bx 63 % 46 B Bix 43 B9
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Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares®  shareholding
= IR B 49

e aE Bty HnHHE RHBE Bt

P. Grand (BVI) Ltd.® Beneficial owner 662,746,000 (L) 60.35%
ERaERAA

Ms. Feng Tao"@®) Interest in a controlled corporation/ 746,746,000 (L) 68.00%
__Person acting in concert

BB+ 02e) REEEER —BITHAL

Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. Benechial owner 84,000,000 (L) 7.65%
EmnEBA

Notes: Mt -

(1)  Pursuant to a confirmatory deed, Mr. Lam Keung, Mr. Qing
Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao (spouse of Mr. Qing Haodong) have
acknowledged and confirmed, among other things, that they
are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

(2) P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.

Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(3) Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(4) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
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Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 December
2023, the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company are not aware of any other person or
corporation having an interest or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would be required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant
to a resolution in writing passed by the shareholders
on 21 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as
incentives or rewards for eligible participants who
contribute to the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, no share option was granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme. Summary of major terms of the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Directors consider
the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward the employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contribution to our
Group and to attract and retain such individuals.
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(ii) The Participants

(iii)

The following persons of the Company, any member
of the Group or of an entity in which the Group
holds an equity interest may be invited by the
Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares
at the Directors’ absolute discretion:

employees and directors;
suppliers and customers;

persons or entities that provides research,
development or other technological support;

holders of any securities;

advisers (professional or otherwise) or
consultants to any area of business or business
development; and

any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date (i.e. 80,000,000 shares).
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(iv) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(v)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant other than a Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the Company who
accepts the offer for the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, are subject to approval by the
INEDs. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an INED, or to any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the Shares in issue at the date of grant and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a
participant within 28 days from the date of the offer
of the options. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period
nor achieve any performance targets before the
exercise of an option granted to him.
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(vi) Subscription price for Shares and
consideration for the option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee on acceptance of the grant of option.

(vii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on 21 June 2019,
the date on which the Share Option Scheme is
adopted.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement that would or might result
in the Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the
Company to enter into an agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into
by the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 or subsisted at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as of the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of
the Company) or under the Articles of Association which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code. The Board considered that
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report included
in this report. For details please refer to the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 46 to 66 of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than the employment contracts of
the executive Directors, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and the indemnity
provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force as of the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest
customers of the Group comprised 53.5% by value of
our total sales during the year, with the largest customer
accounted for 22.9%.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the five largest
suppliers of the Group comprised 87.0% by value of our
total purchases during the year, with the largest supplier
accounted for 37.6%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) has an interest in any of our five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2023 was the
Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than the matters outlined elsewhere in this
Annual Report, there have been no matters that have
occurred subsequent to 31 December 2023 which have
significantly affected, or may significantly affect the
Group’s operations, results or state of affairs in future
years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by Moore
CPA Limited (formerly known as Moore Stephens CPA
Limited) (“Moore Hong Kong”). A resolution will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM for the re-appointment
of Moore Hong Kong as the independent auditor of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Keung
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREABE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the
corporate governance report for the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions according to the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices with effect
from the Listing Date.

The Company is committed to maintaining high
standards and has applied the Principles that are set out
in the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on these Principles. The Board believes that
good corporate governance standards are essential
in contributing to the provision of a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of its shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance transparency and
accountability.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
and to a large extent the recommended best practices
in the CG Code throughout the period from 1 January
2023 to 31 December 2023, except for the deviation
from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code as described
below. The Company will continue to review and monitor
its corporate governance practices to ensure compliance
with the CG Code.
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Our Company complies or intends to comply with the CG
Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, save
for Code provision A.2.1 which requires that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer be separated
and performed by different individuals. Mr. Lam is both
our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. Our Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman in the same person has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership and efficient discharge
of executive functions within our Group. Our Group
considers that the balance of power and authority of
the present arrangement will not be impaired as during
the period the Board comprised six other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including three other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines (the
“Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code for
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of
them have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Written Guidelines throughout the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this report.
No incident of non-compliance of the Written Guidelines
by the employees who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company was noted by the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Group endeavours to enhance corporate efficiency
and profitability through the Board. The directors
recognise their collective and individual responsibility to
the shareholders and perform their duties diligently to
contribute to positive results for the Group and maximise
returns for shareholders. The Board’'s focus is on the
formulation of business strategy and policy, and control.
Matters reserved for the Board are those affecting the
Company’s overall strategic policies, finances and
shareholders. These include, but not limited to the
following:

— determining policy matters, business plans and
strategies, risk management, internal control,

— annual and quarterly financial forecast;

— preliminary announcements of interim and final
results, and interim and annual reports;

— dividend policy;

— major corporate activities such as material
acquisitions and capital expenditures; and

— Directors’ appointment, re-election and

recommendations.

Directors could seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation
of the Group are delegated to the management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises four executive Directors and three
INEDs. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
(appointed on 30 June 2023)
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (Resigned on 30 June 2023)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond
Mr. Lai Man Shun

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationship between the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 16 to 27 of this annual report. There is no
other relationship including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships among the Board
members.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, with at least one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company also complied with Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive Directors representing one-third of the
Board. Each of the independent non-executive Directors
has confirmed his or her independence during the
period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company considers each of them to be independent.
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Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and
is collectively promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate
mission, visions and policies of the Group and to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All executive Directors actively involves in managing
the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the daily
operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and
judgments on various issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through their regular attendance and active participation
at various committee meetings of the Company. They
bring independent opinion and judgment on the
strategy and policies to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders are taken into account.
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During the Year, each executive Director frequently met
and discussed with the management team in order to
maintain an effective feedback system and enable the
Group to react to changes or problems quickly and
efficiently. The Board shall review its arrangement on
delegation of responsibilities and authority regularly to
ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has
access to the Company’s senior management team
independently.

Board Proceedings

The Company adopts a practice to convene 5 Board
meetings in a financial year with intervals of not more
than four (4) months. Notices of not less than 14 days is
required to be given to all Directors and each Director is
invited to include matters in the agenda. The company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
assisted the Chairman in establishing the meeting
agenda. Detailed agenda and related meeting materials
were circulated to all Directors at least three days before
the date of the regular meetings.

Minutes were recorded in sufficient detail and draft
minutes have been circulated to all Board members
for comments. Finalised minutes were also sent to all
Directors for their records within reasonable time after
the meetings. All minutes were kept by the Company
Secretary and were open for inspection by Directors.
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All Directors have been given the relevant guideline
materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of
interest. During the Year, the Board held 5 meetings,
amongst other matters, considered and approved the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Year 2022 and the unaudited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and one (1) AGM was held. Details
of the attendance of the Directors are set out below:

PRESCEZERERESHR SN
T EEEAMMEEEMMABEL - LA K
=mEEETHNHEBESIER - RAFE -
EFgRoRgE (HARERB)ZEREK
HEAREB20022FENKEEZEET B
RENAEBEHZE2023F6A30H 1E A
ARNAREEZGFENFERRARLEIT—
MEARRBRFRE FHESLFE R
HFFBEEY T

No. of Attendance/

No. of Meeting

Name of Director EEHA Eligible to Attend AGM
EHE
EEBEEN B =R
BERE BEXE
Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and MR oR 5t A& 5/5 11
Chief Executive Officer) (FEFRTHAEH)
Mr. Qing Haodong B R A 5/5 1/1
Mr. Mai Lu BEREE 5/5 1/1
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik B[ FBE 4+ 5/5 11
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (resigned on R E £ 3/3 1/1
30 June 2023) (R2023%6H30H & 1F)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEEXE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Lai Man Shun REEFELE 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth PR B 4 5E A& 3/3 0/0
(appointed on 30 June 2023) (R2023F6H30H % Z (F)
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Directors’ training and development

All Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities
as a director of the Company and of the conduct and
business activities of the Company. The Company
is responsible for arranging suitable training for its
Directors. The Company has arranged for Directors to
attend a training session which place emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director,
as well as the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
All the Directors had also participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by
reading materials regarding regulatory updates and
corporate governance matters.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors as
follows:

Appointment of Directors

Article 83(2) provides that subject to the Articles of
Association and the Law, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the
existing Board.

Article 83(3) provides that the Directors shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board.

Re-election of Directors

Article 83(3) also provides that any Director so appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of the Company after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting and any Director appointment by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the article 84(1), at each annual general
meeting one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the
number nearest to but not less than one-third (1/3)) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.
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Article 84(2) provides that a retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a
Director throughout the meeting at which he retires and
any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the
other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who
have been longest in office since their last re-election
or appointment and so that as between persons who
became or were last re-elected Directors on the same
day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot.

Removal of Directors

Under article 83(5), the members may, at any general
meeting and by an ordinary resolution, remove a Director
at any time before the expiration of his/her period of
office notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these
articles or in any agreement between the Company and
such Director (but without prejudice to any claim from
damage under any such agreement).

Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars are
contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the year ended 31
December 2023 by band is set out below:

AMAIEBAQIGRMRE  RETEFTAER
BEREE WHENBREREZRE LER
B MEMEMERTIEE/ELRERE
HEZEANRTHEEMARBESRZH
MEE MRARAAEZEIXAEERESRE
(BRRFZB B WHE) B ARE T URE
FRAE -

EREF

R A0 BRI ZE83(5) ik » BXR A ME A LR
REeLBBERRAFER  RETCHERA
MERRSEERES - BIEA R A EMAE
RFEXARFTBZEETHEMMBRERA
(EEBAREBEEMZBRIELINETMAES

=

RIE) -

EERERERE &M

NEE2023F12A31BILFEESH I E
REEA T HRRME9 -

BIELEEATRMSTANRCEB1.5K -
REE2023FE12A31H I FESREIREE
HME(BEEHBRINEBEHFNAFRIZES
MaRERE|—&R) /AR &5
T

Number of

Remuneration band (HK$) N 4H B (E TT) individual(s)
AE

Nil to 1,000,000 = %1,000,000 —
1,000,000 to 1,500,000 1,000,000%£1,500,000 —
1,500,000 to 2,000,000 1,500,000% 2,000,000 —
2,000,000 to 2,500,000 2,000,000% 2,500,000 —
2,500,000 to 3,000,000 2,500,000£ 3,000,000 —
3,000,000 to 3,500,000 3,000,000 3,500,000 1
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following
corporate governance duties:

1.

to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
appropriate recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the
code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The chairman and chief executive officer of our
Company is Mr. Lam Keung. The reasons for the two
roles are being performed by the same individual are
set out in the paragraph headed “Corporate Governance
Practices” in this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. All the
committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, which are posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and
are available for inspection by the Shareholders upon
request made to the Company Secretary. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the INEDs, namely
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond, Mr. Lai Man Shun and Mr.
Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth. Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee
member has extensive commercial experience and the
Audit Committee has a suitable expertise in various
businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the
composition and establishment of the Audit Committee
complies with the requirements under rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly (i)
to review and supervise the financial reporting process
and to oversee the audit process of the Group, (ii) to
oversee internal control procedures and corporate
governance of our Group, and (iii) to review risk
management and internal control systems of our Group.
It has the responsibilities and powers set forth in the
terms of reference.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice
a year to consider the interim and final results prepared
by the Board.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held three (3)
meetings to, among others, review and supervise
the financial reporting process and review the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group
and its audit-related matters. It had, in conjunction
with the management of the Company, reviewed the
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022 and the unaudited
consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2023 and recommended the same to the
Board for their consideration and approval. The Audit
Committee was of the opinion that the preparation of
such results complied with the applicable accounting
standards and requirements and that adequate
disclosures had been made. The Audit Committee also
carried out and discharged its other duties as set out in
the CG Code.

The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee
meetings is as follows:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREGRE

RAFE  BEZEZESRIT=0C)XTH
N(EFRBEE)BRAREBRTKERBRE R
EHNAEB ZRAREEMNANILEITHE
UM EEFHEBEEE - HEEAQF B
EBREEAEBRHE2022F12A31BILEE
M B IXGE AU BHRE REH E2023F6 A
B0RLEANEANAEEZEETIERE
TRitmEESELHEBERR  UWEES
SEBMILE BREESRE  2FTE
BEMRETEERSHERRETE BB
ERFEDHE - BREZESMETRETT
REEERTAMBENEMEES -

ERUFPATESHRERZESSH
B R BN

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Members o= Eligible to Attend

EHE SEREHED

EE DS

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth Bk B 4 5t A 2/2
(appointed on 30 June 2023) (R2023F6H30H & Z (F)

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (resigned on PR E L4 2/2

30 June 2023) (R2023%F6H30H §F 1F)
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond BEELEAE 3/3
Mr. Lai Man Shun RBELEE 3/3

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings on 30 March
2023, 30 June 2023 and 31 August 2023 to review and
consider, among other matters, the Group’s the audited
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December
2022 and interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of one
executive Director, Mr. Lam Keung, and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Dan Kun Lei,
Raymond and Mr. Lai Man Shun (chairman).
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
are mainly (i) to develop a transparent policy in
relation to remuneration; (ii) to review the remuneration
policy and the structure relating to all Directors and
senior management of the Group; (iii) to assess
performance of all Directors and review performance
based remunerations payable to Directors and
senior management of the Group; and (iv) to make
recommendations on other remuneration-related
arrangement, such as, housing allowance and bonuses
payable to Directors and senior management of the
Group.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held three
(8) meeting for reviewing and recommending the Board
of the remuneration and other benefits payable by the
Company to the Directors and senior management.

The attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee meeting is as follows:

FMEEeMIEBRERNGELERE
ZHEMBE: (MR AKEMEEENRS
e IR B 2 % BN BUR N 2R ¢ (Kh) RE S A
BEEMRALRIENASEEEENS
MBI E 2 B R (iv) Bt H h Er B
HEAZHEDINEERZRRENASEE
ENESMEBB A IREREZS

RAFE  HFHEESRIT=Q)XE#
NEBERARBMEERSREERE NN
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FHEZEEeRSRENEERBWT

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Members o= Eligible to Attend
EHE SERHED

EE DS

Mr. Lai Man Shun REELE 3/3
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELE 3/3
Mr. Lam Keung o8 5 A4 3/3

The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings
on 5 January 2023, 30 March 2023 and 30
June 2023 respectively and considered certain
remuneration-related matters of the Directors and senior
management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises of one
executive Director, Mr. Lam Keung (chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lai
Man Shun and Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth.
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The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
(i) to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board on a regular basis; (ii) to make recommendations
to our Board relating to the appointment, re-appointment;
(iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board; and (iv) to assess the
independence of our INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and review the progress of its
measurable objectives from time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to strengthen the performance of the
Board, promote effective decision-making and better
corporate governance and monitoring. To achieve a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing an appropriate composition of the Board,
the Board diversity has been considered from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Directors appointment will be based on applicable merits
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held
2 meeting for, among other matters, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of INEDs and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.
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The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee meeting during the Year is as follows:

REZESEZSKERNEKEENHFEX
N

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Members o= Eligible to Attend
EHE SERHEDN

EE DS

Mr. Lam Keung Mok ot A& 2/2
Mr. Lai Man Shun REEFELE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth PR B 4 5t A& 11

(Appointed on 30 June 2023) (720236 A30HEZ 1)

Mr. Chan Ngai Fan (Resigned on 30 June  BR 3% & L & (A 202346 A30H 2/2

2023) B 1)
The Nomination Committee met on 30 March 2023 and
30 June 2023 recommended the re-appointment of
all the retiring Directors at the forthcoming AGM after
assessing their contribution and performance based on
the Nomination Policy.

Nomination Policy

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination
Committee evaluates skills, knowledge and experience
required by the Board, and identifies if there are any
special requirements for the vacancy. The Nomination
Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss
and vote in respect of the nominated Directors, and
recommends candidates for Directors to the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates with
individual skills, experience and professional knowledge
that can best assist and facilitate the effectiveness of the
Board. The Nomination Committee takes the policy on
Board diversity of the Company into consideration when
it considers the balance of composition of the Board as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The statement of the independent auditor of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities and
opinion on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 103 to 111 of this
annual report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the
independent auditor of the Company, Moore Hong Kong,
in respect of audit services and other services for the
year ended 31 December 2023 is set out below:
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EFHUMBERNEE

EERRATCZEERELAEEH £2023
F1I2A3MHIEFEMNGAEPBERE -

ARRBLZEMEREHPEHRROE
BETRERBAHNAFHREI03E111
BB ZBERENA -

15 31 2 S5 B BN &

HE2023F12A31B I FERBZRBE X
H A R B AT A AR B I8 S A% EE K
EEHEEBENMES oMETDOT

Fee paid/

Service iR 75 payable
gt

FE + & H

Us$’000

F=E3x

Annual audit services FEEZRE 114
Other services H b AR 75 23
Total = 137

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
maintaining an adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders and through the
Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, inter alia, identifying,
analysing, categorizing, mitigating and monitoring
significant risks, and safeguarding assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial
information, ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations and protecting the interests of the
Shareholders. Such systems are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable,
as opposed to an absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board will set up an internal audit
function in light of the size and nature of the Group’s
business. The need for an internal audit function will be
reviewed from time to time. Nevertheless, for the Year,
the Board has conducted a review of, and is satisfied
with, the effectiveness of the internal control systems
of the Group. The Board considers that the Group’s
risk management and internal control are adequate
and effective. The Board expects that a review of the
risk management and internal control systems will be
performed annually.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the
Company Secretary is a full time employee and has
the day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
She is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. For the year under review, the
Company Secretary confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
accordance with the requirement under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the
SFO, Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced immediately when it is
the subject of a decision. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to
the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules
as well as the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside
Information” published by the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

° the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy
on fair disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive
distribution of information to the public through
channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website;

° the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use
of confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented
procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs, so that only the executive
Directors, Company Secretary and investor relations
officers are authorized to communicate with parties
outside the Group.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of
cash or by other means that the Company consider
appropriate. Any proposed distribution of dividends
shall be determined by the Board and will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval. In deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout and/or determining the amount of
any dividend to be paid, the Board will take into account,
amongst other matters:

(a) the Group’'s actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) interests of shareholders of the Company;
(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the

Company and each of the other members of the
Group;
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(d) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and financial covenants to which the
Group is subject;

(e) possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

(f) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(g) the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(h) liquidity position of the Group and any future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

(i) taxation considerations;
(j) statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(k) general business conditions and strategies;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company;
and

(m) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall be
subject to all applicable laws and regulations including
but not limited to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the
‘“Memorandum and Articles”).

The Company will review its dividend policy from time
to time and reserves the right in its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy at any time.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after
each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit A, 13/F, Block 1, Leader Industrial Centre,
188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan, N.T., Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Investor Relations Department)
Fax: + 852 2391 2422

Email: ir@conteltechnology.com
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For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Company’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Chairman and chairman of the Board
committees (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at
www.conteltechnology.com as a communication platform
with the Shareholders and investors, where the financial
information and other relevant information of the Company
are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has not made any
changes to its Memorandum and Articles. An up to date
version of the Memorandum and Articles is available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present the 2023 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”)
to provide an overview of the Group’s management of
significant issues affecting the operations, including
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues.
The Group believes sustainability is a key to achieve
continuous success, therefore we have integrated this
concept into our business strategy. In order to pursue a
successful and sustainable business model, the Group
recognizes the importance of integrating ESG aspects
into our risk management system. We adhere to the
ESG management direction in accordance with the
concept of sustainable development and are committed
to progressing effectively and responsibly against ESG
affairs.

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the ESG Report that summarizes the ESG
initiatives, plans, and performances of the Group
and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable
development. The Group sincerely commits towards the
long-term sustainable growth goal and strives to be a
responsible corporation.

The Group has developed a core governance framework
to ensure the alignment of ESG governance with our
strategic growth while advocating the integration of
ESG into our business operations. The structure of our
corporate social responsibility is divided into two main
components, namely the Board and an ESG working

group.

The Board holds the ultimate responsibility on monitoring
the Group’s ESG issues, including ESG management
approach, strategy, and policies. In order to ameliorate
the management of the Group’s ESG performance and
identify potential risks, the Board conducts regular
materiality assessments with the assistance of the
ESG working group to evaluate and prioritize material
ESG-related issues with reference to the opinions of our
stakeholders.
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The ESG working group, composed of core members
from different departments, is established to facilitate
the Board’s oversight of ESG matters. The ESG working
group is responsible for collecting and analyzing ESG
data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG
performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related
laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The
ESG working group also arranges regular meetings
to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and
procedures and formulate appropriate solutions
intending to improve the overall performance of
ESG policies. At meetings, the ESG working group
discussed the existing and upcoming plans to monitor
and manage the Group’s strategic goals in terms
of sustainable development, mitigation of potential
risks, and minimization of the negative impacts in our
business operations. By setting ESG-related goals and
targets for the purpose of minimizing the environmental
impacts in the Group’s operation, the Group affirmed
its commitment to embedding sustainability into
the business operation and fulfilling its corporate
responsibility. The ESG working group is responsible
to report to the Board periodically, assist in assessing
and identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of internal
control mechanism, and review the progress of the set
goals and targets.

REPORTING PERIOD

This ESG Report describes the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Reporting Period”,
“Year”, “2023").

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report has covered all the material aspects
of the Group’s business operations, which includes the
warehouse and office in Hong Kong and the offices in
Shenzhen, Shanghai and Chengdu. They are operated
by the subsidiaries of the Group, namely Flyring
Electronics Limited, IH Technology Limited, Shenzhen
IH Technology Co., Ltd. (R 5 &2 4l T B R A
A]), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.
(EBEEMEFHEMABRAA) and Chengdu Flyring
Electronics Co., Ltd. (&SRR E FH R R A)).
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). During the preparation for this ESG
Report, the Group has applied the reporting principles
stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

o “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was
conducted to identify material issues, thereby
adopting the confirmed material issues as the
focus for the preparation of the ESG Report. The
materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

° “‘Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added
along with quantitative data disclosed in the ESG
Report to explain any standards, methodologies,
and source of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

o “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this
ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided
regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback on our
business and ESG issues and is committed towards
integrating sustainability into different aspects of
operations. To fully understand, respond and address
the core concerns of different stakeholders, we
have maintained close communication with major
stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, suppliers, employees,
government and regulatory bodies, communities,
non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”) and media.
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Through diversified stakeholders’ engagement and
communication channels, we bring the stakeholders’
expectations into our operation and ESG strategies. The
Group’s communication channels with stakeholders and
their corresponding expectations are summarized as

follows:
Stakeholders Communication channels
FipE BERE
Shareholders and Annual general meeting and other
Investors shareholders meetings
BREEKES BRRBFRGREMBRRERE
Financial reports
MBHmE
Announcements and circulars
NS SRR
Customers Customer satisfaction survey
S EFEFMmEERAET
Customer service hotline & email
ERAZRER
Complaint review meetings
KHhEETER
Social Media Platform
HREEFAE
Emails and website
& A9k
Suppliers Supplier management meetings
e HEBEREE S

Supplier on-site audit and
assessment system

HEBRSEZTERR
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Expectations

B2

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BTRBERER

Disclosing latest information of the
corporate in due course

ERREARZHEM

Financial results

I EE

Corporate sustainability

rEAIFEER

Product and service responsibility
EmMkREEE

Customer information protection
BEFERRE

Compliant operation

BREE

Fair competition

N FREF

Business ethics and reputation
MEERLBE

Cooperation with mutual benefits
EEEBHEE



Stakeholders

iy &

Employees

(=]

Government and
Regulating Bodies
B REEKE

Communities, NGOs
and Media

MR- FEBFAR R
e
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Communication channels
RERE

Employee opinion survey

BEERASL

Channels for employees’ feedback
(forms, suggestion boxes, etc.)

BERBRE(RRK BERES

Performance reviews

=B A

In-house training programmes

A ER 5 BT 2l

Leisure Activities

PR & B

Regular performance reports

EHXEME

Written response to public
consultation

EECEARER

Field inspections

B Z R

Public and community activities
ANERHRES

Community investment programs
it @ ix &5t 2

ESG Reports

RE -HEREARRS

The Group is committed to working with our stakeholders
to improve the Group’'s ESG performance, and to
continue creating greater value for the wider society.

R HERELGRE

Expectations

2

Health and safety
EREEZE

Equal opportunities
TEKE

Remuneration and Benefits
¥ B 12 A

Career development

B BR

Tax payment in accordance to laws

WL AT

Business ethics

FEBR

Complying with relevant laws and
regulations

BT HEBARIER

Giving back to society
O 68+t &
Environmental protection
RIERE

Compliant operations
BREE

AEBBNEFNHEAE  BALNKERN
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In assessing the materiality issue, apart from
referencing our own business development strategies
and benchmarking for industry standard practices, the
Group has compiled a questionnaire to identify major
ESG issues. By issuing questionnaires, the Group’s
key stakeholders and management and staff in major
functions are able to assist the Group in reviewing its
operations and identifying the relevant ESG issues, and
assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group's
business and its stakeholders. The Group has analyzed
the survey results and presented them in a materiality
matrix. The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s
material ESG issues during the Reporting Period:

EEMF ML

HHERMEZER  BR2ERMAEHH
ERBREBEEERTEREEEG SN K
SENEE-—DBAERS - LB ETEHN
RIE HEe@kERZE -  BBERES
AEENTERNE BEEBMEZBEE
MPAMBTREHMAREETE ZERBE7
MERE  tehkEndE X EHEH
ZERHAREXELEAFNENEENE -
AEEESMHAEERLAEEREEE
EAZS - ATRERRE AR AEEDN

EERB HEkEARZEME:

Materiality Matrix

N T
¥ Otg
0

HERER

Employment Practice /

RIEEH

BEREIE

Occupational health and safety
BERRNZ S

Impact on Stakeholders
HEFMENRE

EEMEME

Protection of Intellectual

Property (“IP”) Rights

Product Quality
mEE
AN —e
IRAE AR

Supply Chain Management /.
[ ]
Privacy Protection
BT 4Training and development

Energy Management

Customer Service
BRI
.\ Anti-corruption

k&S

IR B R

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

PIIEET Roahlss T

Green Purchasing

RERE

Emissions Control

BERREE

Waste Management
BEmER

Climate Change
RS

Community Investment

tEREE

v

Low Impact on Business High
15 HEBNE #
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FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes all feedback and opinions
from its stakeholders. Any of the feedback is
cherished and incorporated in operation strategy
wherever it sees appropriate and considers as the
cornerstone for development. If you have any advice
or suggestions, welcome you to contact us via email at
ir@conteltechnology.com.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental sustainability is a key focus of the Group’s
corporate social responsibility. We implement policies
and practices that help conserve resources, improve
energy efficiency, and raise environmental awareness
among our staff. We are committed to building an
environmentally friendly corporation that pays close
attention to conserving the Earth’s natural resources. We
strive to minimize our environmental impacts attributable
to its operations while ensuring high standards in our
operational efficiency and service quality.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations
and was not aware of any material non-compliance with
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact
on the Group, such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
of the PRC, Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Noise Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Environment Target

To support global efforts to address climate change and
to facilitate the assessment of the effectiveness of the
Group’s strategies and measures to mitigate the impacts
of climate change, environmental objectives are set at
the Group level as follows:

R HERELGRE
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RIE - HERELGRE

Target of reduce intensity by 2030, using 2022 as a base  A20224F & H ¥ F  H £20304F [t B &
year: ETBRER:
Electricity Water Non-hazardous Greenhouse gas
consumption consumption waste emissions
REE fEkE BEREY i = 5 B HE W
110% 110% 110% 110%

By setting these targets, it guides the Group’s business
strategy. The steps taken to achieve these goals are
detailed below in each corresponding section.

A.1 Emissions
Air Emissions

The business activities covered by the Group
mainly involve office operations, consequently,
the air pollutant is mainly generated by vehicles.
The Group is committed to following practices to
minimize air emissions:

e Conduct regular vehicle inspection and
maintenance to enhance vehicle efficiency;

o Educate employees to turn off engines for
idling vehicles;

e When the Group is considering purchasing a
new vehicle, our initial preference is for electric
cars.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air
emissions performance was as follows:

Types of exhaust gas Unit
BERER Efi
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) kg
A8 Tr
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) kg
maly Fr
Particulate Matter (PM) kg
FE KLY TR
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions
are generated from petrol consumed by vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2).
To minimize the GHG emissions, the Group has
adopted policies on the efficient use of energy
as described in the section headed “Use of
Resources” below.

During the Year, the GHG emissions are as follows:

Indicators! Unit

1 &1 B {u

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCOze

HE- —BEEARERBEN

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG tCO2e
emissions

HE - —REZEAEREBEN

Total GHG emissions

BRERBHRNE

W —ftixE £

WE — S AL

W_RILRER

R HERELGRE

il E R

AEEREREBHMNEZRES

MEHEREN R (BE)RBENE

H(BE ) - RESIEEREBYEN

$EIE}“’%TYF§5ﬁ1§%J—EﬁPﬁ
AL EY B AL I RE R B BRER

FR - BEREHERBROT:

2023 2022
20234 20224
18.08 10.80
83.36 44.79

Total GHG emissions intensity?
BRERBHRERE?

Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and are based on, including but not
limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
2022 Sustainability Report” published by HK Electric
Investments Limited and the “CLP 2022 Sustainability
Report” published by CLP Holdings Ltd.

2. As at 31 December 2023, the total number of full time
employees in the Reporting Scope of the Group was 91
(as at 31 December 2022: 107) This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

tC02e/Emp|oyee
M-S tEg =

11 0.52
(==

B 5

1. BREREHENBEDE _SLBRES
£§\J I%F(@?ﬁﬂfﬁﬁﬁ/\)ﬁﬁéﬁ
MEMEEARAHEERIBEES T
ENCOREREREATE  CX R
HRERE)  BMIAEMO(ARER
R MHERERAWMSE — WM RE
A RIEIRERESD) BREIR
EERARTIENC22F A HEER
BEIRTEERBERAATEN(FE
022F A EBERME)

2. B ZE2023F12A31H - AEEHREHE

N2 EE BB BEIE (B E2022F
12A318 :107%) - WHBE AR E
HEth=E &K -
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Waste Management BEYEE

Non-Hazardous Waste BmEZEY

The wastes generated from sites of operations are CESHEANEY —RAERERE
generally domestic wastes such as office paper, - Bl R ERA - AR B o
paper board and toner. The details of the wastes FRESXOEYMFBOT:

generated are as follows:

Types of waste Unit 2023 2022
BEYmER B i 20234 20224
Non-hazardous waste tonnes 0.67 1.09
Non-hazardous wastes intensity tonnes/employee 0.01 0.01
BEBENMEE W& 8

To reduce paper consumption, we encourage our RBLHEERER  RM=BES:

employees to:

e Reuse envelopes and folders for sending o BRAINHMEHRHHFNAE

internal documents and letters; B R
e Use double side printing; e EEMEITED:
e Adopt electronic filing, and electronic meeting. e KRHABEFHFELETFZH -
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Hazardous Waste

Due to our office-based business nature, no
hazardous waste was produced during the
Reporting Period. Even though the Company did not
generate hazardous wastes during the Reporting
Period, the Company nevertheless has established
guidelines in governing the management and
disposal of hazardous wastes such as engaging
qualified waste management company to collect
and transport hazardous wastes.

A.2 Use of Resources

The Group understands reasonable use of
resources is essential to sustainable development.
The Group is committed to the following:

e  Adopt the principles of “3R" to reduce, reuse
and recycle to increase the consumption
efficiency of energy, paper, water, high-quality
plastic stretch film (packaging materials) and
other resources in its business operations;

o Nature the culture of environmental protection
within the Group to increase the environment
awareness of employees;

The Group seeks to encourage its employees to
adopt efficiency measures in the use of lighting,
computer, water, paper, and packaging materials.

A2.

R HERELGRE
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Energy Management BEREHE

The major energy source is electricity. The Group REEMNETERERESN - ALBEE

has implemented various measures to mitigate the 1TZIATE 1 LAORK 82 R 7 B Y8

consumption regarding the use of energy as below: oEBmT:

e Switch off unnecessary lighting in office areas e HEREERNAZTERF(WEZ
(such as meeting room, reception area, pantry, - ESR - RXKE - EFEM
lavatory, and corridors) when appropriate; ERR) R FEL E R

e Set air conditioner temperatures in the e BARAMAEMNZTFABEHER
Company’s offices within 25°C; R K25%

e  Switch off unnecessary air-conditioners during e UBATHEMNEHRBE(NTERR
less busy hours (such as lunchtime and MIEEEREBIEILENE
non-business hours); EE

e Activate the office PC in standby or hibernation e AWM ATMMFEIINERE
mode so that the display monitor will switch N FRETEEFRENEHENA
off automatically or enter energy saving mode S AREERER &

when idle; and

e Switch off other idle office equipment, such as e HBREEMEENMARE  WE
monitors, scanners, and printers. TER  RHEAMITE# -
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Through the implementation of the above initiative, A FMBRENER  BEINEHEER
employees’ awareness on energy reduction has BIEURS  c ERESHE AEE®
been increased. During the Reporting Period, the ERERERBELOT

Group’s energy consumption performance was an
follow:

Types of energy Unit 2023 2022
REREY Efi 2023% 20224F
Petrol

i

Purchased Electricity
fEE

Total energy consumption kWh 221,709.12 187,230.85
HHER FRBF

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/Employee 2,436.36 1,749.82
HEREE ThE BB

FEEENEERAR 2023EE®R (9
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Water Resource

Water consumption refers to the water usage
in washroom and pantry. The water supply is
provided by property management office. Due to
our geographic office location, there is no issue
in sourcing water. The Group has implemented
initiatives to control water consumption as follows:

° Promote the concept of water consumption
among employees and strengthens the
maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment for water
conservation; and

o Pay attention to the efficient utilization of
water resources, and carries out effective
management from both awareness and
practice perspectives.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water
consumption performance was as follows:

Indicator Unit

BEER Efi

Water consumption m3

IKRE 3T K

Water consumption intensity m3/employee
KERE MHKEE
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Packaging Materials

The Group continuously review and improve its
packaging design and uses sustainable and
recyclable packaging materials as much as possible
to reduce the consumption of packaging materials.

During the Reporting Year, the packaging materials
used was as below:

Packaging Material Unit
BRMH B fi
Plastic film Rolls
BRBEIR 5
Sealing Tap Rolls
HEBR 5

The Environmental and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, its daily
business operations posed no significant adverse
impact on the environment directly. However, the
GHG emissions would aggravate the phenomenon
of global warming. The Group strives to reduce
the negative impact caused by carbon footprint
through various measures mentioned in the sections
“Emissions” and “Use of resources”.

The Group endeavors to comply with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations and has
adopted effective measures to reduce wastage.
Our employees are fully aware that it is important
for the operation of the Group to minimize the
impact on the environment and natural resources.
Our management also closely monitors the utilities
consumption in different offices and encourages
employees to work together to reduce utilities
consumption.

A3.
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A4. Climate Change Ad. FiEEL

The public’s awareness regarding climate change
continues to increase and climate change is
also one of the most frequently discussed topics
internationally. The latest Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC) Sixth Assessment
Report further warns of the severity and urgency
of the climate crisis. The Group understands the
importance of identifying and mitigating major
climate-related issues, pays close attention to the
potential impact of climate change on the Group’s
business and operations, and is committed to
managing potential climate-related risks that may
affect the Group’s business activities. The Group
has incorporated climate change-related risks into
enterprise risk management so as to identify and
mitigate potential risks.

Physical Risk

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as typhoons, storms, torrential
rain, extreme cold or extreme heat, will bring
immediate and long-term physical risks to the
Group’s business. Extreme weather events can
threaten the personal safety of our employees,
as well as damage the Group's properties and
facilities, resulting in direct financial losses.
Although we have not identified significant
immediate climate risks at our Group’s campuses
and offices, we are aware of the need to strengthen
our protection against future extreme climate
risks and emergencies. To minimize potential
risks and hazards, the Group has put in place
countermeasures, including flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures under
severe or extreme weather conditions. We will
explore contingency plans to further avoid damage
to our facilities due to extreme weather events to
improve business stability.
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Transitional Risk

According to our national’s “Dual Carbon” goals,
carbon emissions will strive to achieve a “carbon
peak” by 2030 and endeavor to achieve “carbon
neutrality” by 2060. In line with the achievement
of the carbon neutrality vision, the Group
anticipates that there will be changes in regulation,
technology and market landscape caused by
climate change, including the tightening of national
policies and listing rules and the generation of
environment-related taxes. Stricter environmental
laws and regulations may expose companies to
higher risk of claims and litigation, potentially
incurring additional compliance costs and
impacting the Group’s reputation.

In response to policy, legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group continuously monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends
in climate change to avoid increase in costs,
fines for non-compliance or reputational risks due
to slow responses. In addition, the Group has
been taking comprehensive measures to protect
the environment, including measures aimed at
reducing GHG emissions, and has set targets to
gradually reduce our energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.
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B1.

SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are our valuable assets. We have
developed Employee handbook to govern the
discipline, working hours, leaves and other benefits
of our employees, in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

To attract, motivate and retain experience staffs,
we reviewed their pay packages annually with
prevailing market conditions. Our full-time
employees are entitled to maternity, paternity,
compassionate leaves, medical insurance,
performance related bonus and mandatory
provident fund.

Social and recreational activities are arranged for
the employees in achieving work-life balance. We
apply equal opportunity and non-discrimination in
recruitment, promotion and all other aspects of our
employment practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
employment related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the PRC, and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC.
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As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s employee B E£2023F12A310 - A5 EWEE
size breakdown was as below: AEBEMANT

Total number of employees 91 107
EEHAH

Male 55 58
B
Female 36 49
7 4%

Below 30 16 16
305 AT
30-50 62 78
30E505%
Above 50 13 13
505% M

Hong Kong 21 20
e
PRC 70 87
a2l

Full-time 91 107
£l
Part-time 0 0
e B

FEENRERAR 203F5% 85
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The Group's overall employee turnover rate was REBEEBETRAER3% o
31%.

The table below shows the employee turnover rate TR RZEMER - FERAR K&
by gender, age group and geographical region: ElomEBMAE:

Male 22% 26%
B
Female 44% 14%
z

Below 30 19% 63%
B0 M T
30-50 37% 13%
30E508%
Above 50 15% 14%
50K A L

Hong Kong 14% 35%
B
PRC 36% 17%
1

86 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2023



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

B2. Health and Safety

The Group places a high priority on the health
and safety of its employees as an integral part of
its business management approach. Guided by
a people-oriented principle, we are dedicated to
creating a healthy, safe, and comfortable working
environment for all employees. Our goal is to
identify and eliminate potential workplace health
and safety hazards, implementing comprehensive
safety management practices across all aspects of
our operations.

The Group has achieved zero work-related
fatalities for three consecutive years (including the
Reporting Period). During the Reporting Period,
the Group had not lost any working days due to
work injury. The Group was also not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group include but not limited to the
Occupational Safety and the Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
Law of the PRC.

R HERELGRE
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B3. Development and Training B3. ¥ & R &l

We acknowledge the important of training for the
development of our employees as well as our
Group. We encourage and support our employees
in personal and professional training, through
sponsoring training programs, seminars, workshops
and conferences, peer learning and on-the-job
coaching, as well as reimbursement for external
training courses to enhance their competencies

HMABEIEEEBAEANEE
RAGEZ KB RIFHREE
ETEARBERF) - BREDHE
HE e TESR®E - RE
BBMAEBREZI - AREYIEESHRE
ShEREEBIIERAE - EMIRTH R B RS
HEREA E BRSO MITIIE -
HEGE - EHRERBAMBRE

in performing their jobs effectively and efficiently. BEEEREEGMNBMOL -
We believe this is a mutually beneficial practice for

achieving both personal and corporate goals.

R EHE  AEEERFIKHE
684/ o« TRIIRIZ MR R EER
ERIE DR B I BUR

During the Reporting Period, the Group has
achieved a total training hour of 684 hours. The
table below shows the employee training data by
gender and employee category:

Percentage Average
of employees training hours
trained (%) (hours)
RallfE S16EL I £ 8% ol 6% B
(%) (/NEF)
Male 45.45% 8.8
B
Female 50.00% 5.6
gl
Senior Management 100% 43.8
=RERE
Supervisors 56% 8.1
EF
General Staff 39.34% 4.3
ERET
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During the Reporting Period, we have organized
both internal and external training courses for
employees. Such training courses cover topics
including but not limited to products knowledge
updates, compliance matters, occupational health,
and safety, etc.

Labour Standards

The Group considers child and forces labour
unacceptable and ought to be prevented. The
Group has instituted a comprehensive screening
and recruiting process to prohibit the use of child
labour. HR department shall check all new hirers’
identity card before offering position to them.
Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep
within standard working hours. All employees
are provided with appropriate leave entitlements
including annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave and compassionate
leave etc.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group. Such laws
and regulations include but are not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Labour Law of the PRC.

B4.
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B5. Supply Chain Management B5. tESEE IR

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. Sound
supply chain management ensures the Group to
sustain its business operations and development.
The Company has supplier evaluation system to
select, maintain and appraisal the performance of
suppliers. We have maintained strong relationships
with our suppliers to meet our customer’s needs in
an effective and efficient manner. When selecting
suppliers, the Group takes factors into account
such as quality of products and functionality, price,
reliability, and anticipated market acceptance.
The Group takes zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption and strictly prohibits suppliers from
acquiring procreant contracts through any form of
henbit or gifts given to our employee.

Green Sourcing

The Group is committed to selecting the
environmentally friendly products with competitive
prices and good quality, in order to safeguard
end-users’ health and safety, to prevent pollution
and to efficiently use the natural resources.
The Group requires all departments to take
into account environmental considerations and
search for the products with high recycled
content, with greater durability or with greater
water and energy efficiency. To fulfill the aim of
environmental sustainability in green sourcing,
procurement of eco-friendly products is given
priority where possible and economically viable.
The Group has been closely working with our
suppliers to strengthen our sustainability portfolio
and minimize environmental and social risks
throughout the supply chain and is committed to
promoting sustainable and responsible operational
standards. The Group prefers local suppliers
whenever possible to reduce carbon emissions from
transportation and to support the local economy.

China =8
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B6. Product Responsibility

The Group recognizes good customer service
is the key to the success and sustainability of a
corporation. Suppliers provide warranty on the
products they supply to the Group for distribution of
electronic components. Suppliers are responsible
for providing or procuring the provision of
in-warranty service to the end customers. During
the Reporting Period, no products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
No products or services related complaints were
received. The Group adopts the following quality
control policies on the products to be sold:

e To perform a series of inspections upon the
receipt of the products in our warehouse
regarding, among others, their appearance,
packaging, specification, and brand logo, etc.
on a sampling basis; and

e To report to the supplier if any defects are
identified during quality control examination.
The relevant products will be substantially
returned to the supplier for replacement.

During the Reporting Period, we have not received
any cases of infringement of intellectual property
rights. We are also not aware of any suspected
cases of infringement of intellectual property rights
of the products that we were distributed in 2023.

The Group is also committed to abide by the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Personal data
shall be highly protected. Employees are committed
not to disclose confidential information, including
information related to suppliers and customers
whether orally or in writing or in any other media
which are not publicly known.
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B7.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress that would have
a significant impact on the Group, such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Law of
the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests, the Product Quality Law of the PRC, the
Patent Law of the PRC and the Advertising Law of
the PRC.

Anti-Corruption

Both the Group and its business partners are
committed to upholding the highest ethics
standards. Parties involved in business
interaction shall prohibit every form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement. The Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy and advocates the standards
of fair transaction, advertising and competition and
puts in place a confidentiality mechanism to protect
the identity of suppliers and whistleblowers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any breaches of relevant laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud,
and money laundering. The Group also confirmed
that no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group and the
employees.

Anti-corruption Training

Training related to anti-corruption are rendered
to our management and employees to boost
their awareness on the prevention of any kind of
unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. During the Reporting Period,
all directors have received corporate governance
related training materials for self-study.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Group encourages its employees and other
stakeholders, including customers and suppliers,
to raise concerns about suspected improprieties,
misconduct, or malpractice. A confidential channel
is in place for employees and stakeholders to
Report any suspected incidents.

Following the guidelines outlined in the
Whistleblowing Policy, the Group treats every
Reported incident with utmost confidentiality and
ensures that whistleblowers are protected from
unfair dismissal, victimization, or unwarranted
disciplinary action. Incidents related to fraud and
corruption will be thoroughly investigated.

Community Investment

We encourage our employees to participate in
social and community events and to volunteer for
good causes. We will continue to shoulder the
social responsibility by caring the community,
employees, and the environment in order to build a
cohesive society. The Group’s area of contribution
focused strongly on the local community needs.

B8.
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CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK (IRIE - HERE/AHREESD
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING GUIDE ESEAE]

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE EE -REERMEERES

Section and
Indicators Description Remarks
5E g Ef R
Aspect A.1: General Disclosure Emissions
Emissions Information on:
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
Note:  Air emissions include NOx SOx, and other pollutants regulated under national laws and
regulations.
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
BEAL: R E HER
3, &) FRBRRARERBHN MKk LMES EEREZEENNELS
Hy
(a) BE: R

b) ETFHETAREAYENRBELIZRAN
7 BRHREEAEY  GEEHRAMSAREERAORENSRY -

BERBEE ALK Fix GILER DAKLEY ZALKRNAL

% o

BEBEENEEZEIIREE -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BRENER  HRYEEEBHREE - BER

A1

KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse  Emissions —

gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity ~ GHG Emissions

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRENER BEE@EVRERAZBE)RERBHENEOCIEAE)R R —BERBHEN
At1.2 (MER)EE(WNEESEN  BEREHNE) -
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Aspect A2: Use
of Resources

EBHEA2:
BREH
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Section and
Description Remarks
1 2k Ef R
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions —
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste Management

facility).
BREWEE MELEEBEZEVLECBAEIR(NEREE(WMNEE N —EVER
A1.3 EEN  BERME) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where ~ Emissions —
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per Waste Management
facility).

BRENER MELERZEEVASUIMAR)R(MER)ZE (MABE R —ENER
Al4 BEf - BERMEHHE) -
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
BREMER RAMTUNEREEERAEINELERMEBMANLSE -
A15
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes Emissions —
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and  Waste Management
steps taken to achieve them.
BREMER HIREESRESEEVNAZE RERMITVNRER FHR—BNER
A1.6 BRRENELARMERMOLR -
General Disclosure Use of Resources
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, waste and other raw
materials.

Note: Resources may be used in production, in Storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic
equipment, etc.

—-BRE R A
BRERERBRER KREMRMH)OHE

i BRUBRLE FfF #H EF EFREE-

KPI A21 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Use of Resources —
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. Energy Management
per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRENEE REMAPMNERR/IHEER(NE RIAEREM BRER —RERE

A2.1 FTETREAE)REE(WNEGESEN BEREHNE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of Use of Resources —
production volume, per facility). Water Resource

BRENER BRKEREE(WNEGESEN BBEXMAHE)- ERER —KER

A22
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Section and
Indicators Description Remarks
BE 1 it Ef R
KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps ~ Use of Resources —
taken to achieve them. Energy Management
BRENER HOMTUNERERNRERRAENELARHMERN ERER —#RER
A2.3 T o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water Use of Resources —

that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps  Water Resource
taken to achieve them.

BREVNES HELKRERAKELAIBETARE URATIORKRE BERER —KER

A2.4 ERRAEINELAZHRRNTER -

KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Use of Resources —
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit Use of Packaging
produced. Materials

BRENESR HAmAAEEMANEE UEHE)R(NER)BEEE EREA—FHARE

A25 firf5 & - P

Aspect A3: The  General Disclosure The Environment and
Environment Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and ~ Natural Resources
and Natural natural resources.

Resources

EBHEA3: -REE RERAAEBR
BERXAER HAEETAHRERARERENEAZENRR

KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the The Environment and
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to  Natural Resources
manage them.

BREMER HIXKEIDHRERRAERNEAZERERNERE RERARER

A31 By ENTE -

Aspect A4: General Disclosure Climate Change

Climate Change  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BEA4: —-RiEE RIRE T
RiEE(t BAREHDR RIS EHETAEEY ENERARGEHABSENRE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which Climate Change —
have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and  Physical Risk
the actions taken to manage them. Transition Risk
BREMER HICERIHEHETAEAYENEARREREE ﬂﬁ?k—ﬁg
A4 1 REHTE - B2 - BE R
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Section and
Indicators Description Remarks
BE 1 it Ef R
B. Social
B.#E&
Employment and Labour Practices
BRERZEIES
Aspect B1: General Disclosure Employment and
Employment Information on: Labour Practices
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest Periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
[EMEB1: - E EERSIER
3 EBRHEHLBE BREREAN LERY RE TEHE Zal RER
AREMFBRENA:
(a) HBE: X
(b) EBFHETAREAZENHBZERADNESR -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, Employment and
full-or part-time), age Group and geographical region. Labour Practices
BRENER HHEH EREERWEZ2BIARE) FRAMNIGRIASY BRRSIER
B11 EEREH -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Group and Employment and
geographical region. Labour Practices
BREMER BUEM SFRAFKMEEDNEEREKLE - BRERAEIER
B1.2
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHE EE -REERABERES

Section and
Indicators Description Remarks
BE it Ef R
Aspect B2: General Disclosure Health and Safety
Health and Information on:
Safety (@) The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards.

EEB2: -RBE
RREZZ BRRHEZ2TIERERREREREBENREN:

T
BB
pis
P

(a) BR: R
(b) ETHBRTAREAZENHEBERRAGINES -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of Health and Safety

the past three years including the Reporting year.

BREWES BEZFERAEFFR)SFRICHMARLLER- EEize

B2.1

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BRENEE RFRIGEAIERH- BEEZS
B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety

adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BRENESR HIMRSOBREREEZ2HEE WRABHGTRER) REEZZ

B2.3 & o
Aspect B3: General Disclosure Development and
Development and Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at  Training
Training work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external
courses paid by the employer.

EEB3: — B E ERRE
R R BFRRARERTIERENMARRENEE - HlEIED -

iAo BIEBREE  TEEHEFNENANFRE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training
management).

BRENEE RUEFNREEERN(NSRERE HREBE) I NI BEREI

B3.1 EEBOL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by Development and
gender and employee category. Training

MRENER RUFNREBERRNZS BREEXRXIMNTHRKE . ZFRERREE

B3.2
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g -

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Description

it

General Disclosure

Information on

(@) The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—-REE

BAMLEIXRHSTIH:

(@) B%R: &
(b) BFHETABEAYENHBEELIEZRAMNNESN -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

BREVER HikAARENNERNEEEIREHSI

B4.1

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

BREMER HIEZERERABAREREEBLMERNLR

B4.2

Operating Practices

ZEE
Aspect B5:
Supply Chain
Management
[BmEB5:
HEEEE

General Disclosure

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain.

-RIEE

ERREBNRERMLERARKE -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BRENESR RuRIASMBEHHA -

B5.1

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BRENER HOABERHEERNED mARTAEEMNORERS

B5.2 B AREEATRERTE -

HERELGRE

Section and
Remarks

Ho R

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

CRe L]

Labour Standards

& TR

Supply Chain
Management

HERER
Supply Chain
Management

HrEEER

Supply Chain
Management

e e
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Section and
Indicators Description Remarks
BE 1 b EfiRE=
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Supply Chain
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are Management —
implemented and monitored. Green Sourcing
BMRENESE HIAEHAERNEERSERGNRERMEEARNED N HEREE — 6K
B5.3 REBRTRERERE - |
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, ~ Management —
and how they are implemented and monitored. Green Sourcing
BMREVELRE HATHRBEERRECZARRERRBENEN UKk HEREE —ZE6XK
B5.4 BERTREERE - i
Aspect B6: General Disclosure Product Responsibility
Product Information on:
Responsibility (@) The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provides and
methods of redress.
[EEB6: — R i 58 EmEAR
EmEE A A FTIR B o M AR 7S A 2 R B CBE BRELALBREEURBMAZE
Hy
@@ BE: K
(o) BTFHETABEAFEMNEBZERBAMNMNEH -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Product Responsibility

recalls for safety and health reasons.
BRENER CEICEZRERBATRZZERREMMANKNES EmEE

B6.1 t e

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received  Product Responsibility
and how they are dealt with.

BRENER EEEREmRBEORFAEARESHE - EmEfE

B6.2

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting ~ Product Responsibility
intellectual property rights.

BRENER HOEEERRENZEEEBNED - EmEE

B6.3
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Aspect B7: Anti-
corruption

E®EBT7:
&5

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall

Description
1 it
procedures.
BRENER HiESRTARRERQUEFR -
B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BREWER HOEBEENRERALRBIE ARBBERITRERTE -

B6.5

General Disclosure
Information on:

(@) The policies; and

(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering.

—RE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRMLBR HR - RFERAREN:

(a) HBE: X

(b) BTHETABERX

B/ 4B
4

B7.1 fREV BN R o b &

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BRENESR HIDBBEELREREF UREBRORERNE -

B7.2

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

BREWER HINESREIRHEMRESE -

B7.3

MEBERRROIOER -

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the Reporting Period and the outcomes of the cases.

BREVNES RESHEAYHETAZEEERLICEANESHAR

% o

RIE - HEREARE

Section and
Remarks

Ef R
Product Responsibility

EmEE
Product Responsibility
EmEfE

Anti-corruption

Anti-Corruption

RER
Anti-Corruption
RER
Anti-Corruption

RES
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Indicators
BE
Community
#HE
Aspect B8:

Community
Investment

EEBS:
HERSE

EaRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

TEHR EE -REERARERES

Description

it

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities

where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the

communities interests.

—-RiEE

BN E2EARTREEMEHRRENERERBEDEERLEN SN

BR -

KPI B81 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

BREMER FIEFEBE(WHE REFE LIFK F X

B8.1 BF)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

BREVWES HEIARFIRERWEEAKR)-
B8.2
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

K| MOORE

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Contel Technology Company Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Contel Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 112 to 222, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (*“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auwditor’'s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
AEEZXEIE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R &

FAREEEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EFETECRINAEERAEEZEIE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

E 5 & i 7 5 B AT 1

Refer to the Notes 3, 4, 20 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements

LB GEMBEERMES - 4 - 20%33

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade
receivables with gross amount of approximately
US$17,457,000 while allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables of
approximately US$242,000 was recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2023.

562023¢12ﬂ315v BEEBEHEEH17,457,000
%ﬁﬂ@%’i%ﬁ‘éuﬁz g IEA%Zi2023$12H31E|

LHEEEHFAERE S B 0 B 2 5 I IO A0 7R
%%Eﬂ?ﬁ\@ﬁﬁﬂfmEEEETEJ)%%%Z’]ZQ,OOO%?E °

The ECL assessment on trade receivables is
considered to be a matter of most significance
as it requires the application of significant
judgement and use of subjective assumptions
by the management of the Company. The
management of the Company believed that the
methodologies and inputs used in estimating ECL
are in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards. These models and assumptions
relate to the future macroeconomic conditions
and debtors’ creditworthiness. The Group
adopted judgement, assumptions and estimation
techniques in order to measure ECL according to
the requirements of accounting standards such
as definition of credit impaired financial asset,
parameters for measuring ECL and forward-

looking information.
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Our procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEZFTERRNEF B :

Evaluating the methodologies, inputs and
assumptions adopted by the Group in
calculating the ECL, by reference to the
historical default data and management’s
estimated loss rate and externally available

economic data;
PQEFLENHE EEEMNMGTEERERK
INERRI SRR E IR - Tt ES B EEE

EEBEARA 2k - B R

Obtaining an ageing analysis of the trade
receivables from the management of the
Company and testing the accuracy of ageing
of trade receivables as at the reporting date
to the underlying invoices on a sample basis;
Q ERAIEEENGE S EWIE Y Rk

DN WHEAHE S ERHRIAER RS R
ZﬁEu“EﬁiffH RN ERT:

Challenging the management’s assessment
of the recoverability of long outstanding and
overdue trade receivables;
EREEEHRHAKREERBHAES BN
I8 ) A] 45 [ 14 AT A

Selecting samples considering the
management’'s assessment of the latest
financial conditions of the debtors, based
on historical experience and observable
external data; and

BB BETARIAIBEIIDEIE  EBEAX
%gﬁ%ii%ﬂf@%ﬂ‘%/\%%&ﬂﬂ%ﬂﬁiﬁaﬁﬁﬁ:

Assessing the adequacy of the ECL
recorded by reviewing expected settlements
from customers and any correspondence
with customers about expected settlement
dates.
THERAEMNERNEPFAEUNRETSEHA
%E/Hﬁ%,aEIHHEﬁEﬂFl_IpEﬁ*E’J%EHWZf?)%
BREERRE o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
AEERXEE

A EZEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
EFETECRNAEERAEEZEIE

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

UAARBEFEAREHASANRMES RN B EHEEN AR EEE

Refer to the Notes 3, 4, 18 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements

LBEGFEUBEHRFMES 4 - 18 %33

The Group has an investment in unlisted
equity securities. Such investment in unlisted
equity securities is measured at fair value of
approximately US$4,255,000 as at 31 December
2023.

EEERENIELTERES - R2023F12H31
H ZENFELTHERGEEFIRER QA NEES
£ # /54,255,000 7T °

Fair value of the investment in unlisted equity
securities is estimated by using an income
approach, based on the discounted cash flows
of the estimated profit to be generated by the
unlisted equity securities.

MIELTHERBFZKREZ A REEEBREE
ERELTEGREFELEZGHEANBZRERES

mMEfLE

Significant estimation and judgement are
required by the management of the Company
to determine the fair value of the investment
in unlisted equity securities, such as the key
inputs include discount rate, growth rate and
discount for the lack of marketability and control.
To support management’s estimation of the fair
value, the management of the Company engaged
an independent professional valuer to perform
valuation on such investment as at 31 December
2023.
EERFIMERESIREZANEEFRTE B
NREIEREBERE R LA - mBsE = - 1
RERRZHMSRBUEREGENITESZHARER
ABIE - REHEBEHAABEELMGT - &
NREIR BRI E L H XL ERD HRN2023512 7
BIHZME LT HERBHFZIREEITHE-
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Our procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEZEERRNEFBHE:

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity of the valuer;
o FIEMERNAH  H - BUMERFEM:

e Assessing the methodologies and
assumptions adopted in the valuation for
estimating the fair values of the investment in
unlisted equity securities;

e HERRFNRIELTEEZZSFZRENLDR
BEMETZHEMKRBZ HERRR:

e Challenging the valuer’s key inputs adopted
in the valuation for estimating the fair values
of the investment in unlisted equity securities
and inspecting the underlying documents or
data to support those key inputs;

s ERMEMAMEIFLTEZEFREND
AEBEMETHERKANEZWAZBIE -
g?&ﬁiﬁ%ﬁ%%gﬁﬁ)\ﬁﬂgﬁ’wﬁ%@Y#E}Z

R

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
cash flows projection;
e AFBEEaRENEMERET:

o Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate
the reasonableness of the valuation, when
appropriate; and

e MNEBERKETHZERESN  UFEM[ER
LTAEE &

e  Appointing an auditor’s expert to review the
valuation technique, assumptions and key
inputs for estimating the fair values of the
investment in unlisted equity securities.

s ZUEBIHERBHAREANIELTERES
ZIREN R REBEMETEHEENBERM -
R N A SR -



INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATION FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the corporate information, chairman’s statement,
management discussion and analysis, profile of directors
and senior management, report of the directors and
five-year financial summary (but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’'s report, and the corporate governance
report and environment, social and governance report,
which is expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the corporate governance report and
environment, social and governance report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to audit
committee of the Company and take appropriate action
considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
audit committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the
Company regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the audit committee of the Company
with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit
committee of the Company, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ngai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: P07422

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERmAHEMEZERRR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes Us$'000 Us§ 000
it FET FET
Revenue WA 6 66,316 121,710
Cost of sales HEMA (63,382) (113,314)
Gross profit EH 2,934 8,396
Other income Hi g A 6 193 229
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (2,959) (3,337)
General and administrative expenses —BRITHFAX (5,834) (5,345)
Impairment loss on property, plant and NE BERREHE
equipment BE 14 (102) —
Impairment loss on intangible assets BVEERESRE 15 (98) —
Impairment loss on goodwill HERERR 16 (257) —
Provision for allowance for expected credit ~ EZE YU FEMEHREE
loss on trade receivables  BERGR 20 (242) (465)
Finance costs A& AR 7 (2,284) (1,559)
Loss before income tax RtFiRHAER 8 (8,649) (2,077)
Income tax (expense)/credit MEH(EX),/He 11 (1,100) 493
Loss for the year attributable to FATBEAELEERNER
the owners of the Company (9,749) (1,584)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income E‘Hﬂ%ﬁ(iﬂﬁ)/lﬂlﬁ
ltem that will not be reclassified subsequently K% EHEE TS E#H 72
to profit or loss: BHEMEER
Fair value (I0ss)/gain on investment in equity &A% EES A LM E
instruments at fair value through other Wz 2 Hxﬁlﬁl\ LB
comprehensive income AABEER) /H&E 18 (2,038) 12
ltemn that may be reclassified subsequently to B % & B f&] ] & 1 7 48 2
profit or loss: Baf A -
Exchange differences arising on translation of # %8 NEBHBREZ
financial statements of foreign operations BHER (94) (574)
Other comprehensive loss for the year ~ FATHHAEIEER
attributable to the owners of the Hib2EEHE
Company (2,132) (562)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FATBEANEBLEERZTE
attributable to the owners of the BRAHE
Company (11,881) (2,146)
US cents US cents
EJ/] E]
Loss per share attributable to FATBEANELEBRER
the owners of the Company
Basic and diluted EXREE 12 (0.89) (0.20)
HK cents HK cents
E B
Equivalent to BER (6.88) (1.51)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBRRAR

As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F 1231 H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes Us$’000 us$000
log=3 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREHE
Non-current assets ¥RBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 14 566 811
Intangible assets BYEE 15 3,491 1,831
Goodwill EES 16 — 260
Life insurance policy deposits AEBREES 17 2,734 2,671
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREBEGFAHA
other comprehensive income FERRZEMEE 18 4,255 6,293
Deferred tax assets ERERIEBEEE 27 — 680
11,046 12,546
Current assets RENEE
Inventories T8 19 14,007 20,062
Trade and bills receivables ZZREBHIER
R 1% 20 19,047 24,099
Prepayments, deposits and other BRAFE RERk
receivables H fth & Y ;I8 21 7,148 5,603
Amounts due from related parties JEE 5 78 Bk 5 3K B 31(b) 26 26
Pledged bank deposits BEEABRTER 22 379 902
Cash and cash equivalents BehkReFEEYD 22 2,536 2,343
Tax recoverable o] I B % 18 — 224
43,143 53,259
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bills payables BOENRIER
NS 23 15,491 18,116
Accruals, contract liabilities and other EEBR aHNEER
payables H fth f& 1 5K IE 24 2,791 1,616
Lease liabilities MHEBRE 25 180 381
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EH M fE R 26 12,715 11,106
31,177 31,219
Net current assets REEEFE 11,966 22,040
Total assets less current liabilities EELRERRHERE 23,012 34,586
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBIRRER

As at 31 December 2023 R2023%F 12531 H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes Us$’000 US$°000
B it FEIT FET

Non-current liabilities kRHERE
Lease liabilities HE&B®E 25 — 108
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 27 415 —
415 108
Net assets EEFHE 22,597 34,478

EQUITY 22

Share capital g A 28 1,417 1,417
Reserves E 29 21,180 33,061
Total equity Einas 22,597 34,478

The consolidated financial statements on pages 112  E112FE 222 G A& B R = R 2024FE3
to 222 were approved and authorised for issue by the HocHKEEZ S H /&N IEEF I HIAT
board of directors on 26 March 2024 and are signedon A+ REZBESRE:

its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung Mr. Qing Haodong
HiEkE BERLE
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEmBBER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

FATREARGED
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Statutory
Share Share  comprehensive Other ~ Merger  surplus Translation  Retained
capital  premium income reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total
BRAAREGA
A 2ENERE EERS
R% RGEE  ZSMEE KRB GHERE  ARE BERE  REEH &7
Ussooo  USs000 Ussooo  Ussooo  USS000  USS000  USSU00  USSD00  USS000
FET  FET FET  FET  FET  FET  FET  TEr  TER
(Note 28) (Note 29(i)  (Note 29(ii)) (Note 29(iii)) (Note 29(iv)) (Note 29(y)) (Note 29(vi)
(W#2s) (laogy) (W29 (Waagfiig) (K29iv) (WE29) (K29
At 1 January 2022 1202251418 1032 12793 121 10,076 (7.021) 724 n 16,436 34,332
Loss for the year nER - - - - - - — (1584 (1584)
Fair value gain on BRARBEFALL
investment in equity 2ENAENERIE
instrument at fair RELLEENE
value through other
comprehensive income - - 12 - - - - - 12
Exchange diferences ~ BEBNERHHERE
arising on translation of 2 E X EE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - (b74) - (o74)
Total comprehensive loss EAZ2AFEAE
for the year - - 12 - - - (b74) (1584) (2,146)
Issuance of shares MR REERE TR
upon rights issue i HBRARE
and placing, net of (hi28)
{ransaction costs
(note 28) 385 1907 - - - - - - 2,29
Appropriation fo statutory  BREERHAES
surplus reserve - - - - - 7 - (7 -
At31 December 2022 #2022512A31H 1417 14,700 133 10,076 (7,021) 731 (403) 14845 34,478

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FEEDBHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

AATRFARGED
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Statutory
Share Share  comprehensive Other ~ Merger  surplus Translation  Retained
capital  premium income reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  earnings Total
BAREEA
At2EKERE EERS
B+ kbl  2eMEE RURE AHEE AR KERE  RERW ai
Ussoo - USsv00 Ussooo  Usso00 - USS000 - USS000 - USSU00 - USSD00  USS000
&1 T#1 &1 f#r  TEr  FEn  FEnr TEr FER
(Note 28) (Note 29(i)  (Note 29(if)) (Note 29(iii) (Note 29(iv)) (Note 29(v)) (Note 29(vi))
(Wi2s) (Waog)  (Wa29hiy) (Waogfiig) (Wi29iiv) (WE29) (W29
At 1 January 2023 120231418 1417 14,700 133 10,076 (n021) 731 (403) 14,845 34,478
Loss for the year EnER - - - - - - - (m9)  (Om9)
Fair value loss on BRAABEIALL
investment in equity 2ENAENERIE
instrument at fair REMEERSR
value through other
comprehensive income - - (2,038) - - - - - (2,038)
Exchange diferences ~ BESIERHERR
arising on franglation of ~ ZE X ZE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - (94) - (94)
Total comprehensive loss M2 EEELE
for the year - - (2,038) - - - (94) (9,749)  (11,881)
At31December 2023 20235 12A31H 147 14,700 (1,905 10,076 (n021) 731 (497) 5,096 22,597
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FmERE

N —

/1= =2 £3

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Notes uss’ooo US$'000
1 it FEIT FET
Cash flows from operating activities EZFHFMBHEKEE
Loss before income tax RETPTERAIEE (8,649) (2,077)
Adjustments for: AT EBEELHRE:
Amortisation of intangible assets B EEHH 8 146 64
Amortisation of life insurance policy ABREZSHHE
deposits 8 34 106
Bank interest income |RATH B A 6 (16) (11)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - -BERRBITE
equipment 8 656 582
Finance costs A& AR 7 2,284 1,555
Impairment loss on property, plantand ¥ % - B E K& & &
equipment VEREN Ei=! 14 102 —
Impairment loss on intangible assets BmILEEREEIR 15 98 —
Impairment loss on goodwill EmEREEIE 16 257 —
Imputed interest income on life ASREZSNEE
insurance policy deposits 2 A 6 (104) (74)
Provision for allowance for expected B 5 W RIA N 1 B
credit loss on trade receivables EEBBRBHRE 20 242 465
Rent concessions HeER 6 — (32)
Written-down of inventories BRI ' 8 860 27
Operating cash flows before working LEESEYHMLE
capital changes Heng (4,090) 605
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD/ (M) 5,272 (6,110)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills BHRKKBREREE
receivables (Em),/ Wb (4,733) 10,698
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, BARIE e k&M
deposits and other receivables FEU R IB () /B (1,530) 803
Decrease in trade and bills payables BHENRIER
EREER D (2,720) (5,067)
Increase in accruals, contract liabilities T EMA - AN BB R
and other payables H A FE < 5K IE 5 N 1,140 41
Net cash (used in)/generated from T2 (AR
operations He&%8E (6,661) 970
Income tax refund BREFEH 219 31
Interest paid on bills payables ENEMNRERNE (800) (739)
Net cash (used in)/generated from g EH(FRA)
operating activities FREEZFE (7,242) 262

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes uss’ooo US$'000
lig=3 FEIT FET
Cash flows from investing activities REZTHFABHELKE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME BERZE
equipment 14 (381) (8)
Purchase of intangible assets BEERFEE 15 (409) (431)
Capital expenditure of development costs % & i R & A 3 15 (1,518) (1,476)
Payment of life insurance policy deposits A Z R B X & (% 17 — (1,248)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits EREEFRITER 523 343
Bank interest received EHRITH S 16 11
Net cash used in investing activities REFEFAREEE (1,769) (2,809)
Cash flows from financing activities R&EEFESHMBHEFERE
Proceeds from issuance of shares NS Hx&@ﬂﬁﬁﬁf*ﬁﬂxfﬂ :
upon rights issue and placing, net of MR 5 AR5
transaction costs 28 —_ 2,292
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERPTEHE 34(b) 42,062 35,628
Proceeds from other borrowings H A {5 5K FT 5 5118 34(b) 2,257 —
Repayments of bank borrowings BEBITEK 34(b) (32,560) (39,394)
Repayments of other borrowings EBEEMER 34(b) (318) —
Repayments of lease liabilities principal EEHE8EAE 34(b) (442) (370)
Repayments of lease liabilities interest EERHEAENER 34(b) (16) (24)
Interests paid ERHE 34(b) (1,468) (792)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEERE(FR)
financing activities HeZ# 9,515 (2,660)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand IRE&RIBEZEWEMN
cash equivalents (RD)F8E 504 (5,207)
Cash and cash equivalents at ENReRELEEY
beginning of the year 2,343 7,670
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EX & &)z £ (311) (120)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of EXRELRBFLEEY
the year 22 2,536 2,343
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Corporate information

Contel Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
on 16 August 2016 under the Companies Law of
the Cayman lIslands. The registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s principal place of business is
Unit No. A, 13th Floor, Block 1, Leader Industrial
Centre, N0s.188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong. The shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 July 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries (together with the
Company, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are mainly engaged in the provision of customised
reference designs which are bundled together with
the sale of integrated circuits (“ICs”) and other
electronic components as a package to customers
in both Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”"). The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Ms. Feng Tao, Mr. Lam Keung (“Mr.
Lam”), and Mr. Qing Haodong (“Mr. Qing”).

1.

AEEH
EEEMBEAERIAATRRADRN
20165 8H16H & i = B & 1R & ¥
ERERAIEAMK LA —RER
RERAR - ARBIFMPEER
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands © R ARIH) £ E& ¥
MERBABMALEE LT HE188 —
2025 LR TR O1EIBEBAE o K
NA D PR2019F7H16 R £ & 8 Bt
ERGAERAB (B ER &
M e

ARBRBREERRR - MEEZH
BrrCERARRGHEIAEE])H
T2XBRABBENTEARANE
(FEDNEFPEHAERLLZ2ERS
(EEXEE(CHREEMBEFTH
EELE)-

ARAIZEBRGRIERRAA
P.Grand (BVI) Ltd. ([P. Grand]) * %
BamrHes((ABEBR RS D
MAZERF c REBHZKIZERRER
ABFEZL MELEE(HEED R
AR A (T E]D -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

2.

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which
collective term includes all individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”). Certain comparative figures have been
reclassified in order to conform with current year’s
presentation.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and the investment holding
subsidiary incorporated in the BVI and subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong have their functional
currency in United States Dollar (*US$”), and
subsidiaries established in the PRC have their
functional currency in Renminbi (“RMB”). The
consolidated financial statements have been
presented in US$ as the directors of the Company
consider that it is more appropriate to adopt US$
as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation
currency. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

1 20 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2023
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REMBRRIREBESHHAE
((HFR gt B 2(BEWH
BEEMNKE BB REERD]) -
BREMAERNCEEMHHREER])
(FragstEADKFEGTERD)
NBBUARBEERAGH 2 HER
EHRE - ZRAMBHRRTTABX
Prag s Em R A (KEM R R 2 5@
ARBERTE - ETHREFOEEMN
D ATAAFENZI A -

ARrwgeE B RET(ET])
REBHBRBEESEIMARLNEKE
R B 2R A R E B R A AL
BB ARBAET(ET]) RIEE
B W A BRI R B B R EIA A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Application of new and amendments to
HKFRSs
In the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs, for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(BAGHEIDFEIR (A BU B WS EL)
B RNE2HEETA
Amendments to HKAS 8
(BB ERDESHREFT A
Amendments to HKAS 12

(BB ERDE12HRIBET K
Amendments to HKAS 12
(BB EFERD)FE12FIEFT A

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

2. (RBEE

(a) ERAMITEEMBREEL
REEBITX

w3 E £2023F12A31H I F
EZHRAMBHRERT  AEEE
BRFER T R2023F1 185
ZERIE FE MR ER 2
FE(E BV BRELER DR EE
N

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
WEE & TR

Definition of Accounting Estimates

HEdHanESR

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

HE-CHZEENEERBEREAD
iR RE T 18

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

BIPRM N — B = R B R B

Insurance Contracts

(BRMBHREEIDE 7R (BRE(EEVBREER) RRE L

F175% 2 2020910 A K 20222 A& 5] &)

Except for the below, the application of the
above new and amendments to HKFRSs has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and position for the current and
prior periods and/or the disclosures set out in
theses consolidated financial statements.

B NPt SN - B8 A A &
RIEFCBE AR B HRELR)H K
SEANHICEERREOMBRIER
BR R K /AR A ISR
THREFRIESTEATE -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

2. (RBEE
(a) EERAHFIEEAMBREEL

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of new and amendments to

HKFRSs (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments
for the first time in the current year. HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements is
amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting
policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information
included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because
of the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions,
other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

1 22 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2023

REETR@E

BER(EEE ERI)E1H R
(BEHBRERR)EF L &2
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&

AEEEAFEEREAZEE
IR (BB EFHERDESR
BHRENZHRIEEIER - AIE
ZETHREMIBRHAEIERZ
SRR - c MEHBERE
HEBEMBHRERTOEMER
—HFEER - AAEMERZE
EHEeRE-—RUBHRRNIE
ERERBZFEMHBRERFLD
RE - AIZEFERNBEE -

BT INAREAE - BB AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of new and amendments to

HKFRSs (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is
material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance but has affected the
disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies
set out in this Note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information
that is standardised information, or information
that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered
immaterial accounting policy information and
is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not
to obscure the material accounting policy
information disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

2. (RBEE
(a) ERAFM:TIEEMBREEL

REETEE)

BER(GEEE G ERI)B19 R
(BEMBREER)EF L &2
g/’%%?#:&%fﬁ#*ﬂ?%
&g

(BEAMBREEADEB RS
2HREFIANEZMHEHEITER
NEDMEELERT - UHKHAE
B IEEENLERIE]E
ARG RERE - URHEH
et BRNEREHEY KR
REREE - EHRAEFEMA
el REh -

ZE e AR R YA B
PR R RER T BEARE -
W BB AR AR A BT MR M RS
RAEEEHBRANRE -

RIFEFTFAEMES - BR A
BILEENEAHRER - HE
SERSIBACEBH K REE
ADRENEHRSRR /LTS
RAOESABREN  BHAEER
REMBWMRMETRE - AR
AR A B wR M T EN
EZEABREHNEBTEH -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

2. Basis of preparation (continued) 2. RHEEE
(b) Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but (b) SEMEEKREHRBC(EEM
not yet effective BamEEIMETE
The Group has not early applied the following AEEVEREFERAUATEEM
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued BrRRESZ(EETBRELE
but are not yet effective: BIVERT A -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RUTEHE
ZEMEM
EhtES:

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

(BREHER)FIREBIR BERABEARBIGERBREERESON
(2020%) 2 BB FT

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

(BREEAFIRBIR MERENFRBEE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
(BERBREEIDE6HRETA ERHELNEERRE

Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7
(BRGTERDETH K HEBRELH

(BRBBREEAFTRET X

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability
(BEGRERDEAFBITA Rz A XA

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
(BEHBREEN)E10% K REEBRABEARREELEZHAN
(BB ER)FEBREIT K BEMESIE
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To be determined

~

T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

The directors of the Company expect that the
application of these amendments to HKFRSs
above will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the year of
initial application.

Material accounting policy
information

Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

The financial statements of subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at cost
less any identified impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

2.

REEE

(b) EEMERKEGBCEHRY
BHREERAMETER (B

ARREFRAHER LA(EE
MBREEIETATSHE
RERFENGZEAMBERRE
KRERTZE -

EXEHBEAR

)

ZEREUBRERBIEARF R EN
BRAREE2023F12 A31HILFER
FEHE - MBARIEARAHEER
EXHEEEHENER(BELRS
MER) - EAEEHEQHKEY
SEKHAELRAEZERRKES
R WEEHRREH SFERERE
NS AEEBERETBREER
HEEEMR BN FEZER®
B BDEUAS 2 Il 4 o

ff B A A B B IS R IR A — B AT
RZEARRBERREREHRE
B /88 7 A B 3¢ 48 P AN 52 (B BUAS 12 )
ZHBEHEGAR AUHEEREAR
BEEXREZFHAEZEGIEERRL -

FESEARFIRERS - &8 - A
MEAXIEORGEAEARE 2 BUEE -

/B8 2 B IR B 4R AR AR E ] 2 R
BB B IR AN R B B AR R FI R e
B AR 2 RAEBRANRRIRE WM E
Yo BB o

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH

125



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less provisions for depreciation and impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in
future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the item, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of the item. When
an item of property, plant and equipment is sold,
its cost and accumulated depreciation are removed
from the consolidated financial statements and any
gain or loss resulting from the disposal being the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset is included in profit
or loss.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line
method, based on the estimated economic useful

lives of the individual assets, as follows:

Leasehold improvement

is shorter
MEMEEE
Furniture, fixture and equipment 3 to 10 years
i HEREEB =E+F
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years
T =ERF

Estimated useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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EXEBREH

M- BERRE

ME - BB &K ﬁ&}ﬂzz:&/mﬁ%%é
B MOR E & 1R (I B) 51 AR
WE - BEMRBHENKABSEER

ﬁﬁ/\fﬁﬂivéFLﬁﬁI\@f’EHﬂ(R&

BREBELHMEEREREME
$E’JEHET§E§1£EXK & A1 B R
BRZERXESARERBEHER
R HRNEEN SRR - B
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HEME  BELREERE - KA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Intangible assets other than goodwill and
research and development activities

Intangible assets of customer relationship acquired
in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date, and
software acquired separately and with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired with finite useful lives are reported at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effective of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

3.

EXEBERE#

ME - BERRERE®)

RN E - MENREBEE (B
RAEMEZMAKE D) KT EIEH
H A A e b & T & oK 2R A A
@ ARIETR - REERIEER
EHNBETERINEERRENT
sk BRI EBEEHERS
RBFREHEREEMNER

REEMCEREERNETH

RN E - BMEMREHE (B
RENEZEKBD) KL EXTAH
HEERREER T EERARLKEHE
Mot AR IERER - REERIEHER
FENGABETHERIMN D ELRE
MERKSERDEBEEHNE
PR FEEREREEMNER -

ERFHNERLEEEANARRER
AAEHNTARFREBEEZ® - A
ERFHERNETLEENEIHIZE
HEAEAFRAERERER - &
AR E R E R BEHE T AR S REH

FARRT B Z2HNFERES
HEEAR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill
and research and development activities
(continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

The Group’s intangible assets have finite useful
lives. All intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the following period:-

Software
Customer relationship

o]t
EFRI%

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are
recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred. Costs that are directly attributable to the
development phase are recognised as intangible
assets provided they meet the following recognition
requirements:

(i) demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;

(i) there is an intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(iii) the Group’s ability to use or sell the intangible
asset is demonstrated;

(iv) the intangible asset will generate probable
economic benefits through internal use or sale;

(v) sufficient technical, financial and other
resources are available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset can be reliably measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill
and research and development activities
(continued)

Research and development costs (continued)

The costs capitalised include employee costs
incurred on development along with an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads. The costs of internally
generated product developments are recognised as
intangible assets.

The development costs commence amortisation
once the ICs modules start of mass production. The
method of amortisation would be provided using the
expected value method that the actual number of
unit sold over the expected number of unit sold for
particular ICs which based on the management’s
best estimation.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

When an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than financial assets), the assets recoverable
amount is estimated. An assets recoverable amount
is the higher of the value in use of the asset or
cash-generating unit to which it belongs and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any amortisation), had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such impairment loss is credited to the profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in,
first-out basis and includes all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL’), except that at the date of initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. EXERIBEAR

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value
with gains or losses arising from changes in
financial assets at FVTOCI recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
the fair value reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other
income line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the financial
assets at FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
the financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade and billing
receivables, life insurance policy deposits, deposits
and other receivables, amounts due from related
parties, pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which requires the use of the lifetime
expected losses provision for all trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

When estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls which is the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. EXERIBEAR

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instruments
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

— an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured

at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade and bills receivables, when the amounts
are over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3. EXERIBEAR

3. Material accounting policy

information (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and bills receivables, where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of financial liabilities (other than
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are deducted from
the fair value of the financial liabilities, on initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, accruals and other payables, lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Foreign currency translation

Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the date of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of
a foreign operation. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than US$. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, and
their income and expense items are translated into
US$ at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recorded in other comprehensive income and the
cumulative balance is included in translation reserve
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in translation reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Any goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into US$ at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into US$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised when the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or
service to a customer, as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sale of goods which are bundled
with services

Time of recognition

The Group provides customised reference designs
which are bundled together with the sale of ICs
products and electronic components and delivery
to the customers designated locations as a
package to customers. Sales are recognised when
the control of the ICs products and electronic
components including the bundled services, being
when the ICs products and electronic components
are delivered to the customers, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the ICs products and electronic
components. The Group allows customers to return
the defective products in the range from two weeks
to one month after the delivery. No warranty or sales
rebate is offered to the customers.

Measurement of revenue

Revenue from sales is based on the price specified
in the sales contracts and is shown net of value-
added tax and after eliminating sales within the
Group. No element of financing is deemed present
as the sales are made with a credit term not more
than four months. A receivable is recognised when
the control of the ICs products and electronic
components are delivered to the customers as
this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate the likelihood and
provide for sales return for the goods sold at the
time of sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sale of goods which are bundled
with services (continued)

Contract liability

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services based on the contract
terms. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., delivers the ICs products and electronic
components to the customer).

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

The employees of the subsidiaries within the Group
which operate in the PRC are required to participate
in the central defined contribution pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government.
These PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme as specified by the local municipal
government.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. An
accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee long service payment

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation,
the Group accounts for the employer Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions
from the relevant employees.

The provision for long service payment is provided
based on the employees’ basic salaries and their
respective length of service in accordance with the
applicable rules and regulations in their respective
countries of employment.

Income tax

Income tax represents the sum of current
and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

— when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

— in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets, the Group recognises right-of-use assets at
the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use) at cost.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Material accounting policy
information continueq)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets in property,
plant and equipment, the same line item within
which the corresponding underlying assets would
be presented if they were owned.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group’s exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and interest on lease liabilities. The interest
on lease liabilities is charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liabilities for each period.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant related to expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systemic basis
over the periods that the costs, which is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs that are not directly attributable
to expenditure on qualifying assets are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires the directors of the Company
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

The directors of the Company have considered
the development, selection and disclosure of
the Group’s critical accounting judgements and
estimates.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The policy for the allowance for ECL on trade
receivables of the Group is assessed for trade
debtors with significant balances or collectively
using a provision matrix appropriate groupings.
As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms.
The estimated credit loss rates are estimated
based on historical default rates of the trade
debtors and are adjusted by forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. The allowance for ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. As at 31 December 2023,
the net carrying amount of trade receivables
was approximately US$16,277,000 (2022:
US$20,261,000).
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

4.

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Estimation of accrued purchase rebates

The Group has entered into the ship and debit
arrangements with certain suppliers during the year.
Under the arrangements, the purchases of materials
and goods from these suppliers are initially charged
to the Group at their standard prices and then
rebates are given by these suppliers to the Group
after the materials have been sold to the Group’s
customers. The rebate rates vary depending on
the scale and sold volume of customers. At the
reporting dates, the costs of inventories purchased
under the ship and debit arrangements are required
to be reassessed and adjusted for the estimated
likely rebates. A considerable amount of judgement
and estimates is required in determining the
appropriate amount to accrue for the purchase
rebates and the net of such rebate cost of
inventories. If conditions which have an impact on
the purchase rebates differ from those assessed
previously, further changes to the carrying value of
inventories may be required. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of accrued purchase
rebate was approximately US$2,921,000 (2022:
US$2,511,000).

Allowance for inventories

Management carries out inventory review
periodically, at least at the end of each reporting
period and makes write-down for obsolete items. A
considerable amount of judgement and estimates
is required in determining such write-down. If
conditions which have an impact on the net
realisable value of inventories deteriorate, additional
write-down may be required. Management reviews
the inventory ageing analysis at the end of reporting
period and identifies for slow-moving inventory that
are no longer suitable for consumption and saleable.
Management estimates the net realisable value for
such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice
price less the costs necessary to make the sale and
current market conditions. When there is an increase
in net realisable value, the amount of written-
down will be reversed to the extent of written-down
previously recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately US$14,007,000 (2022:
US$20,062,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Provision for income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. Significant judgement
is required in determining the tax liabilities to be
recognised. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises provisions for
tax based on estimates of the taxes that are likely to
become due. The Group believes that its provision
for tax is adequate for each of financial year based
on its assessment of many factors including past
experience and interpretations of tax law. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Unlisted equity investments measured at FVTOCI
were revalued by the directors of the Company
by reference to the valuation performed by
independent professional valuer. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has used a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised
its judgment and is satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. If there are changes in the assumptions
used for the valuation, the fair value of the unlisted
equity investments will change. As at 31 December
2023, the carrying amount of the unlisted equity
investments was approximately US$4,255,000
(2022: US$6,293,000). Details of information about
the valuation were disclosed in note 33.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

4. EXEEHHET R

4. Significant accounting judgements

and estimates (continued)
Estimates and assumptions (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets and goodwill

The management determines the impairment loss
if circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
the CGUs may not be recoverable. The carrying
amounts of CGUs are reviewed when there are any
indicators of impairment. The recoverable amounts
are the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use.

The assessment of the value in use model is
inherently subjective as it involves the exercise of
significant management judgement and estimation,
especially in determining future revenue, future
operating expenses and the discount rate applied.

In determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to
their present value, which requires significant
judgement relating to level of future revenue, future
operating expenses and discount rate applied.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and financial budgets approved by
the management of the Group. As at 31 December
2023, the net carrying amount of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
were US$ Nil (2022: US$260,000), US$566,000
(2022: US$811,000) and US$3,491,000 (2022:
US$1,831,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates (continued)

Estimates and assumptions (Continued)

Estimated useful lives and impairment of
development costs

Development costs under intangible assets are
stated at costs less accumulated amortisation
and impairment, if any. As aforementioned in
note 3, development costs are amortised using
the expected value method based on the actual
number of unit sold over the expected number of
unit sold for particular ICs. The management of the
Company reviews the estimated useful lives of the
development costs regularly in order to determine
the amount of amortisation to be recorded during
each reporting period. The determination of useful
lives is based on the Group’s historical experience
with similar assets. The amortisation for future
periods is adjusted if there are material changes
from previous estimates.

In determining whether the development costs
are impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment
and make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which
are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

5.

Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported to
the executive directors of the Company for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group'’s
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major operations.

An operating segment is a component of the Group
that is engaged in business activities from which the
Group may earn revenue and incur expenses, and
is identified on the basis of the internal management
reporting information that is provided to and
regularly reviewed by the executive directors of the
Company in order to allocate resources and assess
performance of the segment. During the year, the
executive directors of the Company received and
reviewed information on the performance of the
Group as a whole. Accordingly, it is determined that
the Group has only one single operating segment,
which is determined as sale of ICs products and
electronic components including bundled services,
for the purpose of allocating resources and
assessing performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Segment information (continued) 5. FEB&EFE )
The Company is an investment holding company AAA R —REREZERAAT  AEE
and the principal place of the Group’s operation WEELEMERBAERFTE - 3R
is in Hong Kong and the PRC. For the purpose BAEBMBEMELR)FEBHRKLED
of geographical segment information disclosures HImEWEBESLERMS  AEE
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, the Group REEREREHM - NEEMAKRE
regarded Hong Kong as its place of domicile. All INRE P HIW A AL E W B R AP
the Group’s revenue from external customers is M REEZS  MAKEIERBE
presented based on the location of the operating EMTBEASRERS KRAAE
subsidiaries and the Group’s non-current assets B AHEHMEARENEREE R
(excluding life insurance policy deposits, financial RIETIHE E) B A E E e it 25
assets at FVTOCI| and deferred tax assets) is U
presented based on the location of assets as
follows:
2023 2022
20234 20224
Uss’o000 US$'000
FEIT FET
Year ended 31 December BE12A31BLLEE
Revenue from contracts with EX—RHEHERA
customers within the scope (BB BHEER)
of HKFRS 15 recognised FISRBEARP
at a point in time A HWA
Hong Kong BB 46,505 85,749
The PRC R 19,811 35,961
66,316 121,710
At 31 December ®12A318H
Non-current assets EMBEE
Hong Kong BB 2,246 1,622
The PRC s 1,811 1,280
4,057 2,902
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

5. Segment information (continueq) 5.

Revenue from customers which individually
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the year is as follows:

D ERE E (2

RER  HAREBELI A10%A E 8
EREFKAMT:

2023 2022

20234 20224

Uss’00o US$'000

FETT FET

Customer A BEA 15,203 21,289
Customer B =FB 7,500 23,086

During the year, the Group generated revenue
primarily from the sale of five categories of ICs
products and electronic components, comprising
for: (i) mobile devices and smart charging; (ii)
motor control; (iii) sensor and automation; (iv)
light-emitting diode (“LED”) lighting; and (v) radio

RER  REBHNRATEREHEE
THRBICERKETFTHE B
WVBEEBEREETE: ()BT
Bl (i) BB R B B IS (iv) Bt
— 1% %E ([LED)) BRAF : R (v)57 48 ([RF])
BR - TREFIVIZERERNESRE

frequency (“RF”) power. The following table sets out —RFEEROU AR :
the breakdown of the revenue recognised at a point
in time by product category:
2023 2022
2023 2022%F
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Sales of IC products and electronic $H&ICE @ & EFLiF:
components: —
Mobile devices and smart charging B &#RENMEETE 32,271 67,947
Motor control B AT 26,612 40,149
Sensor and automation ErRERaEES 5,110 9,670
LED lighting LED BB BH 1,146 2,633
RF power 5 48 B R 1,177 1,311
66,316 121,710
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Revenue and other income 6. WARHEMBE A
Revenue from the Group’s principal activities, AEEXZEZEBIZHHPATRANR
which is also the Group’s turnover, represents the EEMNEER)EHEICERRET
income from sale of ICs products and electronic THEREXNTEPIERE —FH
components including the bundled services BHROWAXIRSE) AFHRA R
delivered to the customers and recognised at a FRABROBAREMBADT:
point in time. Revenue and other income recognised
during the year are as follows:
2023 2022
20235 20224
uss’ooo USs$'000
FE T FETT
Revenue from contract with (BEEHMBHREEL)
customers within the scope of BI5HEBEREEEH
HKFRS 15, types of goods or WA - &3 RS R
services
Sale of ICs products and HEICEmMEFTH
electronic components 66,316 121,710

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sale of ICs
products and electronic components including the
bundled services such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

AEEEHCE BT REER)F5
FERIBTHNERSRE S ABAR
HICERMAREFLHHEE(BEMWM
AR Bt A ERTBEE A%
BN ERNBEASH—FHIATH
MHEBROBTHBERESHOEA
MEREER -

2023 2022
20234 20224
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Other income HMilgA

Bank interest income |ITH B A 16 11
Government grants (note (a)) BT 47 Bh (K7 32 (a) 52 92

Imputed interest income on life ASBREERSHEET S
insurance policy deposits WA 104 74
Rent concessions (note (b)) MEER (A FZ b)) — 32
Others H A 21 20
193 229
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

6. Revenue and other income (continued) 6. WARHEMILN 2

Notes: Bt -

(a) For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
government grants included the subsidy granted by the
PRC government for encouragement to local business
activities.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount also
included the government grants which received in respect
of subsidy for staff costs according to the Employment
Support Scheme, which was launched by The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, which
aimed to provide time limited financial support to the
Group for the period from May to July 2022 to retain
employees who might otherwise redundant.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies
attached to these subsidies at the end of the reporting
period.

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount
represented rent concessions from the landlord in relation
to the COVID-19 pandemic in April to May 2022. The
concession did not constitute to the lease modification by
applying the practical expedient that met the conditions in
paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16.

7. Finance costs

(a)

(b)

HE2023F N 2022F12 A31H IEFE -
B ESBEERPRRARTHERR
LAS B 5 M EEN R B -

HZE2022F12A31BILFE &5
BIEREE B R17 R BUT L AR
HEFLBEPE IR AHEME K
BRIT AL - RELEET 85 £ R 202245
ARE7AMAAEERHEERRE S
TERUNEBREWHREZES -

RIERRAR - %5 BN S RER
B EMRABER -

HZE2022F12A31HILFE » &8 T
ZER2022F 4 A =5 E Covid-19%& 15
EEMEITNHELER - HEERFTE
(BB BHREER)FE165 F46BEF
MIEHNEBSEEFNER BN EK
FMEBE -

R & R &

2023 2022

20234 20224

uss$’ooo USs$’'000

FEIT FET

Interest on bills payables FEfT TR F B 800 739
Interest on discounted bills BB EBRA A 70 40
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEHNE 16 24
Interest on bank borrowings AT KA B 596 337
Interest on other borrowings H 8 R & 802 415
2,284 1,555
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Loss before income tax

Loss before income tax is arrived

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 12931 H 1F F /&
8. KRETFiBHiaiEsIE
RETFTSHATB B LR AT & IEE

at after charging:

EhiE
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes uss’ooo USs$'000
B it FETT FET
Auditor’s remuneration % B0 AN B &
— Audit services — BEZR® 114 114
— Non-audit services — EEZRB 23 31
Amortisation of intangible assets ## 2 & = # 4 15 146 64
Amortisation of life insurance AEREZSHIE
policy deposits 34 106
Cost of inventories recognised R AR X 2FEKA
as expenses 62,148 112,111
Depreciation of property, plant ¥ % - BE & R EITE
and equipment 14 656 582
Employee benefit expenses 1B B &7 F
(including directors’ (BEESHH)
remuneration) (note (i) (1 72 31)
— Salaries, allowances and — e ERIEL
bonus 3,707 4,297
— Pension scheme — RAREFEIHK
contributions — defined — RTEMHKETE
contribution plan (note (i) (B & (i) 441 482
Expenses relating to the FRARBEECHX
short-term leases 14 36 13
Exchange loss, net RN R = DL 620 547
Research expenses included in st A &K A2
cost of sales it & & A 18 38
Written-down of inventories WORETASEER AN 2
included in cost of sales FE 19 860 27
Notes: B it -

(i During the year ended 31 December 2023, employee
benefit expenses (including directors’ remuneration) of
approximately US$1,761,000 and US$2,387,000 (2022:
US$2,192,000 and US$2,587,000) were included in selling
and distribution expenses and general and administrative

expenses respectively.

(i)  As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
retirement benefit schemes in future years (2022: Nil).

(i)

(if)

RE £22023F12A31HIEFE - E B
& A B XX (B 48 & 5 % Bi) 491,761,000
¥ 7T 122,387,000 L H Bl st A & &
DEEFAX KM &1 X (20224 :
2,192,000 7T % 2,587,000%k 7T ) °

MR2023F12 A31H » REBE I &8Ik
fE FRAT BB DAL D B R R R R R AR A
st &8 Tk (20224 ) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management

(a) Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration paid or payable by the Company
or its subsidiaries undertakings to the directors
of the Company during the year, disclosed

9.

REREERE

(a) = IE oM
REA - BEBEEALTHRAUIES
B RRHEN I B 2 AR R E W
BARIMARAREECN T K EN

EEHMN LEaREHRES

pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and B 85T
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is set out
below:
Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances bonuses contributions Total
Be
g HEREE BEtd HEHR ait
Uss000 Uss000 Uss000 Uss000 Uss000
FE£7 FET FET FE£7 FET
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ20235 128310 L EE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Lam WEE 15 355 105 14 489
Mr. Qing Bxs 15 137 80 21 253
Mr. Mai Lu RERE 15 87 161 21 284
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik gFELL 15 233 29 9 286
Sub-total NG 60 812 375 65 1,312
Independent non-executive directors: B FH7TEE:
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond BEELE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Lai Man Shun REREE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan fnote (i) BREREWH)) 8 - - - 8
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth BEELEW )
(note (i) 8 - - - 8
Sub-total It 46 - - - 46
Total B3 106 812 375 65 1,358
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

°0. EEHWN - AEREHES

9. Directors’ remuneration, five

highest paid employees and senior EERERE
management (continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) () EEHM)
Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances bonuses  contributions Total
e HekEk  BERL  HIHEX ait
US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000
T T TEn i i
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE02F1281BLER
Executive directors; HITEE:
Mr. Lam wEE — 403 2 15 450
Mr. Qing Bis - 216 21 18 255
Mr. Mai Lu RELE - 89 21 18 128
Ms. Cheng Yu Pk Breqt 15 191 51 10 267
Sub-total It 15 899 125 61 1,100
Indlependent non-executive directors:  BUFH/TEE
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond BRELE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Wong Kwun Ho (nota (i) ER LW i) 1 - - - 1
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan fnote (i) RREXEWA)) 13 — — — 13
Mr. Lai Man Shun RERLE 15 - - - 15
Sub-total I 44 — — — 44
Tota &if 59 899 125 b1 1,144

The executive directors’ remuneration shown
above were for their services in connection with
the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group while the independent non-
executive directors’ remuneration shown above
were for their services as directors of the
Company.

No any of the directors has waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the year (2022;
Nil).

FHRATEENMEIORERAK
RAIRANEEEEEHORS -
MEABIFRITEETONE
DEERARRAEZTNRY

RERN BEEEREXREN
Z A B2 (20224 : #&)

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9.

highest paid employees and senior
management (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

During the year, no remuneration was paid by
the Group to the directors as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

Notes:

(i) Mr. Chan Ngai Fan was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 2 March
2022 and resigned on 30 June 2023.

(i) Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth was appointed as
an independent non-executive director on 30 June
2023.

(i) Mr. Wong Kwun Ho resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 24 January 2022.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were
the highest in the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 included 4 (2022: 3)
directors, whose remunerations were reflected
in the analysis shown in the note (a) above.
The remuneration paid and payable to the
remaining 1 (2022: 2) highest paid individuals
during the year is as follows:

EEHN AE2EREHES
EEREERE

(a)

(b)

EEHME

RER  REBEBEREE N
B4 EAHRSMARNER S INA
REBRBHBE @ EABERE
€ (20224 : ) o

Wit -

() FREELEN2022F3A2BEE
EARBIIENITES © W H2023
F£6HAB0R BT -

(i) PREEREN2023F6A30HES
TRBUIENTES -

(i) BEEREAER2022F1H24HEH T
BUERITESF -

hamEHMAL

HZE2023F12A31HILFE © &
EEMERENREZALTEES
H(2022F :3R)EF - HM 2
HRWE@F RO H - B
FN o OEME 15 (2022F : 2
Z)EBHFMALHESHOT

2023 2022

20234 20224

Us$’000 US$°'000

FEIT FET

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 387 570
Pension scheme contributions R k& =t 2 & 2 8
389 578
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The number of the highest paid employees who
are not the directors whose remuneration fell
within the following bands is as follows:

9.

EEHN AE2EREHES
EEREERE

(b) AEmEFHFMALE

AR A E TR AN B8 &
SHHES (LIHFEF)NEE :

Number of the individuals

AE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 8 L &
(equivalent to approximately 1,500,0007% 7T
US$129,001 to US$194,000) (#)% H129,001F T =
194,000 JT) — 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 8 L &
(equivalent to approximately 3,500,000 7T (4 F 5
US$387,001 to US$452,000) 387,0013E JT £452,000
xETT) 1 1
1 2

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
no remuneration was paid by the Group to
any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office (2022: Nil).

HZE2023F12A31BILFE * K
EEYERTHNRAR RS 3 O
AT HEAIERIMAREED
FEMs i AN E B EE K
B B 4 (8 (20224F : 4E) o

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )
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10. B K5 2

10. Retirement schemes

Defined contribution retirement plans

Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance regulated by the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority in Hong Kong, the
Group participates in a MPF Scheme operated
by an approved trustee in Hong Kong and makes
contributions for its eligible employees. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income. The cap of
monthly relevant income is HK$30,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$4,000) (2022: HK$30,000
(equivalent to approximately US$4,000)) during the
year. Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefits scheme being operated by the local PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of the average
basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amount of employer’s contribution made
by the Group of approximately US$441,000 (2022:
US$482,000).
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i stE  WAHAEWKETH#
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HEZBRREEBB A BKS%MEGT
S BUASABEBEABRALER -
FAMZABEBAEBE LR A30000
7B 7T (FEE P 474,0003 7T)(20224F -
30,0007 7T (FH & 12 494,000% 7T)) ©
SERERAEBEE -

AEBETENHNBARNEERT
By M EENBREE RIS
FMEEIAE - BARARFHE
ARTEME B2 RER KSR G S
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(20224 : 482,000E 7T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

10. Retirement schemes (continued)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to
long service payments in accordance with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy,
that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above,
or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable
is determined with reference to the employee’s
final salary (capped at HK$22,500 (equivalent
to approximately US$3,000)) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000
(equivalent to approximately US$50,000) per
employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its
LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the
Amendment Ordinance, which will eventually
abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce
its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by
drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently
announced that the Amendment Ordinance
will come into effect from the Transition Date.
Separately, the Government is also expected to
introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers
after the abolition.

10. BKETHEI )

SR RGBT Bl ()

BE(EEBREGN) EETFTHBR
T BESXEEISAFHNEEES
EHENERERSEE - BRABEE &
BERBRETETAKFEEUINERERA
AR (R ;| B1E655% 8k LA - P B B
HEENRBREANATHEY  Bim
BTIHBEZ REREEHEER
ZREENZEFHF (LR A22,500%
TT(FEER 43,000 7T)) M RIEFE
BT WAL E M ETE S8 H
RFIEEMNRERT  BEZEEN
B - [R A390,000% ;T (M8 & R4
50,000%7c) > BRI A& E W AT
MEBHESLTH  UWEBETHERHR

2022%F6H r IS E W T EEE]
BH) =EEREEAIRAEESE
S REMEHRPNRNTTEBE
ENEHRESNETHET - BT
HEgESMEBIEAERAER®RE
Boo AN - BUN N2 fEsR FE & 5T EIEL
SHEBELEBTE - UiBBIEE -
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10. BKETHEI )

10. Retirement schemes (continued)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP
in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s
employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above
accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the
employee's service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment
Ordinance cause immaterial impacts to the Group’s
LSP liability with respect to Hong Kong employees.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
there is no significant actuarial assumption for
determination of the LSP obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

11. Income tax expense/(credit)

N FRBREX% (ER)

2023 2022
20234 20224
uss’ooo US$'000
FEIT FZET
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBEMNEB
— Over-provision in prior years — BEFEHEERE — (8)
The PRC Corporate Income Tax RE RS
(“CIT") ([ EMEH]D
— Current year — KFEE — 105
— Under-provision in prior years — BAFEREIR 3 4
3 101
Deferred tax (note 27) BRI (KT 2227) 1,097 (594)
1,100 (493)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdiction in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any
income tax under these jurisdictions during the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000) of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%
(2022: 8.25%), and profits above HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000) will be
taxed at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%). The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) during the year.

AREEEREREERELBLRE
ANEB KB AR & EE M ERDA
BENZMNEANTER -

BERAEHELEABERIEEDN
HAI AR - REIE2023F12H31H
IFFE AEBDBERNZSR FER
BN T 15 B (20224F - %) ©

BRESEMAFSHENGE &
BEREBEEMNE2000,000% T (M
& 1 49258,000%% T ) I #8 1%8.25%
(20224 : 8.25%) WU T B - Wi
#%2,000,0007% JT (48 & M #49258,000
E J0) B A OB 8 1#216.5% (20224 -
16.5%) B R BHE - T A MAEF
BRENHEERNEBEERENF
g 4 B 7 F N 1216.5% (20224 ¢
16.5%) F) & — B R -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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N FIEHEXZ R

11. Income tax expense/(credit) (continued)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25%
(2022: 8.25%) of the first HK$2,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$258,000) of the estimated
assessable profits and at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%)
on the estimated profits above HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000), taking
into account the tax concession granted by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region during the year.

The provision for the PRC CIT was based on the
statutory rate of 25% (2022: 25%) of the assessable
profits of subsidiaries which carried on businesses
in the PRC during the year. Pursuant to relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC, a PRC subsidiary
of the Company is qualified as a small and micro
enterprise and its assessable profit was below
RMB1,000,000, the PRC subsidiary entitled to the
tax effective rate of 2.5% (2022: 2.5%) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

11. Income tax expense/(credit) (continued) ". RAEHEX (ER) e

A reconciliation of the income tax expenses/
(credit) applicable to loss before income tax at the
applicable tax rates to income tax expense/(credit)
at the effective tax rate is as follows:

1% 58 B R G R R &P 1S B AT B
BERMEHRAX (KR BRE
RRERAENAFHRMAX (ER) N
HERMT

2023 2022
20234 2022%F
uss’ooo US$000
FETT FET
Loss before income tax RETFT 15 R AT E 18 (8,649) (2,077)
Tax at domestic rate of respective & & B rIAERE B
jurisdiction At B R B (1,613) (259)
Tax effect of non-taxable income RHBWANR G2 (19) (15)
Tax effect of non-deductible TAIMBRAIOE BT E
expenses 59 50
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses KRR B EIENR KT E 2,293 93
Tax effect of temporary differences AR LK EZBNHRE 2 &
not recognised 377 (358)
Under/(over)-provision of tax in prior @A FEHRBEE L
years, net (HBEEEE) 558 3 (4)
Income tax expense/(credit) IS8R (E5) 1,100 (493)

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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12. Loss per share 12.

The calculation of the basic loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

BiRE1E

ARREAEABREEBREXRERZT
SIB BT E

2023 2022
20234 20224
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Loss for the year attributable to the FLEREANEEm T AQF
owners of the Company for the HEHEANERFEFRNEE
purpose of basic loss per share (9,749) (1,584)

Number of shares

% & 88
2023 2022
2023 2023%F
‘000 ‘000
FiR FR
Weighted average number of HEREXREEMNS TRAK
ordinary shares for the purpose AN 19 B
of basic loss per share 1,098,122 811,688

Diluted loss per share were the same as the basic
loss per share as there were no dilutive potential
shares outstanding during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

13. Dividends

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year, nor
has any dividend been proposed since the end of
the reporting period (2022: Nil).
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FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

14. 9% BERRE

14. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture, Right-of-use
Leasehold fixture and Motor assets
improvement equipment vehicles (note) Total
i RER fERELE
HENERE i RE (M zE) it
Uss000 Usso00 Ussoo0 Uss000 Usso00
F£T F£7 F£T FET F£7
Cost BE
At 1 January 2022 202051418 120 674 295 1,002 2,091
Additions hE - 8 - 513 521
Derecognition of expired leases BIEBACEREE - - - (544) (544)
Written-off i - ) (90) - (98)
Exchange realignment ERAE 9) (20) - (4) (103)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022E12A318 R
1 January 2023 2023%1A18 1M 654 205 897 1,867
Additions RE 365 16 - 140 521
Derecognition of expired leases RIERACEREE - - - (221) (221)
Exchange realignment ERRE ) (6) - (15) (29)
At 31 December 2023 1%2023%12A318 474 664 205 801 2,144
Accumulated depreciation and RHFERAE
impairment losses BR
At 1 January 2022 202251 A18 120 290 178 585 1,173
Charge for the year (nofe §) Enxmize 1 113 61 407 582
Derecognition of expired leases RIEEACEREE - — - (544) (544)
Written-off i - 8) (90) - (98)
Fxchange realignment ERAE (10) 9) - (38) (57)
At 31 December 2022 and R2022E12A318
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 1l 386 149 410 1,056
Charge for the year (nofe 6) Engitiie) 62 108 50 436 656
Derecognition of expired leases RIERICEREE - - - (221) (221)
Impairment (note 76) REW716) 46 27 1 28 102
Exchange realignment R AT 2 ) - 9) (15)
At 31 December 2023 120235128318 217 517 200 644 15578
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 202312318 257 147 5 157 566
At 31 December 2022 #2022 124318 - 268 56 487 81

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

14. Property, plant and equipment
(continued)
Note:

For both years, the Group leased various offices and
warehouses for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into
for fixed term of 2 to 3 years (2022: 2 years to 3 years). Lease
terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements
do not impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessors. Leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. None
of the leases have extension or termination option as at 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

14. ¥ -BERRE @

Byt

RAEEE AEEHEETHAERAERE
ELBRR  HEAYNNETFHA2FE3F
(20224 : 2FF Z=34F) o 10 & HR 3% (@ B & £ %
AkBEEZETEGR &GN  -BREE AR
EHEEEMHEREDSN HERITEN
MmEMRE HEEENESAEMERIER -
R2023F12A31H - MEREHELEH KK
IHiREHE (20225 &) -

Amounts included in the consolidated statements of GEREeRnEXRTEBEEENEESE
cash flows comprises the following: N
2023 2022
20234 20224
Uss’000 USs$'000
FEIT FET
Within financing cash flow MEHREREAN
— fixed payments — B E &K 458 394
Within operation cash flow KREREMREN
— expenses relating to short-term — AR HEENH X
leases (note 8) (K1 it8) 36 13
Total cash outflow for leases MEZREMHBAE 494 407

The Company leases office premises under
non-cancellable operating lease agreement. The
lease term is one year The agreement does not
include an extension option.

The details of impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 16.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

FEVBHRRME

15. Intangible assets BREE
Customer Development
relationship costs
(note a) Software (note b) Total
EER ETT *
(M zta) LS (M &Eb) 83
Us$'000 Uss000 Uss$000 Uss000
FET FET FET FET

Cost %

1 January 2022 1202241 A18 300 18 - 318
Additions nNE - 431 1,476 1,907
Exchange realignment E 7 58 & - - (32) (32)
At 31 December 2022 and 2022512318

1 January 2023 R&2023F1A1H 300 449 1,444 2,193
AddlthﬂS //J\\E - 409 1,518 1,927
Exchange realignment R R — — (23) (23)
At 31 December 2023 12023F12A318 300 858 2,939 4,097
Accumulated amortisation and B 3t # 8 &

impairment losses BEGR
At 1 January 2022 202251 A1A 294 4 — 298
Charge for the year (note 8) ERZTH M7 3 61 — 64
At 31 December 2022 and R2022F12 A31A R

1 January 2023 2023@1)%1‘5 297 65 — 362
Charge for the year (note 8) ERT WM 78 3 143 — 146
Impairment (note 16) REH#16) — 98 — 98
At 31 December 2023 12023124318 300 306 - 606
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 1?2023 124318 - 552 2,939 3,491
At 31 December 2022 120225124318 3 384 1,444 1,831
Notes: Wi at -

(@) The customer relationship has finite useful lives in the (a) LFHEPBEENEMERBARBIETF
range from 4 to 7 years (2022: 4 to 7 years) and are (2022F : AZTH) HEBEHE -
amortised on a straight-line basis.

The useful lives of the customer relationship under FESEY T S s F AR AT (EY]
intangible assets arising from the business combination T ) ‘Liﬁi?ﬁﬁﬁl%?&ﬁqﬁﬁﬁ@i
of Shenzhen IH Technology Company Limited (“Shenzhen (TEBEEDEKERIEETFERE AT
IH”), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Company ([RKEFRIE ) MEBAHELENEEZE
Limited (“Shanghai IH”) and Chengdu Flying Electronics EETTHEPHEENTRESHEHBEE
Limited (“Chengdu Flyring”) was determined by the BRI DRI IEEF  7THERAFEF - B3
independent valuer at 5 years, 7 years and 4 years FEHEAMEABTLERE & 69K EF
respectively. It was taken into consideration that the mREREERREEEERERER
o 2

economic benefits expected to be generated from the use
of the customer relationship would diminish over time due
to attrition and time value of money.

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH

177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

15. Intangible assets (continued)

Notes. (continued)

15. BIEEE ()

B et (&)

(b) Development costs are the capitalised staff costs which (b) FHERMABENMCEIRA BEERE

are directly attributable to the development phase for
customising certain ICs modules before production.
The development costs are amortised when the mass
production of products start. No amortisation was

recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 as

no mass production of products start.

The details of impairment loss of intangible assets

RE A ERTE R EE TICKE S AR 2%
BoREKNTIRELHRBEEREE -
H ZE2023F12A31H It FE © HEER
it AAVEMERBELEER -

EHENEEREBRZHFBIAN

are set out in note 16. I EE16 ©
16. Goodwill 16. B &
uss’ooo
FET

Cost &
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 286
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B (26)
At 31 December 2022 and MR2022F 12 A31H &

1 January 2023 2023%F1H1H 260
Exchange realignment M H, 58 & (5)
At 31 December 2023 #2023%F12A31H 255
Accumulated impairment losses RitBEEE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 R2022F1A1H « 2022412 A31H

and 1 January 2023 & 2023F1H1H —
Impairment Ve RED 257
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B (2)
At 31 December 2023 $2023%F12A31H 255
Net carrying amount MRmEFE
At 31 December 2023 $2023%F12A31H —
At 31 December 2022 MR2022F12 431H 260
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

16. Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill was arising from the acquisition of
Shenzhen IH on 16 November 2016. For the
purpose of impairment testing on goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets to the
operating performance of Shenzhen IH.

When performing impairment review on goodwill
and other non-financial assets, the recoverable
amount had been determined based on a value-
in-use calculation. These calculations use cash
flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by the management of the Company
covering a five-year period. The pre-tax discount
rates used of 7.00% (2022: 7.57%) was adopted.
The management of the Company determined the
budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margin
based on past performance and its expectations
for the market development. The cash flows beyond
five years have been extrapolated using a steady
3.00% (2022: 3.00%) per annum growth rate.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use
calculations of the operating subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which the
management of the Company has based its cash
flows projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill: —

Business growth rate — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted sales during the
five-year projection period is the sales growth rate
achieved in the prior year immediately before the
budget year.

Pre-tax discount rates — The pre-tax discount rates
used are before income tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant units.

16. B & (&)

Pnﬁ%%%éEézom@ﬁmaMﬁzﬁ%iﬂH
cEMEE  WE - BMELRME

LA&EH/,éS?ﬁ SR

BRFEETREIR -

HHmErMHEMIEEREEHEITRE
WA AT E S EEREEREER
FTEET ZEEFRAERETER
EEEAENATFHYKEEETIR
& mETFER - FRA7.00% (20224 :
757%) AR IR R - REBEEREE
BREBARALESMBERNE
HEFHEEWRANTBEENER - B
BRAFHIE €K EF H3.00% (2022
F:3.00% MWBEFEREME -

HE2023F12A31HILFE - L&
B ARIMERE {ETJ%EA%?{M
ETE T AARREEEBREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

16.

17.

Goodwill (continued)

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the
operating subsidiaries are consistent with external
information sources.

As a result, impairment loss on goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets
amounting to approximately US$257,000 (2022: Nil),
US$102,000 (2022: Nil) (note 14) and US$98,000
(2022: Nil) (note 15), respectively were recognised
in the profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Life insurance policy deposits

Certain life insurance policies (the “Policies”) with
a carrying amount approximately US$2,734,000
(2022: US$2,671,000) were entered into by the
Group to insure two of the directors of the Company,
Mr. Lam and Ms. Cheng Yu Pik. Under the Policies,
the beneficiary and policy holder is the Group
and the total insured sum was approximately
US$10,537,000 (2022: US$10,537,000) as at
31 December 2023. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Group paid approximately
US$1,248,000 (2023: Nil) at the inception of a new
policy. The Group can terminate the Policies at any
time and can receive cash back based on the net
nominal account value of the Policies at the date of
withdrawal. Interest is earned at interest rates of at
least those guaranteed by the insurer.

The directors of the Company expected that the
Policies with upfront payment of approximately
US$376,000 will be terminated at the 38th policy
year in 2053, approximately US$265,000 will
be terminated at the 40th policy year in 2058,
approximately US$260,000 will be terminated
at the 43rd policy year in 2061, approximately
US$224,000 will be terminated at the 45th policy
year in 2065, approximately US$300,000 will be
terminated at the 45th policy year in 2065 and
approximately US$1,248,000 will be terminated at
the 39th policy year in 2061 respectively.
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17.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

17. Life insurance policy deposits

(continued)

There will be a specified surrender charge of
approximately US$43,000, US$33,000, US$31,000,
US$26,000, US$75,000 and US$167,000 (2022:
US$45,000, US$34,000, US$31,000, US$26,000,
US$75,000 and US$167,000) in accordance with each
policy respectively. The expected life of the Policies
remained unchanged from the date of initial recognition
and the directors of the Company considered that the
financial impact of the option to terminate the Policies
was not significant.

At the inception date, the upfront payments of
the Policies were separated into deposits placed
and prepayments of life insurance premium. The
deposits element was measured at costs adjusted
for interests and charges recognised for each year
and the prepayments of life insurance premium
were stated at cost, less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The Policies with a carrying amount approximately
US$2,149,000 (2022: US$2,671,000) were pledged
to a bank to secure bills payables (note 23) and
bank borrowings (note 26) granted to the Group.

17. ASRERE )

BESRE DABEEREER
FHEEX)43,000% T * 33,000%E T
31,0003 7T ~ 26,000% 7t * 75,000
%7t & 167,000 7T (20224 : 45,000
% JT * 34,0003 JT * 31,0003 T °
26,0002 7T - 75,0003 7T & 167,000
EL)c REMNTBHFRBEV B ER
HEEARGEFTE  BARAESR
ABRFREMNESETYESEAPER

@,
=

RABEH  RENBENRDIBEFA
FREENASRRE - FREHRK
BFEEINMNELERABERNKA
AEASRBRENEMNFIZKA
BB R MR ERREEE
(IA) 58

BR ™ (B 49 £2,149,0003 JT (20224 :
2,671,000 7T) A {R EE E 7 — IR
7T NERAXSER THEMNEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

18. Financial assets at fair value through 18. AR BEFAHMB2EI
other comprehensive income mH R EE
2023 2022
20234 20224
uss’ooo0 US$’000
FETT FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI EAREBEFAEMEZERK
mH R EE
— Unlisted equity securities in — REBHEBRESH
the BVI, Cosmic Paramount IEEMRAFE 5
Limited (“Cosmic”) Cosmic Paramount
Limited ([Cosmic]) 4,255 6,293
The movements of unlisted equity securities are as FEETRAZHFEHUOT :
follows:
uss’ooo
FETT
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 6,281
Change in FVTOCI BEAnBEFAHMCEZEKZHE 12
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 12022912 A31H & 2023F1H1H 6,293
Change in FVTOCI BRANBEFAHEMEZEKRZNEH (2,038)
At 31 December 2023 ”2023F12H31H 4,255
In 2020, the Group entered into (i) the conditional 20204 + ANEE (1) B SR L & 5 B

sale and purchase agreement together with the
supplemental agreement with the independent
vendor in relation to the acquisition of 781 shares
of Cosmic (the “Acquisition”) and (ii) conditional
subscription agreement together with the
supplemental agreement to subscribe 148 shares
of Cosmic (the “Subscription”). After the completion
of the Acquisition and the Subscription on 31
December 2020, the Group held in aggregate
9.07% equity interest in Cosmic.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

Financial assets at fair value through 18. A REEAHGZ2ZEEK
other comprehensive income (continued) SHERMEE®
The above unlisted equity securities are designated FTHRIFLETRABTHFHEERIER
as financial assets at FVTOCI (non-recycling) as AEEFAEMEZERENEREE
the investment is not held for trading and is held for (TATEIE)  RARZIKENLIERFIE
long-term strategic purposes. Cosmic, through its BE  DREERHABEER - Cosmic
operating subsidiary which is incorporated in Hong BRAENEBEAMKIL2EENBER
Kong, is principally engaged in one-stop supply AFERE-—BAEEESR TS
chain financial platform, which provide global ZITeRBEEREEHERE AT ER
supply chain services, booking online by clicking —§ETEE] °
one button.
The details of the fair value measurement as at 31 2023F 12 A1IHZ AR BER 25
December 2023 are set out in note 33. 15 & AT FE33 ©
No dividends were received from this investment FAMERZIERE WA B (2022
during the year (2022: Nil). F|m)o
Inventories 19. 58
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
uss’ooo USs$'000
FETT FZET
Finished goods 2K Gh 14,007 20,062

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
certain inventories with original cost amounting to
approximately US$860,000 (2022: US$27,000) were
written-down (note 8).

HZE2023F12A31BIEFE - 1IHRK
R =t B 4 #860,0003 T (20224 -
27,000% 7T) W& T &S B MU (f 5
8) e

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

20. Trade and Dbills receivables

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 48

2023 2022

20234 20224

Us$’000 US$’000

FETT FZET

Trade receivables, gross B 5 MW R IE A% 17,457 21,200
Less: allowance for ECL on trade BEBEZEUARIEESREE

receivables EEEE (1,180) (939)

Trade receivables, net (note a) B S REWKRIBFRE (M ita) 16,277 20,261

Bills receivables (note b) FEW =& (KT it b) 2,770 3,838

19,047 24,099

Notes:

(a)

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables, net from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately
US$36,982,000.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period granted
is based on the historical trading and payment records
of each customer, generally not more than four months
(2022: not more than four months). Extended credit terms
may be granted for some major long-term customers. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to
minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management. Trade receivables are
non-interest bearing and the Group does not hold any
collateral in relation to these receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

20. BRI RIA & FE W R 1R

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes. (continued)

(a)

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
entered into a receivable purchase arrangement (the
“Arrangement”) with a commercial bank (2022: two
commercial banks) in Hong Kong to discount certain trade
receivables with full recourse to the bank. At 31 December
2023, the Group discounted trade receivables with a
carrying amount of approximately US$5,781,000 (2022:
US$3,837,000). Under the Arrangement, the Group may
be required to reimburse the bank for loss of interest if the
trade debtor has late payment up to 120 days. The details
of interest are set out in note 26(b) to these consolidated
financial statements. The Group was therefore exposed
to the risks of credit losses and late payment in respect
of the discounted debts. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the discounting transactions did not meet
the requirements in HKFRS 9 for derecognition of financial
assets as the Group has retained the substantial risks and
rewards of ownership of the discounted trade debts, which
include default risks relating to such discounted trade
receivables, and accordingly, it continued to recognise
the full carrying amounts of approximately US$5,781,000
(2022: US$3,837,000) of the discounted trade receivables.

The proceeds of the discounting arrangement were
included in bank borrowings as asset-backed financing
until the trade debts were collected or the Group settled
any losses suffered by the banks. At 31 December
2023, the asset-backed financial liabilities amounted to
approximately US$4,993,000 (2022: US$3,240,000) (note
26(b)).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of ECL
allowances, based on the past due dates, is as follows:

(&)

Byt (A)

(a)

(%)

H Z2023F12A31B L FE - A&
MEE -—HMEmEERT(2022F WA
¥RMMFIUERKRFRERERHE(ZE
D UBETEZEKFREME I
HIRTTEREERRE - 202312431
H - NEEKRmEY A5,781,000% T
(20224 : 3,837,000 1) WE 5 FE U
HEER - RIBEZTH - WESEBHKAR
B FRRE120K - ANEE AT LB F
BEEEHERT -FEFBEHARZELR
AU BMANE26(D) - B - AEET
EEBMBBEENEEBE RS BN
HER - RRREERE - MBERXHL
THEECEBMBRELERN)EIEE
RIIERCBHEENET  FERALRE
EERBGRESEBEEENB R
DEBREEFR(BPERZEHRRESE
W BERMMENRR) B Hi#
BRERGRZFIERFEN 2 BERE
#95,781,000% 7T (20224 : 3,837,000
EIT) e

} ot

AR THNERBEEAEELFRE
AABR BERESEBOKERAE
EREERTAMEINEMEESL - B
2023F12A31H  BEXHEMARY
£4,993,000% 7T (20224 : 3,240,000
ZE7u) (M 5E26(b)) »

RIE BB IEE S R FOE (kA
HEEBERBER)WEKREOTMOT

2023 2022

20234 20224

uss’ooo US$'000

FEIT FZET

Not past due K i A 14,547 19,725
1-30 days past due W HI1E30K 497 229
31-90 days past due @ HI31E 90K 584 262
91-120 days past due B HI91E 120K 585 —
Over 120 days past due B ®120K 64 45
16,277 20,261

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables are set out in note 33.

BB ERERZERENGFE
AT FE3S o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 48

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)

The movements in allowances for ECL on trade

(&)

(a)

Byt (A)

(%)

BHRUFRAMEEBEREEZE I

receivables are as follows: N
2023 2022
20234 20224
Uss$’000 US$'000
FEIT FZET
At 1 January “1A18 939 483

Allowances for ECL recognised tothe RIEBHMERWMIEHEEREIE

profit or loss B 242 465
Exchange realignment PE 3 58 & (1) (9)
At 31 December H12 A31H 1,180 939

Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of
ECL allowance, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

RBEZAHMIEAS EE 5 E KA

(NBEEMEEBBREG NREDTN

=
2023 2022
2023% 20224
uss$’ooo US$'000
FEIT FET
1 to 30 days 1230k 5,078 12,888
31 to 90 days 31290k 9,326 6,734
91 to 120 days 91E120K 780 391
Over 120 days HiB120K 1,093 248
16,277 20,261
As at 31 December 2023, certain bills receivable with (b) H2023F12HA31H K WM B 4 &

carrying amount of approximately US$2,517,000 (2022:
US$3,667,000) were transferred to a bank by discounting
the bills receivable on a full recourse basis. Under
these arrangements, the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivable. The Group therefore continues to recognise
the transferred assets in their entirety in its consolidated
statement of financial position and measuring them at
amortised cost. The bills receivable and the borrowings on
discounted bills with recourse will be derecognised when
the bank received settlement from the customers. On
derecognition of bills receivables, the difference between
their carrying amounts and the cash received by the bank
is recognised in profit or loss (note 26(e)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 48

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

(continued)

Ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivables, based
on the bills receipt dates as at each reporting date is as
follows:

(&)

(b)

Byt (A)

(&)

REBEZREEBEAERSRERHN
AEBEBRERNRESTET

2023 2022

20234 20224

Uss$’000 US$°000

FETT FZET

1 to 30 days 1E30K 196 398
31 to 90 days 31E90K 1,804 2,898
91 to 120 days 91E120k 407 341
121 to 180 days 121ZE180K 363 201
2,770 3,838

21. Prepayments, deposits and other

21. A RRIE - RERHMIEIW

receivables A
2023 2022
20234 20224
Us$’000 US$’000
FETT FZETT
Prepayments (note (a)) A FRIB (K it (a) 3,428 2,141
Accrued purchase rebates (note (b)) FEETEEE B0 (475 (b)) 2,921 2,511
Rental and utilities deposits MeEkA AREEZS 91 95
Other receivables H {th & U 3k 18 708 856
7,148 5,603

Notes: # it -

(a)

()

As at 31 December 2023, the balance included amount
of approximately US$3,298,000 (2022: US$2,035,000)
related to prepayments to the suppliers for the
procurement of inventories, which would be utilised as
cost of inventories incurred within the next financial year.
The remaining balance of prepayment at the end of the
year were paid for administrative expense such as staff
insurance, rental and management fees, etc. (2022:
same).

The accrued purchase rebates primarily represented the
estimated outstanding amounts for the purchase rebates
under the ship and debit arrangements as disclosed in
note 4. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the accrued purchase rebate would be net off the
trade payables of the suppliers when eventually confirmed
the purchase rebate within the next financial year.

(a)

(b)

M2023F12A31H » L4 BIEAKET
B TR EE A S §E43,298,0003%
JC (20224 : 2,035,000 7T) * #HAET
—HMBRFEFERA - FREMKIEN
FertE B ARIMITHRAI(IME TR
B e REEBE)(2022F : HRA) °

JE 5T 5R BB @ 40 = 22 45 ot MY 5L 4P B 55 A
EfERB THRERM A REE
RIE - ARBEERREFRBEONS
PA B S HE RN — B TR A R B [0 0 B
MR ENEERES HOA -

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )

187
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

22. Pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents

2. EHHBITERURERAER
IREEEY

2023 2022

20234 20224

Us$’000 Us$’000

FEIT FETT

Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) ERBIRTERM Z @) 379 902

Cash in hand and bank balances ReLBREEEYD

(note (b)) (i (b)) 2,536 2,343

Notes: Hiat -

(a) As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank deposits of
approximately US$379,000 (2022: US$902,000), carrying
interest rate range from 0.01% to 4.01% (2022: 0.01%
to 4.01%) per annum was pledged to secure the bills
payables (note 23) and bank borrowings (note 26).

(b) Cash and bank balances represent cash at banks and
on hand. Bank balances carry interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

Included in bank balances, there was approximately
US$829,000 (2022: US$1,119,000) denominated in RMB
and deposited with banks in the PRC as at 31 December
20283, RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations in the PRC, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank

deposits and cash and cash equivalents are set out
in note 33.

23. Trade and bills payables

(a) M2023%12831H 7 £ [# 4379,000
% 70 (20224 : 902,000% jT) » & | =
N F0.01% £4.01% (20224 : 0.01% =
4.01%) IR IT1F RO WK I LA B B 22
& (Bff 5£23) & 4R 77 15 3% (Fff 7£26) 1 #&
E

() RERBTERERTERARTFER
T o MRIOTERRBEEARITERMNER
BN EGE - RITHEBTFRNIHY
EHBRDENEERFNIRT -

M2023F12A318 » B 1T & & 4
829,000 jT (20224 : 1,119,000 JT)
DARBEAHBETTFTHRAFBEMNIET - A
REBETAERLBKEMER - BRE
FERCINEZEEIEG) (KBEE - EE
MNEERBHRE) NEEBJUEES
BREREIINEEENRITBEARER R
BHMEE .

EEFRTEINANERE A CEE
W) 8RB R A R BB M RE33 o

2. EHENRIEREMNRE

2023 2022

20234 20224

Us$°000 US$'000

FEIT FET

Trade payables B S EMNFRIE 7,641 7,055
Bills payables &~ 2 1], 7,850 11,061
15,491 18,116
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

23. Trade and bills payables (continued) 23. B EMRIEREMFER
(&)
Ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice BEEZAMMERBERRAKRES
dates, as at the end of reporting period is shown as FER IR BRE DT T AT -
follow:
2023 2022
20234 20224
Uss’000 USs$'000
FEIT FZET
1 to 30 days 1230k 2,081 4,491
31 to 90 days 31290k 3,966 2,523
91 to 120 days 912120k 1,585 36
Over 120 days 120K 9 5
7,641 7,055
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all bills 20234 K&2022F12H318 © FT &
payables were secured by an assignment over the WENEBEEHHEERE (ME17) KR
Policies (note 17) and pledged bank deposits (note EHEBRITF R F22) (EEA -
22).
24. Accruals, contract liabilities and 24. EtER - S EERHEM
other payables FE {+ =k I8
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FZET
Accruals JEEtE R 620 553
Contract liabilities (note (a)) BHBE N F (@) 522 729
Other payables (note (b)) H b J& 5 3R IB (B 72 (b)) 1,649 334
2,791 1,616

FEEENggRAn 203k 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

24. Accruals, contract liabilities and
other payables (continued)

Notes:

(a)

()

190 contel Techn

Contract liabilities represents billings in advance of
performance in regarding the provision of customised
reference designs which are bundled together with the
sales of ICs products and electronic components as a

24. fE:tEH - 8B ERHM
FE 4+ ® I8 ()
e
(a) AYBBEAERNTEFPRHETFHIILZER
S(BICE G RET Tl EE R —

H)MBROBEDORR - & ’JEE@%’E
TyRIE AR /Réﬁig)f'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm d

package for the new customers. The amount of contract H;yaT
liabilities is negotiated on a case by case basis with
customers and the movement is set out below:
Movements in contract liabilities is as follows: BRHREEHMOT
2023 2022
20234 20224
uss$’ooo US$'000
FET FET
At 1 January m1A1AR 729 523
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERRENDHAEL
recognising revenue during the year that BEMKRAERED
was included in the contract liabilities at AR
the beginning of the year (729) (523)
Increase of contract liabilities from customers & F & 4 & & 12 1 1,350 4,737
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERWAERELHEE
recognising revenue during the year o (816) (3,958)
Exchange realignment & H (12) (50)
At 31 December M®12A318 522 729

The balance included an amount due to an executive
director, Mr. Qing of approximately US$596,000 (2022:
Nil) for settling the trade payables to a supplier on
behalf of Group. The amount is non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

The balance also included an amount due to Mr.
Qing’s relative of approximately US$1,053,000 (2022:
US$334,000) for settling the trade payables to a supplier
on behalf of Group. The amount is non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand.
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(b) HZEBREEEN-—B2RTEZEHELED
596,000% 7_5(2022¢ )R RIE A
RRERAEBESEETRNTEEREE SR
B &7 Iﬁ?%T FARRARERER -

ZEBNEREENBEERB Y
1,053,00 %yz(zozzi 334000%@
HFRIE - ﬁHWﬁ%$%l/a R e
BEDIE ° % AIEJ%T.#@H;E&%
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25. Leases liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

25. HE&AE
AEBRAEAEOEEENT

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities

are as follows:

Present Present
value of value of
minimum Minimum minimum Minimum
lease lease lease lease
payment payment payment payment
as at as at as at asat
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2023 2023 2022 2022
12023 F12B31E  R2023E12A318  M2022E128318 12022412 A31R
mEHEHRRE RERERR REAERTRE SERERK
US$000 Uss 000 Us$000 Us$0o00
FET FET FET FEI
Leases liabilities payable: ERNHERR:
Within 1 year £/ 180 185 381 392
After 1 year but within 2 years 1EREER - - 108 109
180 185 489 501
Less: Total future interest expenses i K KF|SH R 2% (5) (12)
Present value of lease liabilities HEARRE 180 489
Analysed info: MR-
Current portion T 180 381
Non-current portion FRBHH - 108
180 489
Analysed by: AR:
Leasehold properties HEnz 180 489

The incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities were range from 2.86% to 4.90% (2022:
2.86% to 4.90%) per annum.

ERANHERENEEERFERNT
F F2.86% £4.90% (20224 : 2.86%

F£4.90%) 2@ °

BREEMBZERAF 2023%F F )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBEmMERME
For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 220234 12431 H I F /&
25. Leases liabilities (continued) 25. HEB R @)
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation REZERANEAEEESELT:

to leases are as follows:

2023 2022

2023 % 20224

Us$’000 Us$'000

FET FET

Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) T E GG F B (4 :£7) 16 24
Depreciation on right-of-use assets £ F#E & E T &

(note 14) (Kt 14) 436 407

Expense relating to short-term leases £2 %2 #i7H & #7402 HH

(note 8) (Kt it8) 36 13
Total amounts recognised in RERERER

profit or loss 488 444
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26. Bank and other borrowings

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

26. SRIT R H &K

2023 2022
20234 20224
Us$’0oo US$’000
FETT FET
Bank borrowings — secured RITER—BER
(notes (a) and (b)) (Ht#% (a) % (b)) 5,923 4,672
Bank borrowings — unsecured (note (a)) 817 & 3 — £ K
(K1 it (a) — 430
Other borrowings — secured (note (c)) H bk — A E 48
(Kiit(c)) 483 —
Other borrowings — unsecured (note (d)) H # f& 3k — 4 1
(K77 (d)) 3,805 2,360
Discounted bills with recourse BERBURERE
— secured (note (e)) — BRI (H it E) 2,504 3,644
12,715 11,106
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as PN WERRERET
follows:
2023 2022
2023 20224
Us$’0oo US$’000
FETT FET
Variable-rate borrowings 3 BER 8,067 7,026
Fixed-rate borrowings E BN 4,648 4,080
12,715 11,106
Notes: B it -
(@) As at 31 December 2023, several bank borrowings (@) P2023F12A31H + BREE#27,0003%

with carrying amounts of approximately US$27,000 and
US$60,000 (2022: US$56,000 and US$86,000), which
were secured by an assignment over the Policies (note
17) and pledged bank deposits (note 22). Interest rates
were variable and charged in the range from 4.53% to
7.75% (2022: from 1.58% to 5.88%) per annum during
the year ended 31 December 2023. The borrowings were
repayable by monthly installments and due on November
2024 and April 2026 (2022: November 2024 and April
2026), respectively, the amounts were classified as current
liabilities due to the borrowings contain a repayable on
demand clause.

7T 60,0003 7T (20224 : 56,0003 7T
186,000 T) M & TIRITIE KA EE
RE(MF17) RERFRITERM =
22)EHL R - B = 2023F 12 A31H It &
EHFRERFEI N F453%E7.75%
(20224 : 1.58%%5.88%) ° &7k EiZ A
DHEIEE - W H R R2024F 11 A %2026
F 40 (20224 : 20244118 20264 4
AR BREREEAREREE
WIER  MZSERBE2>ERRBER -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

26. RITRHEMER =)

26. Bank and other borrowings (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

()

(c)

(d)

(e)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the balance also included
a loan with a principal amount of RMB6,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$843,000) (2022: two
loans with principal amounts of RMB6,000,000 and
RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately US$860,000
and US$430,000)) which was guaranteed by Shanghai
Administration Center of Policy Financing Guarantee
Funds for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises and a
director of Shanghai IH and his spouse with fixed interest
rate at 3.15% (2022: 3.35% and 3.35%) per annum and
repayable in September 2024 (2022: September 2023 and
October 2023).

As at 31 December 2022, the balance also included a
loan from a commercial bank with a principal amount of
RMB3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately US$430,000)
which was unsecured with a fixed interest rate at 5.20%
per annum and repayable in August 2023.

As mentioned in note 20, the Group entered into the
Arrangement with the bank to discount certain trade
receivables with full recourse to the banks. As at 31
December 2023, the corresponding bank borrowings
amounted to approximately US$4,993,000 (2022:
US$3,240,000), which were secured by an assignment
over the Policies (note 17) and pledged bank deposits
(note 22).

The bank facility provides 1) US$ financing with interest
charged at 2.16% per annum over USD Reference Rate
(2022: 216% per annum over SOFR); 2) HK$ financing
with interest charged at 2% per annum over 3-month
HIBOR (2022: 2% per annum over 3-month HIBOR); and
3) RMB financing with interest charged at 2% per annum
over 3-month HIBOR (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the balance included a loan
from an independent third party with carrying amount of
approximately US$483,000 (2022: Nil) and guaranteed by
a subsidiary of the Company, carried a variable interest
rate at 2% over 1-month HIBOR (2022: Nil) and repayable
in December 2024 by monthly instaliment.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance included two loans
with the principal amounts of approximately US$2,360,000
(2022: US$2,360,000) and US$1,445,000 (2022: Nil),
respectively which were unsecured with fixed monthly
interest rates at 2.5% (2022: 1.5%) and 2.5% (2022: Nil),
respectively and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, all borrowings from discounted
bills with recourse with carrying amount of approximately
US$2,504,000 (2022: US$3,644,000) with variable interest
charged in the range from 0.8% to 3.3% (2022: from 1.4%
to 2.8%) per annum as at 31 December 2023 (note 20).
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Ba: (%)

(a)

(b)

(d)

(e)

MR2023F12A31H * £#HIABIE—£ X
& % A A R 6,000,0007T (HH & R4
843,000% JT) B B X (2022F : ME K
LD R A AREE6,000000T R AR
#3,000,0007T (#8 & # #7860,000% JT
}430,000F )M E ) - B EFH N
TERREERMEERESETEHALR
FEBEE—REENERBER -
FF T A & F£3.15% (20224 : 3.35%
}3.35%) © W 20245 9H (20224 :
2023498 K2023F107) EE -

MR2023F 128310 » & BE— 5% —
MEXRTESNER A28 AAR
#3,000,0007T (#8 & $430,000% JT) -
BERLREEFMNERAEETF520% A
R2023F8AEE

AT FE20FT #L  AEEEIRITE] L
WE - UABETESERZERR - I
HIRTTHEREBERRE - R2023F12 431
B - HEMRITERL A4,993,000% T
(20224 : 3,240,00037T) * %A EHE
ERE (M RE17) R B K48 88 17 15 3R (P
FE22) fEHE I o

MITHMERE - NETRE  FREXA
BEIILL2EF EN216% (20224F : F
FEBERRBRAEFEMN216%) : 2)
ELEE  FRXRABEIEAMEBIR
TREFEF EN2% (20224 : FH| =
AZRIEANEBRITHEEREF RN
2%)  MIYAREBE - FHEAEZIE
ARBEBRITRAZERBEFEN2% (2022
FogE) o

R2023F12A31H ' &HBIE—FHRE
B /& #9483,0003 7t (20224 : &) 2K A
BUEZHAMER  YHAQAE —HH
BRARER  ZHNNEAEE1EANES
IRITREREFEHFEFR EN2% (2022
Fm) 0 WAENR2024F12 Az A HAE
=

MR2023F12831H » 4 % & #E W £
N4 8 A #12,360,000% JT (20224 :
2,360,000% JT) & 1,445,000 7T (2022
FENER DR ASEER  FX
BT A D RI2.5% (20229F1.5%) &% 2.5%
(2022%F - ) WHRIIREREE -

R2023F12A31H + Al 8 R Bh 3/ B &
HIFT A& R E 4 A2,504,000% 7T
(20224 : 3,644,000% JT)° R2023%F
12 B 318 BT WELHY )2 8 & F) B F0.8%
£3.3% (20224 : 1.4% %2.8%)(M =+
20) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

26. Bank and other borrowings (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, a bank borrowing of
approximately US$35,000 (2022: US$87,000) was
not scheduled to be repaid within one year but was
classified as a current liability as the related loan
agreement contain clauses that provide the lender
with an unconditional right to demand repayment at
any time at its own discretion. None of the portion
of the bank borrowing due for repayment after
one year, which contains a repayment on demand
clause and that is classified as a current liability,
was expected to be settled within one year.

At end of the financial year, bank borrowings were
scheduled to repay, including those subject to a
repayable on demand clause, as follows:

26. RITRHEMER =)

MR2023F12A31H * #935,000% 7T
(20234 : 87,000k 7T) R 1T BRI
T8RN —FRNEE MHaBARDY
BE THREBERBRESHET
EFXRAMBEHEEEERTEREZRD
EFROER - MEZRTERER
—FULERNBD (BESHREKRE
BERFAEDBEINERDEE) EHE
R—FRNEE -

R BFER - RITEROEEK
BHI (B XR N AREIETIGEK
ORER O UNNE

2023 2022

20234 20224

uss’ooo Us$'000

FETT FET

Within one year —F AR 5,888 5,015
More than one year, but not ZHR—FETBBMF

exceeding two years 26 53
More than two years, but not ZRMFETHBBRF

exceeding five years 9 34

5,923 5102

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH

195



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

27. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 27. BEEBEESE (BE)
The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) FR - BELEHRBEE(ABE)WE
during the year are as follows: N
ECL on
trades Development
receivables Tax losses costs Total
HaRERIE _
BHEEEE HEBHE HERE -5
Uss’000 Uss’ooo Uss’ooo Uss’ooo
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 20221 A1H 89 — — 89
Deferred tax credited to the 5t Az H)
profit or loss (note 11) ERTIB (W A1) 77 517 — 594
Exchange realignment B 38 & 3) — — (3)
At 31 December 2022 and 72022412 A31H &
1 January 2023 2023%F171H 163 517 — 680
Deferred tax credited/ AR BEN
(charged) to the profit or BB E (W A1)
loss (note 11) 46 (517) (626) (1,097)
Exchange realignment B 5 50 B (1) — 3 2
At 31 December 2023 #2023412H318 208 — (623) (415)

At 31 December 2023, the Group’'s Hong Kong
subsidiaries have aggregated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$72,446,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$9,348,000) (2022:
HK$24,296,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$3,135,000)) available for offsetting against
future assessable profits sourced in Hong
Kong. Such unused tax may be carried forward
indefinitely. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the deferred tax assets in respect of the
unused tax losses of approximately US$517,000
were provided. During the year ended 31
December 2023, a reversal of deferred tax assets
of approximately US$517,000 was recognised
in relation to the unused tax losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams.
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R2023F12A31H © & £ 7B
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72,446,000 7T (#8 & 7 499,348,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

27. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

(continued)

Also, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group had unused tax losses of approximately
RMB24,784,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$3,478,000) (2022: RMB3,590,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$514,000)) incurred by
subsidiaries in the PRC, which can be carried
forward for 5 years from the year in which the losses
were incurred and available for offset against future
profits of the PRC subsidiaries, subject to approval
from the local tax authorities. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised due to unpredictability of
future profit streams (2022: Nil).

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, 10% withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned from 1 January 2008 wards on to
non-PRC tax resident investors for the companies
established in the PRC. For qualified investors
incorporated in Hong Kong, a treaty rate of 5% will
be applicable.

As at 31 December 2023, temporary withholding
tax differences relating to the undistributed profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounted to approximately
US$1,173,000 (2022: US$2,736,000). Deferred tax
liabilities amounted to approximately US$59,000
(2022: US$137,000) have not been recognised
in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained earnings as the
Company is in a position to control the dividend
policy of the PRC subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that undistributed
profits of the PRC subsidiaries will not be distributed
in the foreseeable future.

7. BEHIESEw)

AN R ERERANEBEREA
T I8 B 18 49 A R #24,784,0007T (47
B #93,478,0003 7T )(20224F : AR
#3,590,0007T (48 & M #7514,0003%
TL))  ZMIBEBER —HTRENEA
AEA WAIRBEEELEFERES
FRLEE  UEEEPENBRAGZ
RARFE - HEBESH 5 B S B R
Al o AR RFE R A A TEOR M
W ER L RSARBEEER
EAEF T B B (20224F « £7) »

RIEFBEEEMETIE 5102008
F1R1B Kz & BREEY i A e 7 o B
R AR ZIFFERBERRES
TR KR ERBEI0% A TEN - Bt
REBEMRINAERKEEM
5 KB ME% M ERE

R2023%12A31H B @R E K B
N AR E DR a A R TR AR
Z= %8 A #91,173,000% JT (20224 :
2,736,000 7T) - B AR R BEEEZ
ZHEMNBARMKREBEEKEAEET
FEME AR 25K a A RE A
RETE AT R ARRADIR » #t I
ERDKZEREGMBZNOFIE
52 4759,0003 JT (20224 : 137,000
EL)NEERIBEAE -

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

28. Share capital 28. I &
Number of
ordinary
shares Share capital
TiEREE ;13 S
uss’ooo
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each  # §%0.017 jT Y & i i
Authorised: JETE -
At 1 January 2022, $2022%1A18
31 December 2022, 2022%12A31H8
1 January 2023 and 2023F1A1H R
31 December 2023 2023%F12A31H 2,000,000,000 2,579
Issued and fully paid: BEETREHE -
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1H1H 800,000,000 1,032
Issuance of shares upon the A& T EITHRMN
Rights Issue (note) (Ht i) 298,122,380 385
At 31 December 2022 and 2022%F12A31B &
1 January 2023 and 2023F1RA1B &
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H 1,098,122,380 1,417

Note:

On 14 November 2022, the Company proposed rights issue on
the basis of two rights shares for every five existing shares held
on 28 November 2022 (the “Rights Issue”), at the subscription
price of HK$0.063 per rights share.

On 28 December 2022, the Rights Issue was completed and
298,122,380 ordinary shares were issued. The net proceeds
after deducting the related expenses of approximately
HK$1,022,000 (equivalent to approximately US$132,000),
amounted to approximately HK$17,760,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$2,292,000). Accordingly, the Company’s
share capital increased by approximately HK$2,981,000
(equivalent to approximately US$385,000) and the remaining
balance of the net proceeds of approximately HK$14,779,000
(equivalent to approximately US$1,907,000) was credited to the
share premium account.
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R2022F11 148 + AN A A i &% & R 20224F
11A288 B #H A A KRIE B KD AT 2 M A% 4
AR ([ A% 1) 2 2= 2 LA A% 6 A% A% 19 0.063
LR R E 1T AR o

MR2022F12A28H + # K’ B2 T K I # 17
208122380k L @R - MB B EHEZH
1,022,000 7t (18 & 7 #9132,000% L) % -
BT 15 3R B 55 4 /17,760,000 7T (A& R 4
2,292,000% 7T) ° Ak N2 A AR A 1 0 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

29. Reserves

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserve
are as set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

()

(ii)

Share premium

Share premium includes the premium arising
from issue of shares of the Company at a
premium. Under the Companies Law (revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman lIslands, the
share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum or Article of Associations
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividends, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in ordinary
course of business.

Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI held at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Other reserve

(iv)

Other reserve includes capital injection from
shareholders of Mr. Qing and Mr. Lam and
the family member of Mr. Qing before listing
and the amount of bargain purchase arising
from acquisition of Shanghai IH and Chengdu
Flyring.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries
and the aggregate amount of issued share
capital of subsidiaries acquired in the group
reorganisation.

FEVBHRRME

29. & &

&

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

EFEEDFBIHN G AR
Bx -

B% 1 ik 8

B aBERIEEREEITART
BHELEHNRE - RIEFSHS
NalE (BIEET) 228 + ARA]
P19 & BRI E A D ks IR B S
FTRE HAFAGEHERKX
MMAARTE  BEEEDIREE
% ARFIAEEREEBKDE
HIRERS -

BRARBESAREBZEY
MZEMEEMA

BAonBEAAEMEE K Z
CREEMBEENRENHE
RFEFANEAREBEFARE LR
sz eREENAEE
R FE - WIREHFEAWTE
WRHEIAN 2 AT B RERE -

H b fi# 18

Hih &2 Em Al REEL
KM E AR E KRB EE
B R B 58 R RCER R IR
FRTELEHZEBERESE -

B HE

EHREEREMNBLAANKREX
AEEESHKRENHEQR W
ERTERNZHEHEZRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

29. il )

29. Reserves (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries registered
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10%
of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses) determined
in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the PRC to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of
the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity
registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital, provided the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve is not less than 25% of registered
capital.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 3.
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v)

(vi)
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30. Particulars of subsidiaries of the

Company

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

the reporting period are as follows:

=N

30. XA S B AT IEE TS

RNmERABR - ARF N B LR F

Percentage of ownership

Place of Particulars of issued interest held by the share
incorporation and and fully paid-up capital/Company as at  Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity ~ registered capital 31 December place of operation
ERBIBER EEAREMRHM R2RA31BRE/FAF
ATER EREREY Er REAGRREEN IEXBEDREXDE
2023 2022
2023 2000%
Directly held
EERF
Contel (BVI) Limited The BVI, limited 10 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company US$10
Contel (BVI) Limited AEABRES AR 0RER0ZTHEAR REBR
27l
Indirectly held
RERE
Flyring Electronics Limited Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company components in Hong Kong and the
PRC
REETHRAT % ERRA REER REERTEHEICERRETTH
IH Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited 11 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company components in Hong Kong and the
PRC
EERRERLD % FRAA 1RE &R REERTEHEICERRET LA
Shenzhen H The PRC, limited Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company RMB2,000,000 components in the PRC
R hE - ARAA ARE2,000000 8t E A ReRHECERREF Y
Shanghai H The PRC, wholly Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
foreign-owned limited ~ RMB2,000,000 components in the PRC
liabilities company
929 mE - EBERRAR ARK20000007 AR RAERECERRET LY
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30. AATIMEBATINHE @

30. Particulars of subsidiaries of the
Company (continued)

Percentage of ownership

Place of Particulars of issued interest held by the share
incorporation and and fully paid-up capital/lCompany asat  Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity ~ registered capital 31 December place of operation
HARILER EETREHRRR R2ABRE/FAT
A &R EREREY X RERTRERENN ERBEDREENE
2023 2022
20235 2000%
Chengdu Flyring The PRC, limited Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company RMB6,000,000 components in the PRC
RARE T ARAA AE%6,0000007 £ & RAERECERRET LY
K
Contel Technology (H.K.) Company Limited  Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company
REEMR(EE)ERAT % ERRA 1REBR REZR
IH Technology (BVI) Limited (nofg) The BVI, limited 10 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company USs$t0
IH Technology (BVI) Limited (#:#) AEABAES ARD ORERI0ZTMEAR REER
i
Contel Technology Pte. Ltd. (nofg) The Republic of 10 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Inactive
Singapore, limited Singapore dollars 10
liabilities company
Contel Technology Pte. Ltd. (#/7#) FMEANE  ARAF 0RERIOFMATHEER 100% 100% TiEE

Note: These subsidiaries were incorporated during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt
securities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & £20234 12531 H 1} F /&

1L.EHABAXS

31. Related party transactions

(a)

(b)

()

No other related party transactions were
occurred during the year except as mentioned
below (2022: Nil).

Save for disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group

(@) BRNICATALsh -

(b)

FAMBELE

it B Bt 77 2 5 (20224F = 4% ©

BRI A7 & B 7% 3R EL At BB 0 P
WEEIN  NEEFARB &

had the following balances with related parties BRIAT
during the year:
2023 2022
20234 20224
Uss$’000 US$'000
FEIT FET
Amounts due from related JE U 78 Bt 2 B BUIR
companies (notes (i) and (i) (K7 5% 3) % (i) 26 26
Notes: B i -

(i) P. Grand and Kingtech are the related companies
controlled by Mr. Lam and Mr. Qing, respectively.
The maximum amount outstanding during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
US$26,000 (2022: US$26,000).

(i)  The amounts due were unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The details of the remuneration paid to the key
management personnel during the year are set
out in note 9.

(c)

(if)

P. Grand & Kingtech % Bll & # 5 4
K EEGINEE AR - B2
2023F12A31B L FEH&E K&
B FIE 4 526,000% 7T (20224 ¢
26,0005 7T) °

ENREBEER TR RE
R BRERE -

FEEHE A S8 H M

FAXMNFEEETE A B &
FHIBEE T -
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32. Financial instruments by category 2. &M I HENE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RERSHER SEemIANKE
financial instruments as at the end of each reporting HEM:

period are as follows:

2023 2022
20234 20224
uss’ooo USs$’000
FETT FET
Financial assets SHMEE
At FVTOCI: BRAREBEFARMEE
W 5 4,255 6,293
At amortised cost: 12 BH BN
Trade and bills receivables B 5 e WA KRN EE 19,047 24,099
Deposits and other receivables e R HAMEWKIE 799 951
Amounts due from related parties & U B8 Bt 77 338 26 26
Pledged bank deposits EHEBIRITER 379 902
Cash and cash equivalents ReEkRSFED 2,536 2,343
22,787 28,321
27,042 34,614
Financial liabilities SHER
At amortised cost: i B PR A
Trade and bills payables ERENREBERENEE 15,491 18,116
Accruals and other payables FE&tE R & H b B RIA 2,269 887
Bank and other borrowings MITRAME R 12,715 11,106
30,475 30,109
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills payables, accruals and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings.
These financial instruments mainly arise from its
operations. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments at amortised cost approximated to their
fair values as at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in
time and are based on relevant market information
about the financial instruments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. As the Group’s
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the
Group has not used any derivatives and other
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of the directors of the
Company reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
variable rates expose the Group to interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk mainly
arises from bank and other borrowings which bear
floating interest rate. The Group has not used any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the management of the Company
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

B.HMBEABERRAABMES
B

AEENTECRIABERAAE
B AEEERENEMEE - &
SRERBFEARERER K2 kE
f FEWORIR - R BB KR - 2
MBTHER ReEMASFED  E
SERNRBELRENRE - BT ERA R
Hib et E - HEAGBREBITRA
hiER - ZEETMTATZRNAS
B AR T ANFBRENER
B 5E e

RERERRER - AR EIZEIHKA
AENESRIANKAEREQR
EBEMRE - 2 BEMGFIREER
MELEREBIAMBEETSER
e -

AEBTMmIAEANTIEZRR AN
KE g - SMNEERR - EERER MR
Bk @R AEESEENZF
R R = & - RSB EERE
I HTHE R HA TEMEE HAR - K
SETEFAEXRBITESR TAE
EERE -ANFEZTSERBRBE
BERBRNBER  BERSAMT -

2 b
WA BRNRETZAREREE A

EEAREE R ERR - ZEEH
REFTZARCMEE ABERAE
B LEBEMNKER - AEEH
WARRERSREEANTTS

FRBEZE -

7K S5 [ D o ) 1) 2 L B E B 2R B 9 ¥
FAXRGFENRITREMER - A&
By ERBEATETASNE T A
MEER - AW ARFEEESE
SN ERERE - XHAERSHEEARRN
XRBEZEEEMLEITE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

B.UBEBEERAALBER

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued) =)
Interest rate risk (continued) FlZE=RE e

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank borrowings at the end of each reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming these
borrowings outstanding at the end of reporting
period were outstanding for whole year. A 100
basis points increase or decrease in HIBOR and
Prime rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest for the year.

NTHREREDTITIRE NS ®EH
Faﬁ?fig%ﬁfﬂ%féﬂ’]ﬂfﬂ G o
mENSTREEMRENREHER
MABEENBERRNEEFEHRE
BoMEBEEABANFERNEE
BRERBEBRITAEXFRELESR
2= IE N OR 100 1E B B - bR &
EREHFANBARERZAEE
BT -

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

Uss$’000 US$'000

FEIT FETT

(Increase)/ (Increase)/

decrease decrease

in post-tax in post-tax

loss loss

BrBLEEE Rt 12 & 18

() @ GG R

100 basis point increase 12 hR100 & = 2h 133 151

100 basis point decrease A 10018 & 25 (133) (151)
Foreign currency risk oh = b

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
related primarily to sales and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which they relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily RMB
and HK$. The Group does not hold or issue any
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes
or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised monetary assets or
liabilities denominated in RMB, a foreign currency
compared to the functional currency of US$ of the
entity to which they relate.

B MBEBEERAALBER

=(5)

FERRE®

T 25 B 7R B B A SR 45 HA B R 1 2R
EUAREGEYHEBRERNIGEE
METTSBRINE) S END ER
EMEEREBENELEER o

2023 2022

20234 2022%F

uss’ooo USs$'000

FETT FET

Trade and bills receivables Z 5’ ?AIE&JEHSZTTE 10,234 9,478
Deposits and other receivables e &k EMEK IR 127 297
Cash and cash equivalents REERESEFEEYD 829 1,119
Trade and bills payables Eo5RNHERENZR (854) (868)
Accruals and other payables JEFTE A R H M ER KIB (1,886) (681)
Bank and other borrowings RIT R HALE R (3,346) (5,363)
5,104 3,982
At 31 December 2023, if the US$ had weakened/ 2023F12A31H > flWE L H AR

strengthened 5% (2022: 5%) against the RMB with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss
after income tax for the year would have been
approximately US$191,000 (2022: US$149,000)
lower/higher respectively.

In the opinion of the directors, the rate of exchange
of the HK$ to the US$ is reasonably stable under
the linked exchange rate system and, accordingly,
the Group does not have any significant foreign
exchange risk arising from HK$. As a result, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.

¥ By 18T E5% (20224 : 5%)
mMETBEEMEBESREFIAE  A5H
FRREEIBBD BB, 180
#7191,0003 7T (20224 : 149,000
JT) °

EERS BLARTEREHERE
RHETEERE  Hit RS EHE
EREXBEBTHERINERRE &
I & 2 5 GURE DA -
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B.MBEBEERAABESR

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued) B

Credit risk and impairment assessment S & Bl b% & B (B 5T

Risk management EfG&EE

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not EERBEEYFABEIBETER

meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily for trade and bills receivables).
The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of
the debtors’ financial condition and maintains an
account for allowance for ECL of trade and bills
receivables based upon the expected collectability
of all trade and bills receivables.

At 31 December 2023, the Group has a certain level
of concentration of credit risk as 22% (2022: 27%)
of the gross trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customers.

The bank balances were deposited with
creditworthy banks. Bank balances of the Group
are with counter parties with sound credit ratings to
minimise credit exposures.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantee
at the end of the reporting period which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The following types of financial assets are subject to
the ECL model:

— trade and bills receivables;

— deposits and other receivables; and

— amount due from related parties.

While pledged bank deposits, and cash and cash
equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables

The credit risk on bills receivables is limited
because the bills are guaranteed by banks for
payments and the banks are either the state-owned
banks or major banks located in the PRC with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group applies HKFRS 9 and measures ECL
based on a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for trade receivables. The estimated ECL loss
rates are estimated based on the Group’s historical
settlement experience of various groups of debtors
that have similar loss patterns and are adjusted by
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
The Group has identified gross domestic product,
unemployment rate, loss-making enterprises in the
electronic product industry and producers price
index of manufactured products in Hong Kong
and the PRC to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors.

B MBEBEERAALBER

=(5)

SEREERBEEMGE)

2R EE R (E)
B SRR E N E 5

HREREEHRTERNKAR
T ABEARIT A BB AR AR
BRER/SERTRNLRPENE
ERT BEREENEERRA
BB e

AEBRERA(EEMBREERDFI
B EREBERFHNBEHERER
AEMEESRRRENEHREER
BiE e

RAEBEHREEER  BZRWFE
ERAREERRFHMEBHXHK
DM e

REE fE R ERETER SRR
HNEMEEER -G BHEE
BRXDENASEEZEAGRUE
BRANBEBANBESELRMG
At WL AT AR IR A AN LS ) R
RIEMERIFHARE - EEEEH
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GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

B.UMBEBEERAALBER

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors
is updated. On that basis, the loss allowance as
at reporting periods was determined as follows for
trade receivables:

=(5)

= & & g & B E &F fd (8)

o g E ()
BN AR ERZ R E)

AEBFMAGEEAREKREESER
HRBETRETH ABAEFHEK
HEDHEKRKAEAEBEARRRF
BHREFREZERFBREBEADNIK
REAETERBRIER N NEHA
e EBEREEerHERZOAE  UE
REFEBEETERRRNENEBRE
B o LA F - RIEHENES
EWRBEERERETHOT

Gross Net
carrying carrying
ECL rates amount ECL amount
BHfEE AL
BEE KRELE BE REFE
Uss000 Uss$000 Uss00o
FET FET FET
Ageing based on the past due date ZERBHAH 2 Rk
As at 31 December 2023 12023F12A318
Not past due A 0.04% 14,553 (6) 14,547
1 to 30 days past due RGN ERIPN 0.20% 498 (1) 497
31 to 90 days past due B H31EI0K N/A
TER 584 — 584
91 to 120 days past due B HIIE120K 5.65% 620 (35) 585
Over 120 days past due AMHEBI20K 94.68% 1,202 (1,138) 64
17,457 (1,180) 16,277
As at 31 December 2022 R2022F12A318
Not past due RaH 0.03% 19,731 (6) 19,725
110 30 days past due BEZE30K 1.72% 233 4) 229
31 to 90 days past due R RIEN PN 2.96% 270 (8) 262
91 to 120 days past due B H1E120K N/A
i H — — —
Over 120 days past due B EBBI20K 95.34% 966 (921) 45
21,200 (939) 20,261
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FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost,
including amounts due from related parties and
deposits and other receivables, are assessed on
12m ECL basis as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

In order to minimise the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables, the management of the
Group closely monitor the follow-up action taken
to recover any receivable balances outstanding
over 180 days. In addition, the Group monitors
expected settlement of each of the receivables to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
in accordance with HKFRS 9 on other balances
individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on
the deposits and other receivables is immaterial.

The management of the Company performed
impairment assessment on amounts due from
related parties based on the sufficiency of
accessible highly liquid assets, or the expected
manner of recovery in the next 12 months. In
addition, equity interest of the director in the
Company is also considered. The ECL will be the
effect of discounting the expected repayments at
the loans effective interest rate over the period until
cash is realised.

On that basis, as at 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the ECL of the amounts due from related parties
were immaterial.

B.MBEBEEERAABESR
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SEREERBEEMGE)

2R EE R (E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair B.MBREMEERAAREES

value measurement (continued) B
Liquidity risk mENE 2B
Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will NBECRBEECXEEEE D
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet /%Eéﬁi mﬁIﬂﬁ B IR B A B
commitments associated with financial instruments. BRRERE OO RRERE
Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a —fﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁf TEE’JFT%&%EZ
financial asset quickly at close to its fair value. EEXRSEYRDESRR -
The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative REBUERTARMIBNA KA RERE
financial liabilities based on the contractual AR EREFRNZFEREEFED
undiscounted payments and the earliest dates the EMTESRABENIHBELOT
creditors can demand repayment, is as follows:
Weighted Total
average Ondemand  contractual
interest rate or within undiscounted Carrying
per annum 1year  cash flows amount

mEEy REX EiTHANR
EHz F1EN RERBLE RERE
ussgoo  USso00  USS§000
FET FET FET

At 31 December 2023 2023512318
Trade payables EAREATE NAT & R 764 76 764
Bills payables EREE 7.22% 7985 7985 7850
Accruals and other payables EAERREMENTE NAZE R 2,269 2,269 2,269
Bank and other borrowings BIREMER 12.61% 12,758 12,758 12,715
30,653 30,653 30,475
At 31 December 2022 R2022612A31H
Trade payables EHREMNHE NAT iR 7,05 7,055 7,05
Bills payables ERZE 6.35% 11,229 11,209 11,061
Accruals and other payables EHERRAMERTE NATE B 887 887 887
Bank and other borrowings BITREMER 6.88% 11,494 11,494 11,106
30,665 30,665 30,109
The table below summarises the maturity analysis T%«%*E%L&E&E K17 & Fﬁ%ﬁ’]%i
of bank and other borrowings with a repayment on EXEEREMFINENKEIRD
cross default clause based on agreed scheduled RIT R HAME TJ\E’J 'JHHEI AT o & F
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The BREAEHMNEAENT BN K
amounts include interest payments computed I ZE5eER EXAHEI PRI
using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts PR ER BETREENSEAS -

were greater than the amounts disclosed in the
on-demand time band in the maturity analysis
contained in the above table.
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FEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & 20234 1231 H 1F F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

3. EEMREERAALGBEE
=)
REBELEME)
AKAREERARITTIAAIEEITFEE
BiEE ERARFER ARAESE
iz HEABTERSEBEER S
FTEstal EXEHTLUERE -

Total
Over1year Over2years  contractual
Within but within but within  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
edE gk EIURER
£ BR2ER BRSER RERELE REE
Usso00 Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo
FEx FEr FE7 FET FEr
At 31 December 2023 2023%12A318
Bank and other horrowings RIOREMER 12,758 27 9 12,794 12,715
At 31 December 2022 120025124318
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 11,494 55 3 11585 11,106
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B.MBEBEERAABESR

33. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Going concern

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately
US$9,749,000 and a net operating cash outflow
of approximately US$7,242,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Though the Group’s
current assets exceeded its current liabilities by
approximately US$11,966,000, the Group’s current
assets consisted of trade and bills receivables
and cash and cash equivalents of approximately
US$19,047,000 and US$2,536,000, respectively
whilst the Group’s total bank and other borrowings
under current liabilities amounted to approximately
US$12,715,000 in aggregate. These conditions
indicate the existence of uncertainties which may
cast doubt about the ability of the Group to continue
as going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration of
the future liquidity and operating performance of
the Group and its available source of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern.
The directors of the Company have reviewed the
cash flow projection of the Group prepared by
the management covering a period of not less
than twelve months from the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements taking into
account the below consideration:

(i)  The management has renewed certain banking
facilities subsequently after the reporting
period, and the directors of the Company
believe that the existing bank facilities will be
further renewed when their current terms expire
given the good track records and relationship
the Group has with the banks;

(i) The Group will keep closely monitoring the
collection status of existing trade receivables
taking into consideration contractual terms with
customers; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Going concern (continued)

(iii) The Group remains committed to implementing
stringent expense controls as a continuous
effort to manage costs effectively and optimise
operational efficiency. By closely monitoring
and scrutinising expenses, the Group aims to
identify areas for potential savings and ensure
that resources are allocated judiciously.

The directors of the Company, after due
consideration of the basis of management’s plans
and measures as well as the reasonably possible
downside changes to the cash flow projections, are
confident that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from the
date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders, to support
the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market
risks in the Group’s operation and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debit.

The Group actively monitors, reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be
possible with certain levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

No material changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during
the years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

33. Financial risk management and fair B.MBREMEERAAREES

value measurement (continued)
Fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:

° The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions
and traded in active markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid and ask
prices respectively.

e The notional amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities with a maturity of less than
one year (including trade and bills receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amounts
due from the related parties, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills payables, accruals and other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings)
are assumed to approximate their fair values.

The following table presents the carrying value
of the Group’s financial instruments measured
at fair value across the three levels of the fair
value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement with fair value of each financial
instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that
fair value measurement. The levels are defined as
follows:

Level 1: fair values measured using quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date.

Level 2. fair values measured using Level 2
inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs.

Level 3. fair values measured using significant
unobservable input.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEVBHRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

33. Financial risk management and fair

B MBEBEERAALBER

value measurement (continued) =)
Fair values of financial instruments ERTARAMAAREE
(continued) (%)
2023 2022
2023 % 20224
Us$’000 US$°’000
FETT FZET
Assets BE
Financial assets BEAnBEFTAEMEZR
at FVTOCI WEHmemEE
— Unlisted equity investments —FLETRERE 4,255 6,293
Financial assets at FVTOCI — unlisted equity HARBEANRG DG KZHE

investments

The fair value of the Group’s investment in unlisted
equity securities held as at 31 December 2023
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by International Valuation Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuers (2022:
same).

As at 31 December 2023, the financial assets at
FVTOCI is measured at fair value and is classified
as a Level 3 fair value measurement using income
approach based on the financial performance of the
investment. The discounted cash flow method was
used to capture the present value of the expected
future economic benefits to be derived from the
ownership of this investee, based on an appropriate
discount rate and terminal growth rate (2022:
Same).

Discount rate, taking into account weighted average
cost of capital determined using a Capital Asset
Pricing Model, of 14.00% (2022: 14.00%) was
adopted.

Should the discount rate increase or decrease
by 5% (2022: 5%), the fair value of the financial
assets at FVTOCI would decrease or increase by
approximately US$281,000 or US$317,000 (2022:
US$438,000 or US$497,000) respectively.

HEE—FLITRERE

AREENR2023FE12 A31BFEHNIEL
TRABELENREZAABEER
BEYEXGHEMTEERFHEREA
AT Z GEE F (20224F : HR) °

#2023F12 A318 » I ARBETA
Hth2EmKRENEREERANE
BifE2 TERARENYBHRRE
BWALZEBEABE=ZMARBE
E-RABRREREZREEES
MR R ERERAERWRE R
FrEREENTEHRRLENZRE
(2022%F : §H[A) °

KA RFERERAEETEREAETF
B N FE 15 & AR K A 0 £ F14.00%
(20224 : 14.00%) Y BE IR & o

fis BA IR K 12 h0 sk 8 4 5% (20224 ¢
5%) R ARBEGFAEMNEER
EHNEMEEFD B HIE I
281,000 T 317,000 JT (2022 :
% : 438,000 JL 5497,000Fk L) °

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F/&E

33.

34.

Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
(continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI unlisted equity
investments (continued)

Terminal growth rate of 2.50% (2022: 2.50%) was
adopted.

Should the terminal growth rate increase or
decrease by 2.50% (2022: 2.50%), the fair value
of the financial assets at FVTOCI would increase
or decrease by approximately US$22,000 or
US$22,000 (2022: US$30,000 or US$30,000)
respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur (2022: Nil).

Cash flows information
(a) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
US$140,000 (2022: US$513,000) and
US$140,000 (2022: US$513,000) respectively
during the year ended 31 December 2023
in respect of lease arrangements for the
properties (notes 14 and 25).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group discounted bills to a bank with recourse
amounting to approximately US$8,587,000
(2022: US$5,359,000). The relevant cash
inflows from the bank have been presented
under financing activities.

Settlements of the relevant discounted
bills by the customers to the bank directly
amounting to approximately US$9,727,000
(2022: US$2,072,000) represented non-cash
transactions and have not been reflected in the
consolidated statement of cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

M.IREREEH
METHMELENEEEZH

34. Cash flows information (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b)
financing activities

TR AEBERE LI TEL
BENEH(BRFERE MRS
HEHB - MEIDAELSR
EEERSRNESRHARRKA
EREHRRAEERGEHATRE

KPP BERBEABMERSR

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are liabilities
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities:

EMAIE:

Lease  Bank and other
liabilities borrowings
HEEE BOREMER
(note 25) (note 26)
(i 7t25) (Hiit26)
US$000 US$000
FET FET
At 1 January 2022 R2022F1A1H 411 17,147
Changes from financing cash flows: HEHSREEY:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEHABRE — 35,628
Repayments of bank borrowings BRRTER — (39,394)
Interests paid BERHE — (792)
Repayments of lease liabilities — principal BEHERE — 4% (370) —
Repayments of lease liabilities — interest EEHERE—FIE (24) —
Total changes from financing cash flows BERENELHAET (394) (4,558)
Other changes: Hibgs:
Addition of new lease REHNHE 513 —
Rent concessions (note 6) HeBRmAHe) (32) —
Interest expenses MERX 24 792
Settlements of discounted bills with recourse ~ FIBERBBZELEE
(note 34(a)) (7 :#34(a) — (2,072)
Exchange realignment RS (33) (203)
Total other changes Hih28esm 472 (1,483)
At 31 December 2022 20225128318 489 11,106

BEEEMEZERAR 20234F FH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

34. Cash flows information (continued) M.HEREEH »
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEFTHMELENEREH
financing activities (continued) (%)
Lease Bank and other
liabilities borrowings
HEERE RITREMER
(note 25) (note 26)
(Hi£25) (Hf&#26)
Ussooo Ussooo
FET FET
At 1 January 2023 1#2023%F1R18 489 11,106
Changes from financing cash flows: HEHSREEY:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEFMGEHE — 42,062
Proceeds from other borrowings HERMEHE — 2,257
Repayments of bank borrowings BERITER — (32,560)
Repayments of other borrowings BEEMER - (318)
Interests paid ERF & - (1,468)
Repayments of lease liabilities — principal BEMERE — 4% (442) -
Repayments of lease liabilities — interest BEREEE—FE (16) —
Total changes from financing cash flows RERENEZHER (458) 9,973
Other changes: Hibgs:
Addition of new lease REHNHE 140 -
Interest expenses %"J BRX 16 1,468
Settlements of discounted bills with recourse BRURBERES
(note 34(a) (/77&34@)) - (9,727)
Exchange realignment R ) (105)
Total other changes Hiw @ Bas 149 (8,364)
At 31 December 2023 122023%12A31H 180 12,715
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 # Z2023F 12H31H I F /&

35. Statement of financial position and 5. RATMBUKRARREEE
reserve movement of the Company )

(a) KATIHMBRRAREK

(a) Statement of financial position at the

Company
2023 2022
2023F 20224
Notes uss’000 US$'000
k=3 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Non-current asset EREBEE
Investments in a subsidiary RETBRAMIEE —* —
Current assets RBEE
Prepayments B HIA 23 —
Cash and cash equivalents BelkBReEED 72 38
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Uk Bt /B8 12 B 510 84 4,081
179 4,119
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals it E A 12 110
Amounts due to subsidiaries A= INGIE S| 3,515 3,500
Other borrowing H At 18 5% 26(c) 483 —
4,010 3,610
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(&RE) EEFE (3,831) 509
Net (liabilities)/assets (BfE) EEFHE (3,831) 509
EQUITY B
Share capital R 28 1,417 1,417
Reserves 1 (b) (5,248) (908)
Total equity EnaEE (3,831) 509

* |tem with value below US$1,000 * {BEEE 1,000 THIER

AN R B RS AR R 2R 702024 F 3 A
26K EES L A M IETE
HUTEERXREE:

The statement of financial position of the
Company were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 26 March
2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung Mr. Qing Haodong

gk &£ EERLE
Director Director
EE EaE

FEEENEERAE c0sssn 221



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & Z20234F 1231 H 1F F /&

35. gﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂkﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁ%
(%)

35. Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company
(continued)

(b) EATHEES

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
% 1 i 8 AitBE &3
Ussooo Ussooo Us$000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2022 7202241518 12,793 (1,256) 11,537
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREBERZE
for the year BRER — (14,352) (14,352)
Issuance of shares upon rights PR R B E B 1T
issue and placing, B 1BRZS
net of transaction costs AN (HT a2 28)
(note 28) 1,907 — 1,907
At 31 December 2022 and 2022612 A318 &
1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 14,700 (15,608) (908)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREERZE
for the year BREEE - (4,340) (4,340)
At 31 December 2023 12023512318 14,700 (19,948) (5,248)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AEMBEME

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 December
HEZ12A3IBLERE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
uss’ooo  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
FETT FET FET FET FET
Revenue WA 66,316 121,710 222,040 153,919 101,461
(Loss)/profit before A EHPT15 B AT
income tax (B18),/ F 8 (8,649) (2,077) 2,486 2,549 3,560
Income tax (expense))  FTE# (F %),/
credit ) (1,100) 493 (315) (528) (1,047)
(Loss)/profit for the year & [Z (E518),/ FIH (9,749) (1,584) 2171 2,021 2513
(Loss)/profit attributable LA T~ & 75 fE 1k
to: (&#8),/ F8:
owners of the Company ARAF#EH A (9,749) (1,584) 2,171 2,021 2513
non-controlling interests ~ 3F 1% % 1% 25 - — — — —
(Loss)/profit for the year 4 & (&5 18) /H 8 (9,749) (1,584) 2,171 2,021 2,513
BHEBERRERDR 20234F FH
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMBME

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERBRE

As at 31 December

12A31H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20215 20204 20194
uss’ooo  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$'000
FETT FET FET FETT FETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERBEE 11,046 12,546 9,059 9,009 2562
Current assets REBEE 43,143 53,259 68,141 58,780 55,903
Total assets BERE 54,189 65,805 77,200 67,789 58,465
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities REEE 31,177 31,219 42,708 35,770 28,397
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE 415 108 160 67 279
Total liabilities BELERE 31,592 31,327 42 868 35,837 28,676
Net current assets REEEFE 11,966 22,040 25,433 23,010 27,506
Net assets BEFE 22,597 34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789
EQUITY g
Equity attributable ZIN/NTE Z SN
to owners of the FE(hHE % -
Company:
Share Capital P& 7K 1,417 1,417 1,032 1,032 1,032
Reserves =] 21,180 33,061 33,300 30,920 28,757
22,597 34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789
Non-controlling interests ~ 3F 1% % 1 25 - — — — —
Total equity S EE 22,597 34,478 34,332 31,952 29,789

*ltem with value below US$1,000
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